

# **BRNO UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY** VYSOKÉ UČENÍ TECHNICKÉ V BRNĚ

FACULTY OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY FAKULTA INFORMAČNÍCH TECHNOLOGIÍ

DEPARTMENT OF COMPUTER GRAPHICS AND MULTIMEDIA ÚSTAV POČÍTAČOVÉ GRAFIKY A MULTIMÉDIÍ

# FROM MODULAR TO END-TO-END SPEAKER DIARIZATION

OD MODULÁRNÍCH K CELOSTNÍM SYSTÉMŮM DIARIZACE ŘEČNÍKA

PHD THESIS DISERTAČNÍ PRÁCE

AUTHOR AUTOR PRÁCE Lic. FEDERICO NICOLÁS LANDINI

SUPERVISOR ŠKOLITEL doc. Ing. LUKÁŠ BURGET, Ph.D.

**CO-SUPERVISOR** ŠKOLITEL SPECIALISTA MIREIA DIEZ SÁNCHEZ, M.Sc., Ph.D.

**BRNO 2024** 

## Abstract

Speaker diarization is usually referred to as the task that determines "who spoke when" in a recording. Until a few years ago, all competitive approaches were modular, i.e. voice activity detection, segmentation, embedding extraction, clustering and overlapped speech detection and handling were tackled by different sub-systems and applied in a cascaded fashion. Systems based on this framework reached state-of-the-art performance in most scenarios but had major difficulties dealing with overlapped speech. More recently, the advent of end-to-end models, capable of dealing with all aspects of speaker diarization with a single model and better performing regarding overlapped speech, has brought high levels of attention.

This thesis is framed during a period of co-existence of these two trends. We describe a system based on a Bayesian hidden Markov model used to cluster x-vectors (speaker embeddings obtained with a neural network), known as VBx, which has shown remarkable performance on different datasets and challenges. We comment on its advantages and limitations and evaluate results on different relevant corpora. Then, we move towards end-to-end neural diarization (EEND) methods. Due to the need for large training sets for training these models and the lack of manually annotated diarization data in sufficient quantities, the compromise solution consists in generating training data artificially. We describe an approach for generating synthetic data which resembles real conversations in terms of speaker turns and overlaps. We show how this method generating "simulated conversations" allows for better performance than using a previously proposed method for creating "simulated mixtures" when training the popular EEND with encoder-decoder attractors (EEND-EDA). We also propose a new EEND-based model, which we call DiaPer, and show that it can perform better than EEND-EDA, especially when dealing with many speakers and handling overlapped speech. Finally, we compare both VBx-based and DiaPer systems on a wide variety of corpora and comment on the advantages of each technique.

# Keywords

Speaker diarization, VBx, end-to-end neural diarization, simulated conversations, DiaPer.

# Abstrakt

Diarizace mluvčího se obvykle popisuje jako úloha, která určuje, "kdo kdy mluvil" v nahrávce. Ještě před několika lety byly všechny konkurenceschopné přístupy modulární, tj. detekce hlasové aktivity, segmentace, extrakce embeddingů, shlukování a detekce a zpracování překrývající se řeči byly řešeny různými subsystémy a aplikovány jeden po druhém. Takto konstruované systémy dosahovaly ve většině scénářů nejlepších výsledků, ale měly velké potíže vypořádat se s překrývající se řečí. V poslední době vzbudil velkou pozornost nástup end-to-end modelů, které jsou schopny řešit všechny aspekty diarizace mluvčího pomocí jediného modelu a mají lepší úspěšnost, pokud jde o překrývající se řeč.

Tato práce vznikla v období koexistence těchto dvou trendů. Popisujeme systém založený na bayesovském skrytém Markovově modelu používaném ke shlukování x-vektorů (embeddingů mluvčích získaných pomocí neuronové sítě), známý jako VBx, který prokázal pozoruhodnou úspěšnost na různých souborech dat a evaluačních v různých kampaních. Popíšeme jeho výhody a omezení a vyhodnotíme výsledky na různých relevantních korpusech. Poté přejdeme k metodám end-to-end neuronové diarizace (EEND). Vzhledem k potřebě velkých trénovacích sad pro trénování těchto modelů a nedostatku ručně anotovaných diarizačních dat v dostatečném množství spočívá kompromisní řešení v umělém generování trénovacích dat. Popíšeme přístup ke generování syntetických dat, která se z hlediska změn a překryvů mluvčích podobají skutečným rozhovorům. Ukážeme, jak tato metoda generování "simulovaných konverzací" umožňuje dosáhnout lepší úspěšnosti než dříve navržená metoda vytváření "simulovaných směsí" při trénování populárního EEND s enkodér-dekodér atraktory (EEND-EDA). Navrhneme také nový model založený na EEND, který nazýváme DiaPer, a ukážeme, že může dosáhnout lepších výsledků než EEND-EDA, zejména při práci s mnoha mluvčími a při zpracování překrývající se řeči. Nakonec porovnáváme oba systémy, VBx i DiaPer, na široké škále datových sad a prodiskutejeme výhody každého z nich.

# Klíčová slova

Diarizace mluvčího, VBx, neuronová diarizace end-to-end, simulované rozhovory, DiaPer.

## Reference

LANDINI, Federico Nicolás. From Modular to End-to-End Speaker Diarization. Brno, 2024. PhD thesis. Brno University of Technology, Faculty of Information Technology. Supervisor doc. Ing. Lukáš Burget, Ph.D. Co-Supervisor Mireia Diez Sánchez, M.Sc., Ph.D.

# From Modular to End-to-End Speaker Diarization

# Declaration

I hereby declare that this doctoral thesis was prepared as an original work by the author under the supervision of Dr. Lukáš Burget and Dr. Mireia Diez Sánchez. I have listed all the literary sources, publications and other sources, which were used during the preparation of this thesis.

> Federico Nicolás Landini February, 2024

## Acknowledgements

Throughout my Ph.D. studies, I had the chance to interact with many people and I would like to thank them all as everyone probably shaped this work in some way or another. However, some deserve special mention.

First of all, my utmost gratitude goes to my advisors, Lukáš and Mireia, Mireia and Lukáš; of whom, I believe, I am their first common "academic child". Each of you has played an immense role in the work I have done during the past years. Mireia, always available to discuss ideas and results on a day-to-day basis and provide feedback without delays. Lukáš, always happy to talk about research ideas, even if that meant being late for his next appointment. A huge thank you goes to you two; you certainly know how much of this work would not have happened if it were not for your guidance. Thank you for allowing me to work quite freely and keeping a cheerful spirit despite my bad mood when things did not work as expected.

Next in line, Honza Černocký, who has also served as supervisor by shielding much of the administrative burden. I also thank him for giving me the opportunity to join BUT-Speech@FIT and for running the group as a non-bossy boss. This thesis would definitely not have happened without his support. My appreciation extends to all the staff at BUT who made it possible for me to work here during this time.

It has been a great experience to be in the BUT-Speech@FIT group, discussing workand non-work-related topics. Newer members who met me towards the end of my Ph.D. might not know it, but I was certainly less bitter before. My advice to my past self would be to worry less and enjoy the process more. In any case, my gratitude goes to Speech@FIT as a whole: past/current permanent/temporary members. Special mentions go to the Speaker ID crew, with whom I interacted more at the beginning of my studies, and to the Diarization subgroup, who had to put up with me during the last time. Most of you have certainly shaped, if not co-authored, part of this work. Special among them is Pavel Matějka who showed me how pleasant running in the forests around Brno can be. Thank you for igniting what has become my passion for ultra-running.

The few internships I was able to do during these years were also very enriching and I thank everyone with whom I had the chance to work. Even if the work from the internships is not directly reflected in the thesis, the stays have certainly given me the chance to learn many things.

I would also like to thank my former advisor, Luciana Ferrer, with whom I took my first steps in the field of speech technologies. She made the contact with the folks in Brno that allowed me to join them for my Ph.D. so this work would not have happened without her help.

Then, I want to thank my parents, Adriana and Fabián, who encouraged the scientific side in me when I was little and who always supported me to keep learning. My gratitude extends to the rest of my family who I only saw a couple of times during these years but who were present all along the way. The same goes for my friends who, in spite of the distance, were always with me, even if I was not with them.

Last but not least, the biggest thanks are to Katka, my wife, for all her support through these years specially the last one. Thank you for putting up with me, be it when I am in a bad mood or with whatever upcoming ultra race I decide to train for.

# Contents

1	1 Introduction							
	1.1	Contributions	5					
	1.2	Organization of the thesis	6					
<b>2</b>	Pre	liminaries of speaker diarization						
	2.1	Task definition	7					
	2.2	Evaluation	8					
		2.2.1 Ground truth labels	8					
		2.2.1 Metrics	g					
	2.3	Relevance of the task	11					
9	Ма	dular dissigntion systems	19					
3	2 1	Structure of a standard association systems	10 19					
	3.1 2.0	Structure of a standard cascaded system	13					
	3.2	Diarization based on Bayesian hidden Markov model (VBx)	20					
		3.2.1 Background	20					
		3.2.2 Model description	21					
	3.3	Experiments	28					
		3.3.1 Model configuration	28					
		3.3.2 Evaluation Data	32					
		3.3.3 Results	34					
	3.4	Strengths of VBx	38					
	3.5	Weaknesses of VBx	38					
	3.6	Final remarks	39					
1	End	Lto-ond diarization systems	40					
4	1 1	Noural networks for diarization	40					
	4.1	A 1.1 Nouvel networks for greater embeddings and efficient metrices	40					
		4.1.1 Neural networks for speaker embeddings and aminty matrices	41					
		4.1.2 Neural networks for decoding speaker activities	43					
		4.1.3 End-to-end neural diarization	45					
		4.1.4 Two-stage models	52					
		4.1.5 Other	54					
		4.1.6 Summary	55					
	4.2	Synthetic training data generation	55					
		4.2.1 From simulated mixtures	56					
		4.2.2 to simulated conversations	57					
		4.2.3 SM versus SC	59					
		4.2.4 Summary	71					
	4.3	DiaPer: End-to-end neural diarization with Perceiver-based attractors	71					
		4.3.1 Motivation and background	71					
		4.3.2 Model description	73					
		4.3.2 Exportments	70					
		4.3.3 Experiments	19					
	4.4	Final remarks	92 93					
5	Con	iclusion	94					
	5.1	Modular systems versus end-to-end systems	94					
	5.2	Moving forward	105					
Bi	bliog	graphy	107					

# List of acronyms

AHC	agglomerative hierarchical clustering
ASR	automatic speech recognition
BCE	binary cross-entropy
BHMM	Bayesian hidden Markov model
BIC	Bayesian information criterion
BLSTM	bidirectional long short-term memory
CNN	convolutional neural network
DER	diarization error rate
DNN	deep neural network
DOVER	diarization output voting error reduction
DVBx	discriminatively trained Bayesian HMM clustering of x-vector sequences
ECAPA-TDNN	emphasized channel attention, propagation and aggregation time-delay neural network
EEND	end-to-end neural diarization
EEND-EDA	end-to-end neural diarization with encoder-decoder attractors
EEND-VC	end-to-end neural diarization vector clustering
ELBO	evidence lower bound objective
$\mathrm{FT}$	fine-tuning
GLR	generalized likelihood ratio
GMM	Gaussian mixture model
GNN	graph neural network
HDP-HMM	hierarchical Dirichlet process hidden Markov model
HMM	hidden Markov model
JER	Jaccard error rate
JFA	joint factor analysis
LDA	linear discriminant analysis
LSTM	long short-term memory

MFCC	Mel frequency cepstral coefficients
MHA	multi-head attention
MHSA	multi-head self-attention
MSCE	mean speaker counting error
NIST	National Institute of Standards and Technology
NN	neural network
OSD	overlapped speech detection
0.02	evenapped speech decousin
РІТ	permutation invariant training
PLDA	probabilistic linear discriminant analysis
PSE	power set encoding
1.51	power set encouning
BIB	room impulse response
RNN	recurrent neural network
BOVEB	recognizer output voting error reduction
RT RT	Rich Transcriptions
101	Rich Hanschptions
SA_FEND	self-attention and to and neural diarization
SAD	speech activity detection
SAD	simulated conversations
SC FEND	simulated conversations
SC-EEND	speaker-wise chain end-to-end neural dialization
SCD	speaker change point detection
SD	speaker diarization
SM	simulated mixtures
SNR	signal-to-noise ratio
SOT	serialized output training
$\mathbf{SR}$	speaker recognition
SRE	speaker recognition evaluation
TDNN	time-delay neural network
TS-VAD	target speaker voice activity detection
TSE	target speaker extraction
UBM	universal background model
VAD	voice activity detection
VB	variational Bayesian
VЫX	Bayesian HMM clustering of x-vector sequences

# Chapter 1 Introduction

Speech processing technologies have advanced considerably during the last decades due to more computing capacity, more available data, and big efforts from the research community to propose new techniques and improve the performance of systems. Many speech-related tasks have progressed remarkably and one of them is speaker diarization, usually referred to as the task of deciding "who spoke when". More formally, it is the task of assigning speaker labels to segments of speech in a given recording. This task is of interest per se for allowing segmentation of conversations or search of speech from a speaker of interest, among others. However, it is also useful as an upstream task for other well-studied tasks such as information retrieval, speech recognition, or speaker verification.

Speaker diarization is applied on diverse domains. While originally constrained to telephone conversations, recorded meetings, or broadcast news, in the last few years, large amounts of broadcast data (not only news) have also gained relevance as target data. Even more, the availability of small devices has facilitated recording speech in more varied situations. Common examples are recordings in courtrooms or parliaments as well as conversations in many locations, such as restaurants. Besides, some specific applications are of interest, for example, diarization on clinical interviews to analyze sessions with patients and diarization on conversations in households with children to evaluate language acquisition. Furthermore, the recent global pandemic has increased the number of meetings over web-based platforms and speaker diarization can be useful to enrich transcriptions. Even more, ubiquitous speech-controlled devices often require to know which user is interacting with the device, thus benefiting from automatic diarization. All these applications provide new challenges and such conditions demand robust diarization systems able to cope with different acoustic channels, styles of speech and numbers of speakers.

Since the origins of speaker diarization around 20 years ago, several approaches have been proposed. We describe the techniques used in the most popular past systems as well as the models that attain state-of-the-art performance nowadays. Systems can be framed under two big families, namely modular ones: those formed by different sub-modules such as voice activity detection, embedding extraction, and clustering (among others); and neural network-based end-to-end systems that solve the task with a single module. State-of-the-art systems under these two frameworks are described, evaluated and compared in this work.

### 1.1 Contributions

The contributions of our work are the following:

• We present the Bayesian HMM clustering of x-vectors (VBx) as a method for clustering of speaker embeddings for diarization. VBx was presented in [Landini et al., 2022b], showing state-of-the-art performance (at the time) on three relevant datasets. At the time of that publication, AMI, one of the most standard diarization datasets, was used with different evaluation setups, effectively impeding proper comparison between works of different authors. We pointed this out and showed the performance of VBx in the most widely used setups. With the aim of avoiding future confusion, we released the annotations derived from the official transcriptions following a clear and detailed procedure https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/AMI-diarization-setup

We also released the code and x-vector extractors needed to run the recipes:

https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/VBx

Due to the continuous maintenance of the repository, ease of use and competitive results, VBx has served as baseline in numerous publications.

• VBx was also a core module of the winning system of the Second DIHARD Challenge [Landini et al., 2020] and the second-ranked system in VoxSRC 2020 [Landini et al., 2021a]. We released the code for both systems too.

https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/VBx/tree/v1.0\_DIHARDII

https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/VBx/tree/v1.1\_VoxConverse2020

Thanks to the strong performance and public recipes, VBx has been used as the baseline in recent challenges such as M2MeT and Ego4D [Yu et al., 2022a, Grauman et al., 2022].

- This thesis also presents the results obtained with a fully modular system based on the public VBx recipe and public voice activity detection and overlapped speech detection systems. These results are presented on a variety of datasets and serve not only as baseline in the context of this work but for other researchers in the field.
- End-to-end neural diarization (EEND) models require large amounts of training data and, due to the lack of manually annotated data in those quantities, synthetic data need to be generated. We introduce an alternative approach to the original "simulated mixtures" scheme for generating "simulated conversations" (which resemble real conversations regarding the lengths of pauses and overlaps), used as training data for end-to-end models. Extensive comparisons between our approach and the former one in [Landini et al., 2022a, Landini et al., 2023a] showed that using simulated conversations reduces almost completely the need for fine-tuning the model using in-domain data in the telephony scenario. We released the code for generating training data as well as our PyTorch implementation of the EEND with encoder-decoder attractors model and models trained on free public data:

https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/EEND\_dataprep

https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/EEND

Thanks to this, simulated conversations have already been adopted in other publications. • We present the novel end-to-end DiaPer model, which presents a generalized framework for non-autoregressive attractor decoding in the context of EEND. We show that it can reach competitive results on telephone conversations with fewer parameters than other EEND models. We also evaluate DiaPer on several datasets providing a comprehensive baseline. This work [Landini et al., 2023b] has not yet been published in any venue at the time of writing this thesis. We also share the code and models trained on free public data: https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/DiaPer

It should be noted that not all the work done during the PhD is mentioned above, namely the work related to publications [Diez et al., 2018b, Landini et al., 2020, Diez et al., 2020, Žmolíková et al., 2020, Landini et al., 2021b, Landini et al., 2021a]. However, those works have shaped what is presented in this document. At the same time, some of the content of the thesis has not been presented in previous publications, especially the comparisons in Chapter 5.

## **1.2** Organization of the thesis

The rest of the thesis is organized as follows:

- Chapter 2 formally defines the task of speaker diarization describing how models are evaluated and the connection with other tasks.
- Chapter 3 presents modular diarization systems and describes in detail VBx, one of the clustering methods considered state-of-the-art nowadays, which is one of the main contributions of this thesis. The performance of VBx is analyzed on different datasets.
- Chapter 4 presents end-to-end diarization systems covering the different works that have been recently published. Given the "data-hungry" nature of these models, we describe a new method for generating synthetic training data, coined "simulated conversations", and show its advantages. Then, we present DiaPer, a novel method based on the end-to-end framework and analyze its performance on different datasets.
- Chapter 5 concludes the thesis discussing the comparison of the aforementioned modular and end-to-end systems and the future challenges of speaker diarization.

# Chapter 2

# Preliminaries of speaker diarization

#### 2.1 Task definition

Historically, audio diarization [Reynolds and Torres-Carrasquillo, 2005] has referred to the broad task of segmenting a recording and categorizing those segments (for example, into silence, noise, music, commercials, speech, etc.). The popularity it gained in the early 2000s has waned and few works are framed under that task nowadays. Speaker diarization corresponds to the more specific task of segmenting a recording in terms of speech segments and assigning speaker labels. Speaker diarization (SD) is usually referred to as "who spoke when" and gained popularity in the current definition also during the early 2000s, mainly due to the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) in their series of Rich Transcriptions (RT) evaluations and several European projects [Anguera et al., 2012].

Examples of both tasks are presented in Figure 2.1 over the same recording. Note that for SD, the goal is to distinguish speakers and using relative speaker labels such as 'Spk1' and 'Spk2' is enough. Still, for some applications, the role (i.e. presenter, announcer, guest, etc.) or specific speaker labels (i.e. Alex, Bob, Carol, etc.) are necessary and in such cases, the SD labels are post-processed by a speaker identification system. Since only speaker segments are of interest, anything else is simply not labeled. Speech segments can be bounded by non-speech segments or speaker change points, as observed in Figure 2.1.

sil	music	speech	commercial	speech		$\operatorname{sil}$	speech
		Spk1	Spk2	Spk1	Spk3		Spk1

Figure 2.1: Audio diarization and speaker diarization example. "sil" means silence. Both sequences correspond to the same recording.

In this work, we focus on the most general scenario for speaker diarization, where no information is given about the input recording. Some examples of a priori information can be

- number of speakers
- language

- scenario/source (i.e. telephone conversation, meeting, broadcast news) which can help in choosing specific pre-processing techniques, infer the number of speakers or what type of speech to expect (formal, spontaneous, etc.)
- audio samples of speakers which can help to look for those speakers using anchor models

A priori information can make the diarization task more specific and potentially simpler. However, in this work, we will not work under the assumption of given information as we look for robust models that can deal with a myriad of situations.

Two extensively studied tasks are related to diarization: voice activity detection (VAD), sometimes also referred to as speech activity detection (SAD), and overlapped speech detection (OSD). The first one has historically been considered an external task for the sake of reducing the load on the diarization system. VAD is also of interest for other tasks such as automatic speech recognition (ASR) or speaker recognition (SR), and thus, efforts have been put into improving VAD systems in general and not only for diarization. OSD has usually been considered an external task; although much more related to diarization. Nevertheless, both are part of diarization for the scope of this work.

### 2.2 Evaluation

#### 2.2.1 Ground truth labels

In order to evaluate a diarization system, just as with any other task, the annotations produced by a system need to be compared against ground truth ones. However, ground truth labels are generated following different criteria depending on the dataset. To illustrate the procedure of generating diarization labels, we utilize a few corpora as examples:

For the First DIHARD Challenge<sup>1</sup>, manual annotations were first produced, then refined using forced alignment (where pauses longer than 200 ms were used to split segments) and then checked and corrected by annotators [Ryant et al., 2018]. This is a very expensive annotation pipeline since human annotators need to listen to a recording several times to produce quality annotations.

A more automated approach was utilized when collecting and annotating VoxConverse [Chung et al., 2020], where videos were available and voice activity detection was correlated with mouth movement of in-screen speakers to assign speaker labels to most speech segments. Speaker embeddings of off-screen speech segments were obtained and compared with those of already determined speakers in order to assign identities to those segments. This was followed by manual inspection to identify common errors and instructions were given to manual annotators to correct them following certain guidelines (i.e. pauses longer than 250 ms were used to split segments, mark segments with 0.1 s precision, etc.).

As observed in these two examples, different criteria can be used to produce the reference annotations. Related to the precision of the reference annotations is also the discussion of calculating metrics using a forgiveness collar or not. Using a collar means that small differences (below a certain threshold) between the reference and system annotations will not be considered for calculating errors. Different corpora have chosen different conventions; for example, DIHARD does not use a collar (meaning that manual annotations are fully

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://dihardchallenge.github.io/dihard1/

trusted), while VoxConverse considers a 250 ms collar. It can be argued that such a collar can account for inconsistencies in the annotation pipeline. However, as we have stated in [Landini et al., 2022b], even if human annotations have errors, it does not mean that speech that could be evaluated should always be discarded around each speaker change point. The only thing that the annotation errors imply is that diarization systems have a non-zero lower bound on the diarization error. Moreover, not all metrics can, a priori, be calculated with a collar and introducing them creates different instances of a given metric.

#### 2.2.2 Metrics

Since speaker labels generated by diarization systems do not need to match the naming convention of the reference ones (e.g. 'Spk1', 'Spk2', etc.), a 1:1 mapping between the system-generated speaker clusters and the reference ones is obtained using the Hungarian method [Kuhn, 1955] for finding the solution of a bipartite graph. Given this optimal mapping, errors are calculated to determine how good the system output is with regard to the reference.

The most widely used performance metric for diarization is the diarization error rate (DER) proposed by NIST in their series of RT evaluations during the 2000s [NIST, 2009]. DER is defined by

$$DER = \frac{SER + FA + Miss}{Total \ speech},\tag{2.1}$$

where:

- *SER* stands for speaker error, the amount of time that speech is attributed to incorrect speakers (i.e. confusion of speakers)
- FA is false alarm, the amount of time that non-speech regions are incorrectly attributed to a speaker (or time when overlapped speech of K speakers is found in speech regions with N < K reference speakers)
- Miss stands for missed speech, the amount of time that speech is not attributed to any speaker (or time when overlapped speech of K speakers is found for regions with N > K reference overlapping speakers)
- *Total speech* is the total amount of speech, accounting also for speaker overlaps.

An example of how DER is calculated can be seen in Figure 2.2 where the best matching {Interviewer - Spk1, Interviewee1 - Spk2, Interviewee2 -  $\langle \rangle$ } is denoted by the colors. For more details about DER, please refer to the RT-09 evaluation plan<sup>2</sup>.

Due to inherent inconsistencies in the annotations introduced by the annotators when finding the precise boundaries of segments, NIST proposed using an optional 0.25 s forgiveness collar around each boundary of a speech reference segment where speech is not scored. Using a collar means that small differences (below a certain threshold) between the reference and system annotations will not be considered for calculating errors.

For the Second DIHARD Speaker Diarization Challenge [Ryant et al., 2019b], the organizers introduced the Jaccard error rate (JER) based on the Jaccard index [Jaccard, 1901]. JER has become a popular secondary metric after DER.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://web.archive.org/web/20100606092041if\_/http://www.itl.nist.gov/iad/mig/tests/rt/ 2009/docs/rt09-meeting-eval-plan-v2.pdf



Figure 2.2: Speaker diarization evaluation example in terms of DER. Total missed speech: 1 s, total FA speech: 1 s, speaker confusion: 2.5 s, total reference speech: 11 s; therefore,  $DER(\%) = 100 \cdot \frac{1+1+2.5}{11} = 40.9\%$ 

As explained in [Ryant et al., 2019b], to obtain JER, the Hungarian algorithm is used as for the DER. Then, the JER for the reference speaker ref is obtained as

$$JER_{ref} = \frac{FA_{ref} + Miss_{ref}}{Total \ speech_{ref}},\tag{2.2}$$

where

- $Total speech_{ref}$  is the duration of the union of reference and system speaker segments; if the reference speaker was not paired with a system speaker, it is the speech time of the reference speaker
- $FA_{ref}$  is the total system speaker time not attributed to the reference speaker; if the reference speaker was not paired with a system speaker, it is 0
- $Miss_{ref}$  is the total reference speaker time not attributed to the system speaker; if the reference speaker was not paired with a system speaker, it is equal to *Total speech*.

Then, JER is the average of the N speaker-specific Jaccard error rates:

$$JER = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{ref} JER_{ref}$$
(2.3)

An example of how JER is calculated can be seen in Figure 2.3. Although JER highly correlates with DER, it gives equal weight to all speakers in the recording regardless of whether they contribute largely to the total amount of speech or not. This can be interesting in cases where some speaker(s) dominate the recording but all speakers are relevant. For more details about JER, please refer to the Second DIHARD Challenge evaluation plan<sup>3</sup>.

Currently, the most popular tools for evaluation are  $dscore^4$  and pyannote.metrics [Bredin, 2017a] which include, besides DER and JER, several other clustering performance metrics and the possibility of defining one's own metrics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://dihardchallenge.github.io/dihard2/docs/second\_dihard\_eval\_plan\_v1.1.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://github.com/nryant/dscore



Figure 2.3: Speaker diarization evaluation example in terms of JER.  $JER_{Interviewer} = \frac{0.5+0.5}{5.5} = 0.18$ ,  $JER_{Interviewee1} = \frac{3+0.5}{6.5} = 0.54$ ,  $JER_{Interviewee2} = \frac{0+2.5}{2.5} = 1$ ; therefore, JER(%) = 57.3%.

### 2.3 Relevance of the task

Although speaker diarization has received comparatively less attention from the speech community than other tasks such as speaker recognition or speech recognition, it has several applications. In this section, we briefly describe the possible applications of diarization and show its relevance even in tandem with other tasks.

In general, the application of diarization is related to providing rich meta-data in terms of speaker segments which allow indexing of audiovisual resources with speakers and structured search and access to resources. There are several domains to which it is of interest to apply diarization. We briefly list here some of the most common ones as reviewed in [Tranter and Reynolds, 2006, Anguera et al., 2012, Moattar and Homayounpour, 2012]:

- broadcast news, debates, television shows, movies
- recorded meetings (which becomes particularly interesting nowadays as many meetings are being held remotely)
- telephone conversations
- clinical interviews
- recorded lectures or conferences

However, SD can be combined with other tasks, including the most studied ones: ASR and SR. SD in combination with ASR, determine "who said what" and solve the "cocktail party problem" [Watanabe et al., 2020, Cornell et al., 2023]. Sometimes SR has to be performed on recordings with several speakers and, in such cases, diarization is key to allow finding the speaker of interest as in a recent speaker recognition evaluation (SRE) [NIST, 2018]. However, there are some other applications for diarization such as speaker indexing and retrieval, speaker counting, or improving ASR systems by allowing speaker-specific adaptation.

Other tasks such as target speaker extraction (TSE) or enhancement can benefit from diarization. Speaker turns given by a diarization system can be used to inform a TSE model about segments of a speaker of interest which can be used as enrollment. This has been explored in [Žmolíková, 2022, Zmolikova et al., 2023].

In source separation, given a recording that is the result of multiple overlapping sources (i.e. speakers), the goal is to produce several recordings each containing only the sound of a particular source. This task is related to speaker diarization in the sense that the turns of different speakers can be inferred from its output. However, it is a more complex task because it not only recognizes the different speakers but also has to extract their speech to produce different outputs. Diarization can aid such systems by providing the number of speakers in the recording and their segments so that the task can resemble TSE, a priori, a simpler task [Boeddeker et al., 2018, Raj et al., 2021a].

# Chapter 3

# Modular diarization systems

Some of the first works related to diarization started to appear around the year 2000 [Garofolo et al., 2004, Fiscus et al., 2006]. Works published in the late 90s [Saunders, 1996, Gauvain et al., 1998, Liu and Kubala, 1999, Siegler et al., 1997] focusing on telephone conversations or broadcast news formulated the task as "partitioning" or "segmentation and clustering", among others. But it was the series of Rich Transcription Evaluations [NIST, 2009] organized by NIST between 2002 and 2009 that first defined the diarization task and set a framework for comparing different approaches for diarization. The focus was initially on broadcast news data and later on meeting data. Several European projects focused on meeting data during the first decade of 2000 and also shifted the attention to the challenges related to the meeting scenario [Anguera et al., 2012]. The works related to diarization mostly focused on those types of recordings in the following years until approximately 2017-2018 with the emerging DIHARD challenge. Since this work focuses on off-line diarization, i.e. diarization when the whole recording is available at evaluation time, we only cover previous work in this line.

Until the recent advent of end-to-end neural diarization models, most diarization systems were composed of several subsystems that solved different subtasks, sometimes related to specific setups (e.g. multi-channel recordings). In this chapter, we briefly cover the history of the cascaded approach, comment on its strengths and weaknesses and finally describe the clustering-based method studied in this thesis.

### 3.1 Structure of a standard cascaded system

#### Overview

Throughout the years, most competitive diarization systems have used several of the blocks depicted in Figure 3.1, applied one after the other in a "cascaded" fashion. A common categorization for diarization systems is between bottom-up and top-down. Bottom-up refers to starting from short segments of speech and clustering them until finding just a few speakers. Top-down consists of starting with the full recording as a whole and partitioning it into smaller parts that in the end will correspond to a few speakers. The former approach has been more thoroughly studied (Figure 3.1 represents this one) but a comparison between the two can be found in [Anguera et al., 2012, Evans et al., 2012].

We describe below each of the modules mentioned in Figure 3.1. Note that many other possible sub-modules as well as more details about each of the steps are omitted as this is a high-level overview. More details can be found in [Tranter and Reynolds, 2006] for systems



Figure 3.1: Typical components in a cascaded speaker diarization system (marked in blue).

until the year 2006 and in [Anguera et al., 2012] for systems created until 2012. A more thorough description and review of literature can be found in [Moattar and Homayounpour, 2012] where even non-standard approaches are described. More recent approaches that make use of neural networks (NN) are presented in [Park et al., 2022].

#### Signal pre-processing

In the context of diarization, signal pre-processing refers to applying methods that enhance speech and facilitate the ultimate task. While speech pre-processing originally focused on spectral-based methods, nowadays approaches rely on neural-network-based methods. For diarization, the most common methods include denoising and dereverberation.

Even though telephone conversations and broadcast news can benefit from such preprocessing, this step became more relevant for recorded meetings. While the former are generally recorded with close-talk microphones, the latter usually present setups with farfield microphones where the effect of reverberation or noises made by the participants make for a more challenging scenario [Anguera et al., 2012]. Furthermore, meetings offer in some cases recordings with multiple microphones [Janin et al., 2004, McCowan et al., 2005, Mostefa et al., 2007] and making use of the signal from all of them can provide better performance [Pardo et al., 2006]. Different approaches have been used to deal with multiple microphones but the most popular is acoustic beamforming [Anguera et al., 2007].

With the more challenging scenarios presented in DIHARD challenge [Ryant et al., 2018], preprocessing has become quite relevant and the best-performing systems in the challenge made use of at least one type of enhancement method [Sell et al., 2018, Diez et al., 2018b, Sun et al., 2018, Landini et al., 2020, Wang et al., 2021b].

#### Voice activity detection

The task of VAD is to find the segments of voice or speech to be labeled in the diarization output. This means discarding segments of silence, noise and possibly music while keeping all segments of speech. VAD is of interest not only for diarization but for many other tasks such as SR or ASR. Thus, large efforts have been made to improve the capabilities of VAD systems [Ramirez et al., 2007]. Some of the most popular approaches are based on energy or spectrum [Anguera et al., 2005, Istrate et al., 2005], or Gaussian mixture models (GMM), eventually aided by hidden Markov models (HMM), trained with acoustic features such as Mel frequency cepstral coefficients (MFCC) [Wooters et al., 2004, Reynolds and Torres-Carrasquillo, 2004].

More recently, systems based on NN have outperformed previous ones [Ryant et al., 2013, Gelly and Gauvain, 2017, Sun et al., 2018]. However, one of the main problems with these systems is that the domains of the training data (telephone, meetings, etc.) bias the model to work well in some scenarios while failing in others. In general, if the model allows to choose different detection thresholds, a lower miss rate of VAD is preferred over a lower false alarm rate since speech discarded in this step is usually not recovered later. Something to consider is that different domains (i.e. meetings, telephone, etc.) present speech with different characteristics and different proportions. For example, in a telephone conversation, speakers usually take turns with very little silence in between whereas in a household day-long recording, speech is generally less common than other sounds or simply silence. Systems are commonly tuned or trained with some application in mind and using a configuration optimal for a certain domain can produce sub-optimal results on recordings of a different domain.

Furthermore, the annotation criteria and guidelines can vary among different corpora. This means for instance that (sung) background music can be labeled as silence in certain contexts. Moreover, speech from speakers that are not of main interest can be marked as non-speech (think of a recording in a restaurant where people at the next table have a conversation). At the same time, voiced sounds such as cough or sneeze from a speaker of interest can be considered "voice" even if they are actually not speech. In spite of this, the terms VAD and SAD are usually used interchangeably.

This task is so crucial that many challenges have proposed two tracks: one where diarization is evaluated as a whole and another where oracle (extracted from the manual annotations used for evaluations) VAD labels are allowed in order to evaluate the rest of the steps assuming perfect VAD.

Nowadays, most NN-based systems can perform reasonably good VAD except in very challenging conditions, such as dinner-party scenarios or extremely noisy backgrounds.

#### Segmentation

Segmentation, sometimes also referred to as speaker change point detection (SCD), finds the points in the recording that separate audio sources (including different speakers). While longer segments allow to have more information to perform clustering in the next step, it is important that the segments do not contain speech from different speakers as this can create problems when trying to find which segments correspond to the same speaker. Therefore, SCD deals with the trade-off between long speech segments versus having pure segments.

This step can be combined with VAD in the case that silence or noise are considered audio sources. However, it is common to make use of the VAD output given by the module previously described. The most popular approaches used for SCD are based on comparing adjacent windows of MFCC (or similar) features. Historically, the most common technique consisted of taking a segment of speech, dividing it in half to obtain two sub-windows and then deciding if it was more likely that each sub-window would be represented by different distributions or that the whole window would be represented by a single distribution. The most popular approaches assumed Gaussian distributions and shifted the window to calculate a metric for every frame. Usually, windows were of fixed length but some works have explored windows of increasing length [Chen et al., 1998]. In either case, the change detection was based on thresholding the metric at local maxima. The most popular distances were based on the Bayesian information criterion (BIC) in [Chen et al., 1998], based on the Kullback-Leibler divergence in [Siegler et al., 1997], and on using the generalized log-likelihood ratio (GLR) in [Jin and Schultz, 2004].

More recently, some works using NN have focused on SCD: using deep neural networks (DNN) [Gupta, 2015], convolutional neural networks (CNN) [Hrúz and Zajíc, 2017], bidirectional long short-term memory (BLSTM) networks [Bredin, 2017b, Yin et al., 2017, Yin et al., 2018], long short-term memory networks (LSTM) with acoustic features and word embeddings as input [India Massana et al., 2017], LSTMs with attention mechanism using text as input [Meng et al., 2017], LSTMs with speaker embeddings as input [Sarı et al., 2019], and CNNs with speaker embeddings as input [Aronowitz and Zhu, 2020].

However, many current systems do not make use of any SCD module since iterative segmentation-clustering or the use of speaker embeddings computed on fixed segments allows for a good performance without the SCD step. In particular, the use of uniform segmentation to extract speaker embeddings (to be discussed in the following section) has become the standard approach in state-of-the-art systems.

#### **Representation extraction and clustering**

This step refers to two of the most crucial steps in the pipeline which usually act in tandem. Originally, speech segments were represented by acoustic features such as MFCC, but more carefully designed representations (i.e. embeddings) are preferred nowadays. The speaker embeddings used for diarization, described below, are usually adopted from the technologies used for speaker verification. The clustering builds on top of these representations and assigns them to different speaker identities in a conversation.

The clustering step has the objective of providing one (global) cluster per speaker for the whole recording. The predominant approach for doing so is agglomerative hierarchical clustering (AHC) which consists of the following steps: first, pair-wise distances are computed between each pair of initial clusters (simply segments); then, the closest clusters according to the estimated distances are merged and the distances are updated given the new setup. These operations are carried out iteratively until a stopping criterion is met.

For calculating the distances, the segments have been represented with Gaussian distributions [Moh et al., 2003] or GMMs [Moraru et al., 2003] computed on acoustic features such as MFCCs. Different distance metrics have been used as well as different stopping criteria and some of them followed the same approaches described for segmentation. Among distance metrics, the most popular have been GLR and BIC for which the stopping criterion is based on comparing the statistics of two clusters versus a single cluster after merging, thus allowing for fast clustering.

Other approaches model speakers by maximum-a-posteriori adapting a GMM-based universal background model (UBM) to speaker clusters [Betser et al., 2004, Reynolds and Torres-Carrasquillo, 2004]. Also making use of BIC, both approaches use a fixed threshold as the stopping criterion, which needs to be tuned on development data of similar characteristics as the test set.

An alternative to AHC is spectral clustering [Ning et al., 2006] in combination with a clustering method such as k-means. Like AHC, spectral clustering also relies on pair-wise distances between pairs of segments but uses the eigen-vectors of the Laplacian matrix associated with the affinity matrix to transform the space where clustering will be performed. With this approach, a common method to determine the number of clusters is to compute the largest eigen-gap, that is the maximum difference between adjacent (after sorting) eigen-values of the Laplacian [Park et al., 2019].

Several approaches have used HMMs to cluster representations and model diarization but they will be covered in more detail in Section 3.2 as they are related to one of the main research lines in this work.

For nearly a decade, joint factor analysis (JFA) [Kenny, 2005, Kenny et al., 2007] and its simplified variant, i-vectors [Dehak et al., 2010], were the predominant models for speaker verification. Both the JFA and i-vector extractor models utilize a GMM to model the speaker-specific distribution of spectral features, such as MFCCs. However, the GMM parameters are constrained to live in a low-dimensional, high-variability subspace. Only a low-dimensional latent vector (i-vector or, as originally named in JFA, speaker factors) needs to be estimated from speaker-specific data to represent the speaker-specific distribution. This i-vector (or vector of speaker factors) can then be extracted from (or estimated on) a segment of speech, serving as an embedding that represents the speaker of that segment.

Soon after their introduction, these concepts were applied to diarization as well: i-vectors were used for diarization in [Shum et al., 2011] and, just like for SR, they pushed the field forward. Several works [Dupuy et al., 2012, Shum et al., 2012, Stafylakis et al., 2012, Rouvier and Meignier, 2012] extended this idea either in combination with resegmentation or with improved clustering. Along with the introduction of such representations, the use of uniform segmentation using overlapping segments (e.g. 2 s-long segments every 0.5 s) started to be more common, replacing more complex segmentation approaches. This represented a "back to the basics" trend since uniform segmentation had been commonly used 20 years before [Siu et al., 1992, Wilcox et al., 1994].

Again, following the advances in speaker recognition, probabilistic linear discriminative analysis (PLDA) was also used as similarity metric for i-vectors in the context of diarization [Prazak and Silovsky, 2011]. In particular, [Sell and Garcia-Romero, 2014] paved the way for the state-of-the-art diarization systems for the following years. Several efforts were made to extend and improve the embeddings/representations in this approach, such as replacing unsupervised GMMs with supervised DNN senone posteriors to calculate ivectors [Sell et al., 2015] and introducing a prior for the number of speakers [Sell et al., 2016] but the main break-through occurred when the first successful deep neural network embeddings appeared [Hershey et al., 2016, Snyder et al., 2016]. These embeddings were named x-vectors and the first diarization work using them was [Garcia-Romero et al., 2017] resulting in a new state-of-the-art performance at the time. Another type of speaker embeddings, *d-vectors* [Variani et al., 2014], were used for diarization in [Wang et al., 2018] together with spectral clustering to push the state-of-the-art further. [Garcia-Romero et al., 2017] followed [Sell and Garcia-Romero, 2014] with the exception that instead of a PLDA model, a distance metric was learned with a neural network; although, with training criteria similar to discriminatively trained PLDAs. After being a central part of the best-performing systems [Sell et al., 2018, Diez et al., 2018b] in the First DIHARD Challenge [Ryant et al., 2018], a recipe in Kaldi [Povey et al., 2011] was made available and this approach has become a staple in competitive diarization systems being even used as the baseline of subsequent diarization challenges [Ryant et al., 2019b, Watanabe et al., 2020, Ryant et al., 2021, Nagrani et al., 2020].

Advances regarding NN-based speaker embeddings tailored for diarization and NN-based clustering methods are discussed in Section 4.1.

In spite of the efforts, the most common approach nowadays consists of extracting x-vectors using fixed segmentation (1.5 s-long segments every 0.5 s or 0.25 s) and clustering them with AHC or spectral clustering. Yet, this is an area of wide interest as it represents the core of modular systems.

#### Resegmentation

Resegmentation refers to an optional step in which the boundaries of the clustering output are refined, sometimes followed by new segmentation, embedding extraction, and reclustering stage. The most common approach uses Viterbi decoding (with or without iterations); this step is closely related to the HMM-based approach covered in Section 3.2. Other approaches based on sliding windows were proposed [Adam et al., 2002] in which windows for the speakers are estimated and their boundaries re-estimated based on some distance measure. Given initial segments that represent speakers, the distances between them and new candidate windows give possible points for resegmentation. However, this approach has not been largely explored.

The clustering and resegmentation steps were used iteratively in [Gauvain et al., 1998, Barras et al., 2004] and later in [Shum et al., 2012] with more sophisticated clustering methods.

#### Post-processing

As in many speech processing tasks, one common procedure to leverage the performance of individual systems is system combination or fusion. Diarization is not the exception in this regard and there have been attempts to combine the outputs of different systems such as using cluster voting [Tranter, 2005] or merging outputs [Meignier et al., 2006] considering the agreement of the models. Another possibility is hybridization (or "piped" systems) [Meignier et al., 2006] which uses the output of one system to initialize another one.

More recently, an approach following a technique commonly used in ASR: recognizer output voting error reduction (ROVER) has been proposed [Stolcke and Yoshioka, 2019] under the name of DOVER where voting between different systems is done to fuse the outputs of several systems to generate a final decision. DOVER was extended to handle systems with overlapping segments in DOVER-Lap [Raj et al., 2021b] and has become relevant in recent challenges.

#### Overlapped speech detection

A different type of post-processing that deserves attention on its own is dealing with segments of overlapped speech, where two or more speakers speak simultaneously. Overlapped speech is present in general in all types of recordings but with different proportions. Given that most modular systems only output one speaker per frame, the penalization on recordings with high levels of overlap is considerable.

Some efforts were made to analyze the nature of overlapped speech [Shriberg et al., 2001, Cetin and Shriberg, 2006. One of the first works to include overlap processing for diarization [Otterson and Ostendorf, 2007] proposed the heuristic of picking the closest speaker (in time) as the second speaker. Although it provided a reasonable approach for assigning a secondary speaker, their analysis assumed oracle overlap detection and using real detection systems largely degraded the results. In general, the impact of OSD is twofold [Boakye et al., 2008b, Huijbregts et al., 2009, Zelenák et al., 2010]: (1) detected overlap segments can be removed before doing clustering in order to consider only pure segments to obtain cleaner speaker models. (2), it can be used at the end for post-processing; that is, labeling segments for more than one speaker given the clustering output. The earliest successful works in OSD [Boakye et al., 2008a, Zelenák et al., 2010, Boakye et al., 2011] used an HMM with three states (non-speech, speech, and overlapped speech) with GMMs as models and MFCCs as features (and spatial features in the case of [Zelenák et al., 2010]). The task of overlapped speech detection has, however, been explored more in recent years: The most prolific works have used NNs for the purpose of overlap detection. [Geiger et al., 2013b] made use of an LSTM to detect overlap and an HMM (states for non-speech, speech, and overlapped speech) to post-process the per-frame labels. [Andrei et al., 2017, Kunešová et al., 2019] made use of a CNN to detect overlap while [Hagerer et al., 2017, Bullock et al., 2020] used a BLSTM. [Raj et al., 2021c] used a time-delay NN (TDNN) and BLSTM together with an HMM. [Jung et al., 2021] used a convolutional recurrent neural network architecture to leverage both local and sequential information.

However, one of the main problems for training NNs for the task is the lack of training data. Moreover, the quality of the annotations in overlapping segments is not always satisfactory, especially for short segments. For this reason, works sometimes resort to artificially created overlaps [Hagerer et al., 2017, Kunešová et al., 2019].

Recent papers have also paid attention to the problem of handling overlap once it is detected. For instance, [Bullock et al., 2020] used the output of the variational Bayes HMM framework for diarization (to be discussed in Section 3.2) by considering the first and second most likely speakers given by the model as present speakers when the OSD finds an overlapped speech segment. [Raj et al., 2021c] extended the spectral clustering technique to return two labels for segments recognized by the OSD system.

Although some authors have used linguistic cues [Włodarczak et al., 2012, Geiger et al., 2013a, Yella and Bourlard, 2013, Chowdhury et al., 2015] together with standard features for OSD, acoustic features still provide most of the relevant information with current techniques. Other approaches such as using the amount of detected silence [Yella and Valente, 2012] or analyzing the formants and harmonic structure of speech [Shokouhi et al., 2015] to find patterns corresponding to overlapping speakers have been proposed but their performance was worse than that of NN-based systems. Some have focused on learning speaker embeddings used for clustering jointly with VAD and OSD [Akira-Miasato Filho et al., 2018] but without much success.

Related to overlapped speech detection is the field of source separation which intends to create a separate output stream (signal or spectrogram) for each of the sources (speakers). Although some works [Chen et al., 2017, Chen et al., 2018, Yoshioka et al., 2018] focused on this task in similar conditions as we do, the task itself is different (to separate rather than to detect) and focuses on ASR as the down-stream task. Thus, we do not cover it here.

Given the quality of VAD systems, speaker embeddings and clustering methods, most sources of errors in diarization performance nowadays are related to overlapped speech. Even more, the performance of OSD systems is in most cases far from satisfactory. In general, excellent precision is preferred over good recall since false alarms directly increase the diarization errors. Yet, correctly found overlap segments do not always translate into decreased error due to the complicated task of assigning the correct speaker.

## 3.2 Diarization based on Bayesian hidden Markov model (VBx)

This section covers the work done regarding the Bayesian hidden Markov model for diarization and the configuration of a full system with this approach. This system falls into the category of clustering of embeddings and, being a more sophisticated approach than other simpler clustering methods, it has allowed for state-of-the-art performance on different sets for considerable time. Nowadays, it is still used as a contrastive baseline system in many publications.

#### 3.2.1 Background

Hidden Markov models [Rabiner and Juang, 1986] have been used for speech processing for a very long time. In particular, an ergodic HMM presents a suitable framework for diarization where states represent speakers, the transitions between states represent the speaker turns in a conversation and each state has a speaker model which is assumed to generate the observed data.

Some of the first works in diarization used HMMs [Sugiyama et al., 1993, Wilcox et al., 1994, Sönmez et al., 1999] although at that time they referred to the task as "speaker tracking" or simply "speaker segmentation". The main problem with those approaches was that the number of speakers in the conversation had to be known in advance. An extension to tackle that problem consisted in an evolutive HMM [Meignier et al., 2000, Meignier et al., 2001, Meignier et al., 2006, Fredouille and Evans, 2008] where new states were added iteratively and the Viterbi decoding ran after each change of HMM configuration to see if the new model fitted the observed data better. Another approach [Ajmera et al., 2002] started from a large number of segments (many more than the number of expected speakers) and "merged" states as long as the new configuration fitted the data better than the previous one.

However, more relevant work for this chapter was proposed in [Valente and Wellekens, 2004, Valente and Wellekens, 2005] where, for the first time, variational Bayesian (VB) inference was used together with an HMM for diarization. The idea was to use an ergodic HMM modeling the speakers (states) with GMMs. We do not describe the VB inference here as it is a central part of the model we use in this work and it is covered in section 3.2.2.

Alternatives using a hierarchical Dirichlet process HMM (HDP-HMM) [Teh et al., 2004] and a sticky HDP-HMM were presented in [Fox et al., 2011] using also a Bayesian framework in the context of diarization. With the HDP-HMM, the model allowed potentially an infinite number of speakers, since the number of states is inferred naturally. As presented by the authors, this approach has the problem that it does not model the persistence of states adequately. This means that the approach gives a higher posterior probability to models with a higher number of states and with rapid switching between them. In order to fix this, they included a parameter of self-transition bias with its corresponding prior so that it is part of the whole Bayesian framework. Their extension, called sticky HDP-HMM, presented a fully Bayesian framework (i.e. priors were assumed over all the parameters) to model the diarization problem. Unlike in [Valente and Wellekens, 2005], where a variational expectation-maximization-like algorithm was used to obtain the parameters, in [Fox et al., 2011], Gibbs sampling was used to obtain the model parameters. The sticky HDP-HMM approach was shown to attain state-of-the-art performance when proposed. Although a very principled way to tackle the problem of diarization, the solution requires quite a complex model and a large number of Gibbs sampling iterations to reach good performance.

Another Bayesian approach was proposed in [Kenny, 2008, Kenny et al., 2010] where a Bayesian GMM based on JFA was used for diarization. At that time, JFA was the common framework for speaker verification and using eigen-voices imposed a more powerful prior on the parameters of the GMMs than the priors used in [Valente and Wellekens, 2005]. One of the problems of the approach presented in [Kenny, 2008] is that the turn durations are not modeled so the natural solution was to extend the model with an HMM.

This Bayesian hidden Markov model (BHMM) was used in [Sell and Garcia-Romero, 2015] (and released later by the author<sup>1</sup>) reaching new state-of-the-art results. The BHMM framework was presented as resegmentation: after obtaining a carefully tuned diarization output by means of AHC of i-vectors, the BHMM applied at MFCC level (i.e. 10 ms) was used to improve the boundaries of the segments and to potentially correct the mistakes made by AHC. A more thorough analysis of the BHMM approach was then presented in [Diez et al., 2018a, Diez et al., 2019a] where it was shown that it can reach excellent performance even if randomly initialized (instead of using the AHC output).

This model was further adapted to work with x-vectors as input instead of MFCCs in [Diez et al., 2019b] resulting in a more light-weight approach (given by the lower frequency of x-vectors in comparison with MFCCs, and states modeled by single Gaussians rather than GMMs). However, this newer model is more powerful due to the discriminative capabilities of the x-vectors, and the pre-trained PLDA model that is incorporated into the BHMM, to properly model between- and within-speaker variabilities. This approach forms the core of VBx, the model we describe next.

#### 3.2.2 Model description

The model that we describe here corresponds to the latest version of the BHMM which works at x-vector level as described in [Landini et al., 2022b]. Often we refer to this model as VBx<sup>2</sup>. Although many aspects are shared with its predecessor version working at MFCC level, we omit those differences and focus only on the latest version. More details about the previous version can be found in [Diez et al., 2018a, Diez et al., 2019a].

#### Overview

The model works on the basis of a VAD segmentation which can be given by a system or by oracle labels, i.e. extracted from the reference annotations. On the speech portions, uniform segmentation is used to define the segments where speaker embeddings (x-vectors) are to be extracted.

The diarization model assumes that the input sequence of x-vectors is generated by an HMM with speaker-specific state distributions. Building on a common back-end approach for comparing x-vectors, the state distributions are derived from a PLDA model pre-trained on a large number of speaker-labeled x-vectors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://http://speech.fit.vutbr.cz/software/vb-diarizationeigenvoice-and-hmm-priors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Variational Bayes diarization working with x-vectors.

The HMM is ergodic with one-to-one correspondence between the speakers and states. This allows us to model transitions between any pair of speakers, as can be expected in a conversation. As will be discussed in section 3.5, this approach does not consider overlapped speech and in the case of having it in the recording, the model will output only one speaker for the corresponding embeddings.

Let  $\mathbf{X} = {\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, ..., \mathbf{x}_T}$  be the sequence of observed x-vectors and  $\mathbf{Z} = {z_1, z_2, ..., z_T}$  the corresponding sequence of discrete latent variables defining the hard alignment of x-vectors to HMM states. In our notation,  $z_t = s$  indicates that the speaker (HMM state) s is responsible for generating observation  $\mathbf{x}_t$ . To address the speaker diarization task, the speaker distributions represented by latent vectors  $\mathbf{y}_s$  and latent variables  $z_t$  are jointly estimated given an input sequence  $\mathbf{X}$ . The diarization output is then given by the most likely sequence  $\mathbf{Z}$ , which encodes the alignment of x-vectors to speakers.

#### HMM topology

The HMM topology and transition probabilities model the speaker turn durations. Figure 3.2 shows an example of the HMM topology for S = 3 speakers. The transition probabilities are set as follows: we transition back to the same speaker/state with probability  $P_{loop}$ . Note that this probability is not learned (unlike in [Fox et al., 2011]) but it is a tunable parameter in the model. The remaining probability  $(1 - P_{loop})$  is the probability of changing the speaker, which corresponds to the transition to the non-emitting node in Figure 3.2. From the non-emitting node, we immediately transition to one of the speaker states with probability  $\pi_s$ .<sup>3</sup> Therefore, the probability of leaving one speaker and entering another speaker s is  $(1 - P_{loop})\pi_s$ . To summarize, the probability of transitioning from state s' to state s is

$$p(s|s') = (1 - P_{loop})\pi_s + \delta(s = s')P_{loop},$$
(3.1)

where  $\delta(s = s')$  equals 1 if we go to the same state (s = s') and is 0 otherwise.

The non-emitting node in Figure 3.2 is also the initial state of the model. Therefore, the probabilities  $\pi_s$  also control the selection of the initial HMM state (i.e. the state generating the first observation). These probabilities  $\pi_s$  are inferred (jointly with the variables  $\mathbf{y}_s$  and  $z_t$ ) from the input conversation.

Thanks to the automatic relevance determination principle [Bishop, 2006] stemming from the Bayesian model, zero probabilities will be learned for the  $\pi_s$  corresponding to redundant speakers, which effectively drops such speakers from the HMM model. Typically, the HMM is initialized with a larger number of speakers (see section 3.3) and we make use of this behavior to drop the redundant speakers (i.e. to estimate the number of speakers in the conversation).

#### Speaker-specific distributions

The speaker-specific distributions are derived from a PLDA which is a standard model used for comparing x-vectors in speaker verification [Kenny, 2010]. Here, only a simplified variant of PLDA is considered, which is often referred to as *two-covariance model* [Brummer and Villiers, 2010].

This model assumes that the distribution of x-vectors specific to speaker s is Gaussian  $\mathcal{N}(\hat{\mathbf{x}}_t; \hat{\mathbf{m}}_s, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_w)$ , where  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_w$  is the within-speaker covariance matrix shared by all speaker models, and  $\hat{\mathbf{m}}_s$  is the speaker-specific mean. Speaker means are further assumed to be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For convenience, we allow to re-enter the same speaker as it leads to simpler update formulae.



Figure 3.2: HMM model for 3 speakers with 1 state per speaker, with a dummy non-emitting (initial) state. Figure adopted from [Diez et al., 2019a].

Gaussian distributed  $\mathcal{N}(\hat{\mathbf{m}}_s; \mathbf{m}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_b)$ , where **m** is the global mean and  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_b$  is the betweenspeaker covariance matrix. In general,  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_w$  and  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_b$  can be full covariance matrices. However, to further simplify and speed up the inference in our model, we assume that the x-vectors are linearly transformed into a space where  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_b$  is diagonal and  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_w$  is identity. This can be achieved as follows:

Let  $\hat{\mathbf{X}}$  be the matrix of original (untransformed) x-vectors that the parameters of the original PLDA model  $\mathbf{m}$ ,  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_w$  and  $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_b$  were estimated on. The x-vectors that are used as input for the diarization algorithm are obtained as

$$\mathbf{X} = (\mathbf{\hat{X}} - \mathbf{m})\mathbf{E},\tag{3.2}$$

where  $\mathbf{E}$  is the matrix that transforms the x-vectors into the desired space. This matrix can be obtained by solving the standard generalized eigen-value problem

$$\Sigma_b \mathbf{E} = \Sigma_w \mathbf{E} \boldsymbol{\Phi}, \tag{3.3}$$

where **E** is the matrix of eigen-vectors and  $\mathbf{\Phi}$  is the diagonal matrix of eigen-values, which is also the between-speaker covariance matrix in the transformed space. Note that the eigen-vectors **E** are, in fact, bases of linear discriminant analysis (LDA) estimated directly from the PLDA model parameters. Therefore, if we construct  $\mathbf{\Phi}$  only using R largest eigenvalues and assemble **E** only using the corresponding eigen-vectors, (3.2) further performs LDA dimensionality reduction of x-vectors to R-dimensional space. We use R as one of the hyper-parameters of the VBx method. In (3.2), we have also subtracted the global mean from the original x-vectors to have the new set of x-vectors zero-centered.

In summary, the PLDA model compatible with the new set of x-vectors  $\mathbf{X}$  suggests that speaker-specific means are distributed as

$$p(\mathbf{m}_s) = \mathcal{N}(\mathbf{m}_s; \mathbf{0}, \boldsymbol{\Phi}). \tag{3.4}$$

For convenience and for compatibility with the notation introduced in [Diez et al., 2019a], we further re-parametrize the speaker means with speaker-specific latent variables  $\mathbf{y}_s$  as:

$$\mathbf{m}_s = \mathbf{V} \mathbf{y}_s,\tag{3.5}$$

where  $\mathbf{V} = \mathbf{\Phi}^{\frac{1}{2}}$  is a diagonal matrix and  $\mathbf{y}_s$  is a standard normal distributed random variable

$$p(\mathbf{y}_s) = \mathcal{N}(\mathbf{y}_s; \mathbf{0}, \mathbf{I}). \tag{3.6}$$

The speaker-specific distribution of x-vectors is then

$$p(\mathbf{x}_t | \mathbf{y}_s) = \mathcal{N}(\mathbf{x}_t; \mathbf{V}\mathbf{y}_s, \mathbf{I}), \tag{3.7}$$

where **I** is identity matrix.

In our diarization model, we use (3.7) to model the speaker (HMM state) distributions. This distribution is fully defined only in terms of the speaker vector  $\mathbf{y}_s$  (and the pre-trained matrix  $\mathbf{V}$  shared by all the speakers). The speaker vector  $\mathbf{y}_s$  is treated as a latent variable with standard normal prior (3.6), which is why the BHMM model is called *Bayesian*<sup>4</sup>. This way, the full PLDA model is incorporated into the BHMM in order to properly model between- and across-speaker variability. Therefore, the model is capable of discriminating between speakers just like the PLDA model when used for speaker verification.

#### **Bayesian HMM**

To summarize, our complete model for SD is a Bayesian HMM, which is defined in terms of the state-specific distributions (or so-called output probabilities)

$$p(\mathbf{x}_t|z_t = s) = p(\mathbf{x}_t|s) = p(\mathbf{x}_t|\mathbf{y}_s)$$
(3.8)

and the transition probabilities

$$p(z_t = s | z_{t-1} = s') = p(s | s')$$
(3.9)

described in the two previous sections. By abuse of notation,  $p(z_1|z_0)$  will correspond to the initial state probability  $p(z_1=s) = \pi_s$  in the following formulae.

The complete model can be also defined in terms of the joint probability of the observed and latent random variables (and their factorization) as

$$p(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y}) = p(\mathbf{X} | \mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y}) p(\mathbf{Z}) p(\mathbf{Y}) = \prod_{t} p(\mathbf{x}_{t} | z_{t}) \prod_{t} p(z_{t} | z_{t-1}) \prod_{s} p(\mathbf{y}_{s}), \quad (3.10)$$

where  $\mathbf{Y} = {\mathbf{y}_1, \mathbf{y}_2, ..., \mathbf{y}_S}$  is the set of all the speaker-specific latent variables. The corresponding graphical model can be seen in Figure 3.3.

The model assumes that each x-vector sequence corresponding to an input conversation is obtained using the following generative process:

$$\begin{aligned} & \mathbf{for} \ s = 1..S \ \mathbf{do} \\ & \mathbf{y}_s \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \mathbf{I}) \\ & \mathbf{for} \ t = 1..T \ \mathbf{do} \\ & z_t \sim p(z_t | z_{t-1}) \\ & \mathbf{x}_t \sim p(\mathbf{x}_t | z_t) \end{aligned}$$

#### **Diarization inference**

The diarization problem consists in finding the assignment of embeddings to speakers, which is represented by the latent sequence  $\mathbf{Z}$ . In order to find the most likely sequence  $\mathbf{Z}$ , we need

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>However, unlike other "fully Bayesian" HMM implementations [Fox et al., 2011, Beal, 2003], we do not impose any prior on the transition probabilities.



Figure 3.3: Bayesian network describing the model.

to infer the posterior distribution  $p(\mathbf{Z}|\mathbf{X}) = \int p(\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y}|\mathbf{X}) d\mathbf{Y}$ . Unfortunately, the evaluation of this integral is intractable, and therefore, we approximate it using variational Bayes inference [Bishop, 2006], where the distribution  $p(\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y}|\mathbf{X})$  is approximated by  $q(\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y})$ . We use the mean-field approximation [Bishop, 2006, Kenny, 2008] assuming that the approximate posterior distribution factorizes as

$$q(\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y}) = q(\mathbf{Z})q(\mathbf{Y}). \tag{3.11}$$

The particular form of the approximate distributions  $q(\mathbf{Z})$  and  $q(\mathbf{Y})$  directly follows from the optimization described below.

We search for such  $q(\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y})$  that minimizes the Kullback-Leibler divergence  $D_{KL}(q(\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y}) || p(\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y} | \mathbf{X}))$ , which is equivalent to maximizing the standard VB objective – the evidence lower bound objective (ELBO) [Bishop, 2006]<sup>5</sup>

$$\mathcal{L}(q(\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y})) = E_{q(\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y})} \left\{ \ln \left( \frac{p(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{Y}, \mathbf{Z})}{q(\mathbf{Y}, \mathbf{Z})} \right) \right\}.$$
(3.12)

Using the factorization (3.11), the ELBO can be split into three terms

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}}\left(q(\mathbf{Z},\mathbf{Y})\right) = F_A E_{q(\mathbf{Z},\mathbf{Y})}\left[\ln p(\mathbf{X}|\mathbf{Y},\mathbf{Z})\right] + F_B E_{q(\mathbf{Y})}\left[\ln \frac{p(\mathbf{Y})}{q(\mathbf{Y})}\right] + E_{q(\mathbf{Z})}\left[\ln \frac{p(\mathbf{Z})}{q(\mathbf{Z})}\right],\quad(3.13)$$

where the first term is the expected log-likelihood of the observed x-vector sequence  $\mathbf{X}$ and the second and third terms are Kullback-Leibler divergences  $D_{KL}(q(\mathbf{Y})||p(\mathbf{Y}))$  and  $D_{KL}(q(\mathbf{Z})||p(\mathbf{Z}))$  regularizing the approximate posterior distributions  $q(\mathbf{Y})$  and  $q(\mathbf{Z})$  towards the priors  $p(\mathbf{Y})$  and  $p(\mathbf{Z})$ . In (3.13), we modified the ELBO by scaling the first two terms by constant factors  $F_A$  and  $F_B$ .<sup>6</sup> The theoretically correct values for these factors leading to the original ELBO (3.13) are  $F_A = F_B = 1$ . However, choosing different values gives us finer control over the inference, which can be used to improve diarization performance.

 $F_A$  is the acoustic scaling factor. Choosing values between 0 and 1 scales the first term in 3.13, counteracting the HMM's (incorrect) assumption of statistical independence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In some works, the variational free energy is optimized but that is equivalent to optimizing ELBO.

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$ Note that similar scaling factor for the third term would be redundant as only the relative scale of the three factors is relevant for the optimization.

between observations.  $F_B$  is the speaker regularization coefficient which penalizes the complexity of the speaker models, thus keeping the posteriors of the speaker latents close to the priors. Values higher than 1 result in the model dropping more speakers in the context of the VB inference. There is a certain level of interplay between these hyperparameters and, given a specific application scenario, a particular combination of  $F_A$  and  $F_B$  can allow the model to find a better solution. For further details on the specific effects these scaling factors have in the inference and their interplay, we refer the reader to [Diez et al., 2019a].

As described above, we search for the approximate posterior  $q(\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y})$  that maximizes the ELBO (3.13). In the case of the mean-field factorization (3.11), we proceed iteratively by finding the  $q(\mathbf{Y})$  that maximizes the ELBO given fixed  $q(\mathbf{Z})$  and vice versa. The updates and ELBO evaluation are described below. We omit the derivations but the interested reader can find them in [Diez and Burget, 2021]. Note, that an initial sequence  $\mathbf{Z}$  is necessary to start the iterative procedure to obtain the approximate posterior  $q(\mathbf{Z}, \mathbf{Y})$ . While the initial assignment of observations to states  $\mathbf{Z}$  can be obtained randomly, we observed that in practice, a more sensible assignment can lead to better results as will be discussed in Section 3.3.1.

#### Updating $q(\mathbf{Y})$

Given a fixed  $q(\mathbf{Z})$ , the distribution over **Y** that maximizes the ELBO is

$$q^*(\mathbf{Y}) = \prod_s q^*(\mathbf{y}_s),\tag{3.14}$$

where the speaker-specific approximate posteriors

$$q^*(\mathbf{y}_s) = \mathcal{N}\left(\mathbf{y}_s | \boldsymbol{\alpha}_s, \mathbf{L}_s^{-1}\right)$$
(3.15)

are Gaussians with the mean vector and precision matrix

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{s} = \frac{F_{A}}{F_{B}} \mathbf{L}_{s}^{-1} \sum_{t} \gamma_{ts} \boldsymbol{\rho}_{t}$$
(3.16)

$$\mathbf{L}_{s} = \mathbf{I} + \frac{F_{A}}{F_{B}} \left( \sum_{t} \gamma_{ts} \right) \mathbf{\Phi}, \qquad (3.17)$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{\rho}_t = \mathbf{V}^T \mathbf{x}_t. \tag{3.18}$$

In this update formula,  $\gamma_{ts} = q(z_t = s)$  is the marginal approximate posterior derived from the current estimate of the distribution  $q(\mathbf{Z})$  (see below), which can be interpreted as the responsibility of speaker s for generating observation  $\mathbf{x}_t$  (i.e. defines a soft alignment of x-vectors to speakers).

It is worth noting that  $\Phi$  is a diagonal matrix. Therefore, also matrix  $\mathbf{L}_s$  is diagonal, and its inversion and application in (3.16) become trivial.

#### Updating $q(\mathbf{Z})$

We never need to infer the complete distribution over all the possible alignments of observations to speakers  $q(\mathbf{Z})$ . When updating  $q(\mathbf{Y})$  using (3.16) and (3.17), we only need the marginals  $\gamma_{ts} = q(z_t = s)$ . Therefore, when updating  $q(\mathbf{Z})$ , we can directly search for the

responsibilities  $\gamma_{ts}$  that correspond to the distribution  $q^*(\mathbf{Z})$  maximizing the ELBO given a fixed  $q(\mathbf{Y})$ . Similar to the standard HMM training, such responsibilities can be calculated efficiently using a forward-backward algorithm as

$$\gamma_{ts} = \frac{A(t,s)B(t,s)}{\overline{p}(\mathbf{X})},\tag{3.19}$$

where the forward probability

$$A(t,s) = \bar{p}(\mathbf{x}_t|s) \sum_{s'} A(t-1,s') p(s|s')$$
(3.20)

is recursively evaluated by progressing forward in time for t=1..T starting with  $A(0,s) = \pi_s$ . Similarly,

$$B(t,s) = \sum_{s'} B(t+1,s')\bar{p}(\mathbf{x}_{t+1}|s')p(s'|s)$$
(3.21)

is the backward probability evaluated using backward recursion for times t = T..1 starting with B(T, s) = 1.

$$\overline{p}(\mathbf{X}) = \sum_{s} A(T, s) \tag{3.22}$$

is the total forward probability and

$$\ln \overline{p}(\mathbf{x}_t|s) = F_A \left[ \boldsymbol{\alpha}_s^T \boldsymbol{\rho}_t - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left( \boldsymbol{\Phi} \left[ \mathbf{L}_s^{-1} + \boldsymbol{\alpha}_s \boldsymbol{\alpha}_s^T \right] \right) - \frac{D}{2} \ln 2\pi - \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{x}_t^T \mathbf{x}_t \right]$$
$$= F_A \left[ \boldsymbol{\alpha}_s^T \boldsymbol{\rho}_t - \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{\phi}^T \left[ \boldsymbol{\lambda}_s + \boldsymbol{\alpha}_s^2 \right] - \frac{D}{2} \ln 2\pi - \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{x}_t^T \mathbf{x}_t \right]$$
(3.23)

is the expected log-likelihood of observation  $\mathbf{x}_t$  given a speaker *s* taking into account its uncertainty  $q(\mathbf{y}_s)$ . The second line of (3.23) corresponds to an efficient evaluation of this term, where vector  $\boldsymbol{\phi}$  is the diagonal of the diagonal matrix  $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$ , vector  $\boldsymbol{\lambda}$  is the diagonal of the diagonal matrix  $\mathbf{L}_s^{-1}$  and the square in  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_s^2$  is element-wise. Note also that the terms  $-\frac{D}{2}\ln 2\pi - \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{x}_t^T\mathbf{x}_t$  in (3.23) are not only constant over VB iterations but also constant for different speakers *s*. As a consequence, the contribution of these terms cancels in (3.19), and therefore, they do not have to be calculated at all.

#### Updating $\pi_s$

Finally, the speaker priors  $\pi_s$  are updated as maximum likelihood type II estimates [Bishop, 2006]: Given fixed  $q(\mathbf{Y})$  and  $q(\mathbf{Z})$ , we search for the values of  $\pi_s$  that maximize the ELBO (3.13), which gives the following fixed point iteration update formula

$$\pi_s \propto \gamma_{1s} + \frac{(1 - P_{loop})\pi_s}{\overline{p}(\mathbf{X})} \sum_{t=2}^T \sum_{s'} A(t-1, s') p(\mathbf{x}_t|s) B(t, s)$$
(3.24)

with the constraint  $\sum_s \pi_s = 1$ . As described in section 3.2.2, this update tends to drive the  $\pi_s$  corresponding to "redundant speakers" to zero values, which effectively drops them from the model and selects the right number of speakers in the input conversation.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This is known as automatic relevance determination principle [Bishop, 2006]

#### Evaluating the ELBO

The convergence of the iterative VB inference can be monitored by evaluating the ELBO objective. For the Bayesian HMM, the ELBO can be efficiently evaluated (see page 95 of [Beal, 2003]) as

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}} = \ln \overline{p}(\mathbf{X}) + \sum_{s} \frac{F_B}{2} \left( R + \ln |\mathbf{L}_s^{-1}| - \operatorname{tr}(\mathbf{L}_s^{-1}) - \boldsymbol{\alpha}_s^T \boldsymbol{\alpha}_s \right), \qquad (3.25)$$

where R is the dimensionality of the x-vectors. Note, that since  $\mathbf{L}_s$  is a diagonal matrix, ln  $|\mathbf{L}_s^{-1}|$  can be calculated just as the sum of the log of the elements in the diagonal. This way of evaluating the ELBO is very practical as the term  $\overline{p}(\mathbf{X})$  from (3.22) is obtained as a byproduct of "updating  $q(\mathbf{Z})$ " using the forward-backward algorithm. On the other hand, the ELBO can be evaluated using (3.25) only right after the  $q(\mathbf{Z})$  update. Thus, the improvements in the ELBO obtained from  $q(\mathbf{Y})$  or  $\pi_s$  updates cannot be monitored, which might be useful for debugging purposes.

The complete VB inference consisting of iterative updates of  $q(\mathbf{Y})$ ,  $q(\mathbf{Z})$  and parameters  $\pi_s$  is summarized in the following algorithm:

Initialize all  $\gamma_{ts}$  (e.g. randomly or using another diarization method) repeat Update  $q(\mathbf{y}_s)$  for s=1..S using (3.15) for t = 1..T do Calculate A(t,s) for s=1..S using (3.20) for t = T..1 do Calculate B(t,s) for s=1..S using (3.21) Update  $\gamma_{ts}$  for t=1..T, s=1..S using (3.21) Update  $\pi_s$  for s=1..S using (3.24) Evaluate ELBO  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}$  using (3.25) until convergence of  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}$ 

### 3.3 Experiments

#### 3.3.1 Model configuration

This section presents results with a cascaded system based on clustering of x-vectors by means of VBx. However, the system consists of a few blocks as depicted in Figure 3.4. Voice activity detection is initially applied and, on the speech segments, a fixed segmentation is used where each x-vector is extracted from 1.5 s windows every 0.25 s. Towards the end of each segment, some x-vectors might be estimated on shorter-than-1.5 s windows. Then, the BHMM framework is applied using AHC as initialization and finally, the output of an overlapped speech detection system is used to add overlapping speakers since the clustering step inherently assigns a single speaker to each x-vector. Each of the modules is described in detail next. Since we present results on telephone conversation datasets as well as wide-band corpora, two similar models are described, one for each data type.

#### Voice activity detection

Two VAD systems are used and the best-performing on each corpus development set is chosen for such corpus. On one side, a model based on TDNN and statistics pooling is utilized.



Figure 3.4: Components in the speaker diarization system utilized.

The model is widely used and available in Kaldi<sup>8</sup>. It is trained on the alignments provided by an HMM-GMM model with three classes: speech, non-speech and noise. The training data consist of Fisher parts 1 and 2 [Cieri et al., 2004]. To produce the silence/speech decisions, an HMM is built to impose minimum silence and speech durations, and the TDNN's outputs are converted into likelihoods to perform Viterbi decoding with the HMM and produce the final VAD outputs. This system should, a priori, have better performance on narrow-band data.

The second model is based on a recurrent neural network (RNN) [Gelly and Gauvain, 2017]. It is widely used and available in pyannote 2.1 [Bredin, 2022]. The architecture comprises SincNet [Ravanelli and Bengio, 2018] (formed by convolutional blocks), two stacked bidirectional LSTM layers, and two linear layers before the classification head into two outputs (silence/speech).

#### x-vector extractor and PLDA

As described in the previous section, VBx diarization relies on a pre-trained x-vector extractor and a PLDA model. Since we report results on both 16 kHz recordings and 8 kHz telephone recordings, two x-vector extractors and the corresponding PLDA models were needed, one for each condition. These were trained in cooperation with Phonexia and the complete PyTorch [Paszke et al., 2019] recipe for x-vector extractor and PLDA training is available at https://github.com/phonexiaresearch/VBx-training-recipe.

**x-vector extractor architecture** Both 8 kHz and 16 kHz x-vector extractors use the same deep neural network architecture based on ResNet101 [He et al., 2016, Zeinali et al., 2019]. In both cases, the neural network inputs are 64 log Mel filter bank features extracted every 10 ms using a 25 ms window. The two x-vector extractors differ only in the frequency ranges spanned by the Mel filters, which are 20-3700 Hz and 20-7700 Hz for the 8 kHz and 16 kHz systems, respectively. The x-vector extractor architecture is summarized in Table 3.1. The first 2D convolutional layer operates on the  $64 \times M$  matrix of log Mel filter bank features, where M is the number of frames in the input segments. For training, we use 4s segments (i.e. M = 400). The following layers are standard ResNet blocks [He

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> http://kaldi-asr.org/models/m4

et al., 2016]. As in the original x-vector architecture [Snyder et al., 2018], the statistical pooling layer is used to aggregate information over the whole speech segment (i.e. mean and standard deviation of activations is calculated over the time dimension). After the pooling layer, a linear transformation is used to reduce the dimensionality to obtain the 256-dimensional x-vectors.

Table 3.1: The structure of the proposed ResNet101 architecture. The first dimension of the input shows the size of the filterbank and the second dimension indicates the number of frames.

Layer	Structure	Stride	Output
Input	-	-	$64 \times M \times 1$
Conv2D-1	$3 \times 3, 32$	1	$64 \times M \times 32$
ResNetBlock-1	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \times 1, 32 \\ 3 \times 3, 32 \\ 1 \times 1, 128 \end{bmatrix} \times 3$	1	$64 \times M \times 128$
ResNetBlock-2	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \times 1, 64 \\ 3 \times 3, 64 \\ 1 \times 1, 256 \end{bmatrix} \times 4$	2	$32 \times M/2 \times 256$
ResNetBlock-3	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \times 1, 128 \\ 3 \times 3, 128 \\ 1 \times 1, 512 \end{bmatrix} \times 23$	2	$16 \times M/4 \times 512$
ResNetBlock-4	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \times 1,256 \\ 3 \times 3,256 \\ 1 \times 1,1024 \end{bmatrix} \times 3$	2	$8{\times}M/8{\times}1024$
Statistics Pooling	-	-	$16 \times 1024$
Flatten	-	-	16384
Linear	-	-	256

The x-vector extractors are trained using stochastic gradient descent and additive angular margin loss [Deng et al., 2019] with speaker identities as class labels. We ramp up the margin during the first two epochs (pass through the training data) and then train the neural network for another epoch with a fixed margin m = 0.2.

**x-vector extractor training data** The 16 kHz x-vector extractor is trained using data from VoxCeleb1 [Nagrani et al., 2017], VoxCeleb2 [Chung et al., 2018] and CN-CELEB [Fan et al., 2020]. Table 3.2 details number of speakers and hours in each set. The energy-based VAD from Kaldi [Povey et al., 2011] toolkit is used to remove silence frames. Speakers with less than 2 recordings are discarded. Further, we drop utterances with less than 4 seconds of speech. This way, about 4% of speech data is discarded. Data augmentation is performed the same way as in the SRE16 Kaldi recipe<sup>9</sup>, resulting in four additional copies of the data with artificially added noise, music, or reverberation. Training examples are randomly sampled from the training data. This way we extract about 89 million examples (original and augmented 4s segments), which cover more than 60% of the speech from the training corpora.

To train the 8 kHz x-vector extractor, the same data sets are used as in the 16 kHz case. Additionally, the following data sets were used: Mixer collection (NIST SRE 2004-2010), Switchboard, and DeepMine [Zeinali et al., 2018]. See Table 3.3 for details. Any wide-band data used were downsampled to 8 kHz and passed through a telephone codec (selected randomly from AMR, G.711, G.726, GSM-FR, and GSM-EFR). The same data selection

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>https://github.com/kaldi-asr/kaldi/tree/master/egs/sre16/v2

Set	Speakers	Hours
VoxCeleb1	1211	323
VoxCeleb2	5994	2290
CN-CELEB	973	264
Total	8178	2877

Table 3.2: Number of speakers and the total amount of training data used for the 16 kHz x-vector extractor.

and augmentation was used as for the 16 kHz case. Note that about 30% of DeepMine data were discarded as this dataset contains many utterances with less than 4 seconds of speech (mostly phrases for text-dependent speaker verification).

Table 3.3: Number of speakers and the total amount of training data for the 8 kHz x-vector extractor.

Set	Speakers	Hours
VoxCeleb1 VoxCeleb2 CN-CELEB	1211 5994 973	323 2290 264
Mixer collection Switchboard DeepMine	4254 2591 1858	$3805 \\ 1170 \\ 688$
Total	16881	8540

**PLDA training** The 8 kHz and 16 kHz PLDA models are trained on the same data as the corresponding x-vector extractors. For this purpose, one x-vector is extracted from each individual recording (e.g. one cut from a YouTube video in the case of the VoxCeleb data). The length of such recordings can range from 4 s to several minutes. Note that the PLDA trained on such x-vectors is later used in VBx to operate on x-vectors extracted from much shorter 1.5 s segments.

#### Overlap detection and handling

To detect overlapped speech segments, the model shared in pyannote [Bredin et al., 2020] was used. Alike their VAD system, the architecture comprises SincNet [Ravanelli and Bengio, 2018] (formed by convolutional blocks), two stacked bidirectional LSTM layers, and two linear layers before the classification head into two outputs.

Once the overlap segments are detected, given the diarization labels provided by VBx, second speaker labels are assigned on overlap segments. This is done using a heuristic [Otterson and Ostendorf, 2007] which uses the closest-in-time speaker.

#### 3.3.2 Evaluation Data

To evaluate the quality of the model, we considered several standard datasets in the field comprising different characteristics in terms of acoustics and style. Information about the datasets can be seen in Table 3.4.

Table 3.4: DER evaluation collar, types of microphone, and characteristics of each evaluation dataset.

Dataset	collar (s)	Microphone	Characteristics
AISHELL-4	0	array	Discussions in Mandarin in different rooms
AliMeeting	0	array & headset	Meetings in Mandarin in different rooms
AMI	0	array & headset	Meetings in English in different rooms
Callhome	0.25	telephone	Conversations with family or friends
CHiME6	0.25	array	Dinner parties in home environments
DIHARD2	0	varied	Wide variety of domains
DIHARD3 full	0	varied	Wide variety of domains
DipCo	0.25	array	Dinner party sessions in the same room
Mixer6	0.25	varied	Interviews and calls in English
MSDWild	0.25	varied	Videos of daily casual conversations
RAMC	0	mobile phone	Phone calls in Mandarin
VoxConverse	0.25	varied	Wide variety of videos (different languages)

For each one, we utilized official or community-established partitions as described next. The training set is used to tune the hyperparameters of VBx using discriminatively trained VBx (DVBx) [Klement et al., 2023] which presents a discriminative approach to learn such hyperparameters. The development set is used as validation set during that procedure.

- AISHELL-4 [Fu et al., 2021] is an open-source dataset collected with microphone arrays in a meeting scenario with Mandarin speakers. We use the train/evaluation split provided.
- AliMeeting [Yu et al., 2022a], similarly to AISHELL-4, is an open-source dataset collected with microphone arrays in a meeting scenario with Mandarin speakers. However, headset recordings are also available so we report results on both far-field and near-field scenarios using the train/evaluation/test split provided. Unlike in the M2MET Challenge, for which the dataset was introduced, we do not use oracle VAD labels for our systems.
- AMI [Carletta et al., 2006, Kraaij et al., 2005] is a multi-modal open-source dataset collected with microphone arrays and headsets in a meeting scenario. The language spoken is English and even though it was collected almost 20 years ago, it is still relevant these days. We use the full-corpus-ASR partition into train/dev/test and the diarization annotations of the "only words" setup described in [Landini et al., 2022b]<sup>10</sup>.
- Callhome [Przybocki and Martin, 2001], the speaker segmentation data from the 2000 NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation dataset, usually referred to as "Callhome", has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/AMI-diarization-setup
become the de facto telephone conversations evaluation set for diarization. We report results using the standard Callhome partition<sup>11</sup>.

- CHiME6 [Watanabe et al., 2020] consists of colloquial conversations in a dinner party scenario among 4 participants speaking English collected with far-field microphones in different parts of the rooms. The corpus is characterized by very high levels of overlapped speech and long recordings, making it one of the most challenging scenarios at the time of writing. We use the official partition (train/dev/eval) and annotations from CHiME7 challenge [Cornell et al., 2023].
- DIHARD2 [Ryant et al., 2019a] which was used for the Second DIHARD Challenge and is composed of recordings from a variety of sources with scenarios ranging from read books, radio interviews, courtrooms to YouTube videos. We use the official partition.
- DIHARD3 [Ryant et al., 2021] was used for the Third DIHARD Challenge and follows a similar distribution of scenarios. We use the official partition and the "full" set, which includes a large portion of telephone conversations, in order to have a more distinct corpus with regard to DIHARD2.
- DipCo [Segbroeck et al., 2020] consists of English-spoken dinner party sessions collected with far-field microphones. We use the official partition (dev/eval) and annotations from CHiME7 challenge [Cornell et al., 2023].
- Mixer6 [Brandschain et al., 2010] comprises recordings of interviews and telephone calls as well as prompt reading (with a single speaker) collected with different microphones placed around the room. We use the official partition (train/dev/eval) and annotations from CHiME7 challenge [Cornell et al., 2023] but, given that the train part has only one speaker per recording, we only use the dev and eval parts.
- MSDWild [Liu et al., 2022] is an open-source dataset containing recordings from public videos in different real-world situations in different languages. We use the official partition into few.train/many.val/few.val as train/dev/test following other works.
- RAMC [Yang et al., 2022] is an open-source corpus of conversational speech in Mandarin collected with mobile phones. We use the official partition.
- VoxConverse [Chung et al., 2020] was proposed for the VoxSRC challenge and consists of videos of different natures collected from YouTube. We use the official partition into dev/test and the latest annotations<sup>12</sup>.

In general, we prioritize the evaluation of diarization without forgiveness collar and we use 0.25 s collar in the cases where challenge organizers propose it or it is customary (and therefore needed for comparison with other works). More information about each set can be found in Tables 3.5 and 3.6. It should be noted that if a dataset did not have the there splits, then the development set was used as training set and the test set as validation set so those results should be taken with a grain of salt.

 $<sup>^{11}</sup> Sets \ \texttt{listed in https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/CALLHOME\_sublists}$ 

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ Version 0.3 in https://github.com/joonson/voxconverse/tree/master

As the models we evaluate are trained on single-channel data, we mix all channels in the microphone array (far-field) or headsets (near-field) when the datasets contain microphone array data. For DipCo, only far-field channels are used.

Dataat		train		dev	velopm	ent		test	
Dataset	#files	$\# \mathrm{spk}$	#h	#files	$\#\mathrm{spk}$	$\#\mathrm{h}$	#files	$\# \mathrm{spk}$	#h
AISHELL-4	191	3-7	107.53	_	_	_	20	5 - 7	12.72
AliMeeting	209	2-4	111.36	8	2-4	4.2	60	2-4	10.78
AMI	136	3 - 5	80.67	18	4	9.67	16	3-4	9.06
Callhome	-	_	_	249	2-7	8.70	250	2-6	8.55
CHiME6	14	4	35.68	2	4	4.46	4	4	10.05
DIHARD2	-	—	_	192	1-10	23.81	194	1-9	22.49
DIHARD3 full	-	—	_	254	1-10	34.15	259	1-9	33.01
DipCo	-	—	_	5	4	2.73	5	4	2.6
Mixer6	243	1	183.09	59	2	44.02	23	2	6.02
MSDWild	2476	2-7	66.1	177	3-10	4.1	490	2-4	9.85
RAMC	289	2	149.65	19	2	9.89	43	2	20.64
VoxConverse	-	—	—	216	1-20	20.3	232	1 - 21	43.53

Table 3.5: Number of files, minimum and maximum number of speakers per recording, and number of hours per partition of each evaluation dataset.

Table 3.6: Percentages of silence (sil), segments with a single speaker (1-spk), and overlapped speech (ov) per partition for each evaluation dataset.

Dataat		train		de	velopme	ent		test	
Dataset	sil	1-spk	ov	sil	1-spk	ov	sil	1-spk	ov
AISHELL-4	9.97	80.92	9.11	_	_	_	9.54	85.99	4.47
AliMeeting	7.12	66.22	26.66	7.7	72.36	19.94	8.04	73.24	18.72
AMI	16.52	72.31	11.17	22.01	61.14	16.85	14.74	67.9	17.36
Callhome	—	_	_	10.23	74.49	15.28	10.55	74.46	14.99
CHiME6	23.52	52.85	23.63	12.58	43.66	43.76	19.96	50.95	29.09
DIHARD2	_	_	_	24.26	68.33	7.41	25.92	67.48	6.6
DIHARD3 full	_	_	_	20.19	71.23	8.58	20.9	71.68	7.42
DipCo	_	_	_	7.91	66.38	25.71	9.41	65.7	24.89
Mixer6	75.07	24.96	0	3.05	76.19	20.76	2.4	83.66	13.94
MSDWild	9.88	80.1	10.02	14.63	70.72	14.65	10.51	78.37	11.12
RAMC	16.15	83.84	0.01	17.21	82.78	0.01	17.39	82.6	0.01
VoxConverse	-	-	_	6.83	89.68	3.49	10.45	86.82	2.73

#### 3.3.3 Results

The results in this section are presented mainly to serve as baseline for Chapter 5. For this reason, there is no particular analysis of the configurations in VBx nor the other steps of the pipeline. However, the interested reader can refer to:

- [Landini et al., 2020] for comparisons regarding the impact of the PLDA model and the OSD step in the context of DIHARD2
- [Diez et al., 2020] for analyses with respect to the segmentation and the initialization in the context of DIHARD2
- [Landini et al., 2021b] for comparisons between using PLDA and heavy-tailed PLDA across domains in DIHARD3
- [Landini et al., 2021a] for an in-depth analysis of every step of a modular system in the context of VoxConverse
- [Landini et al., 2022b] for an extensive comparison of VBx with the state-of-the-art (at the time of publication) for AMI, Callhome and DIHARD2

It should be noted that the above-mentioned publications presented results with full modular pipelines focused on single datasets. In this section, we utilize updated submodules with the same pipeline across 12 different datasets. We expect these results will also serve as detailed baselines for future diarization publications.

Given the acoustic characteristics of different corpora, for the thesis, we evaluated two systems in terms of sampling rate: 8 kHz and 16 kHz comprising the most common scenarios at the time of writing.

In terms of VAD, as mentioned in Section 3.3.1, Kaldi ASpIRE and pyannote 2.1 models were evaluated with default parameters on signals at 8 kHz and 16 kHz. Recordings that were originally sampled at 16 kHz were downsampled to obtain their 8 kHz versions and vice-versa. For each condition (dataset and sampling rate), the best of the two VADs was chosen depending on the performance on the development set. The performance on the test sets is presented in Table 3.7. While precision and recall are detection performance metrics of the models in general, the missed and FA errors give a better hint about the effect the VAD can have on the final diarization performance.

For most of the datasets, the performances for different sampling rates are very similar. The only cases with relevant differences are CHiME6, DipCo and to a lesser extent Mixer6, for which the higher sampling rate provides advantages. These corpora, together with AMI array are those with the higher VAD errors. This is no surprise since they all contain data recorded with far-field microphones which are intrinsically more difficult and where the information carried in higher frequencies can be more helpful. In all cases, the error is very high due to the high percentage of missed speech, corresponding to low recall. It should be noted that one possibility to improve the performance on such sets would be to fine-tune the models or tune their detection thresholds using a training or development set of matching characteristics.

		8]	kHz				16	kHz		
Dataset	VAD	Miss	FA	Prec.	Reca.	VAD	Miss	FA	Prec.	Reca.
AISHELL-4	Kaldi	5.55	1.36	98.4	93.9	Kaldi	5.41	1.39	98.4	94.0
AliMeeting far	Kaldi	5.39	3.03	96.6	94.1	Kaldi	5.36	3.04	95.4	94.2
AliMeeting near	Kaldi	1.81	2.67	96.9	97.9	Kaldi	1.74	2.69	96.9	98.0
AMI array	pyannote	13.85	1.34	98.0	82.8	pyannote	13.85	1.34	98.0	82.8
AMI headset	pyannote	2.5	3.03	96.3	96.9	pyannote	2.5	3.03	96.3	96.9
Callhome	Kaldi	1.5	6.61	93.0	98.3	Kaldi	1.47	6.62	93.0	98.4
CHiME6	Kaldi	54.07	1.92	93.0	32.1	pyannote	25.73	0.94	98.3	67.7
DIHARD2	pyannote	5.13	2.95	95.9	93.1	pyannote	5.13	2.95	95.9	93.1
DIHARD3 full	pyannote	3.3	2.55	96.8	95.8	pyannote	3.3	2.55	96.8	95.8
DipCo	pyannote	40.08	0.57	98.9	55.8	pyannote	28.88	0.86	98.6	68.1
Mixer6	pyannote	24.19	0.37	99.5	75.2	pyannote	17.52	0.43	99.5	82.0
MSDWild	pyannote	2.65	5.38	94.2	97.0	pyannote	2.65	5.38	94.2	97.0
RAMC	Kaldi	0.33	9.24	89.9	99.6	Kaldi	0.32	9.27	89.9	99.6
VoxConverse	pyannote	1.35	3.22	96.5	98.5	pyannote	1.35	3.22	96.5	98.5

Table 3.7: VAD performance on the corresponding test set for each dataset in terms of missed speech, false alarm, precision and recall, all in %.

For OSD, only the model in pyannote with default parameters was used and its performance on test sets is presented in Table 3.8. In this case, the differences in performance between the two sampling rates are very small. As compared to VAD, the classification performance for OSD is substantially worse. The task itself is more difficult (even for humans) so more errors are expected to a certain extent. Like with the VAD, far-field sets have higher errors which is expected since they present more challenging conditions. In most cases, most of the mistakes are related to a low recall. However, a low recall is preferred to a low precision in a modular pipeline since false alarms count immediately as diarization errors and being more conservative is preferred.

In VBx diarization itself, as denoted in (3.13), the hyperparameters  $F_A$  and  $F_B$  have an effect on the inference and using values different from the theoretical  $F_A = 1$  and  $F_B = 1$  can lead to better performance. Different values can be explored exhaustively as done for AMI, Callhome and DIHARD2 in [Landini et al., 2022b] but this is a time-consuming task. Recent work [Klement et al., 2023] has tackled this issue with a discriminative training framework where the hyperparameters (and potentially the PLDA parameters) of VBx can be learned automatically. We used this framework, which extends the work in this thesis, to find suitable  $F_A$  and  $F_B$  values for the rest of the corpora as presented in [Landini et al., 2023b].

		81	kHz			161	kHz	
Dataset	Miss	FA	Prec.	Reca.	Miss	FA	Prec.	Reca.
AISHELL-4	4.12	0.24	59.0	7.9	3.78	0.35	66.4	15.5
AliMeeting far	15.06	0.58	86.3	19.6	13.56	0.91	85.1	27.6
AliMeeting near	6.9	0.86	92.4	60.2	7.83	0.81	92.2	54.8
AMI array	8.77	0.48	86.1	25.2	8.77	0.48	86.1	25.2
AMI headset	5.62	0.89	87.3	52.1	5.62	0.89	87.3	52.1
Callhome	9.39	1.65	77.1	37.2	9.23	1.87	75.3	38.3
CHiME6	27.76	0.19	86.6	4.1	26.82	0.26	89.1	7.4
DIHARD2	5.05	0.79	66.1	23.4	5.05	0.79	66.1	23.4
DIHARD3 full	4.6	0.99	74.1	38.0	4.6	0.99	74.1	38.0
DipCo	24.0	0.42	67.6	3.6	23.4	0.61	71.0	6.0
Mixer6	12.53	9.11	13.4	10.1	11.99	12.41	13.6	14.0
MSDWild	7.58	2.33	61.9	33.4	7.58	2.33	61.9	33.4
RAMC	0.01	1.49	0.0	14.1	0.01	1.6	0.0	14.4
VoxConverse	1.29	0.87	62.5	52.9	1.29	0.87	62.5	52.9

Table 3.8: OSD performance on the corresponding test set for each dataset in terms of missed speech, false alarm, precision and recall, all in %.

Table 3.9: Diarization results on the corresponding test set for each dataset in terms of DER and its three components and the mean speaker counting error. For convenience, the DER forgiveness collar is also presented.

Deteret	DER		$8 \mathrm{k}$	Hz m	odel			16	kHz m	odel	
Dataset	Collar	DER	Miss	FA	Conf.	MSCE	DER	Miss	FA	Conf.	MSCE
AISHELL-4	0	14.46	10.34	1.69	2.43	0.15	15.84	9.98	1.8	4.06	0.45
AliMeeting far	0	29.6	21.93	3.13	4.55	0.1	28.84	20.64	3.40	4.80	0.15
AliMeeting near	0	23.49	12.38	3.29	7.82	0.05	22.59	13.19	3.26	6.14	0.1
AMI array	0	34.14	26.12	1.93	6.08	0.44	34.61	26.12	1.93	6.56	0.5
AMI headset	0	22.23	14.06	3.73	4.45	0.31	22.42	14.06	3.73	4.63	0.31
Callhome	0.25	13.62	7.69	1.92	4.02	0.31	26.65	8.08	1.72	16.85	0.8
CHiME6	0.25	84.01	77.84	0.91	5.26	2.25	70.42	47.72	0.91	21.79	3
DIHARD2	0	27.47	14.13	4.44	8.9	1.02	26.59	14.14	4.5	7.95	1.01
DIHARD3 full	0	20.49	10.13	3.96	6.4	0.6	20.28	10.15	3.99	6.15	0.6
DipCo	0.25	56.19	50.77	0.72	4.69	0.8	49.22	40.66	1.05	7.51	2
Mixer6	0.25	38.09	28.14	8.66	1.29	0.13	35.6	21.74	12.43	1.44	0.04
MSDWild	0.25	18.81	5.99	2.55	10.28	1.14	16.86	5.81	2.75	8.29	1.05
RAMC	0	18.33	0.41	12.98	4.94	0.05	18.19	0.39	13.15	4.65	0
VoxConverse	0.25	6.69	1.6	2.02	3.08	1.11	6.12	1.6	2.02	2.51	1.12

Table 3.9 presents the final results when applying the whole pipeline to each of the datasets. The mean speaker counting error (MSCE) is defined as  $MSCE = \frac{1}{R} \sum_{r=1}^{R} |C_r - \hat{C}_r|$ , where  $C_r$  and  $\hat{C}_r$  are the actual and estimated number of speakers in recording r, and R is the total number of recordings in the test set.

As expected, the 16 kHz model has an edge over the 8 kHz one in most cases in terms of DER, given that most corpora are originally recorded with that sampling rate. The clear exception is Callhome comprising telephone conversations on 8 kHz for which the wide-band model has almost twice the error. The other exception is AISHELL-4 for which there is some advantage when using the 8 kHz model. At the same time, the MSCE presents an opposite trend, with the 8 kHz model usually performing a bit better. In any case, the MSCE is in general quite low for both models in most datasets.

The final errors can also be partly traced to the performance of the VAD and OSD modules. For corpora with very high percentages of overlapped speech such as CHiME6 and DipCo, we can see that the DERs are the highest among all sets. For these corpora, the VAD errors are high showing that the dinner-party scenarios are challenging even for a relatively simple task. These are two of the sets that present far-field conditions. Besides them, AliMeeting far and AMI array share the same condition and their errors are among the highest. Finally, Mixer6 presents very high DER but this is mainly due to the bad performance in terms of OSD for this set.

#### 3.4 Strengths of VBx

One aspect is that the method relies on x-vectors as features for performing clustering. Current state-of-the-art systems for speaker verification rely on this type of features and large efforts are being made by the community to optimize and improve their quality. VBx ingests current state-of-the-art x-vectors but it can also use any new version of such embeddings, benefiting from any improvements that they can bring.

Another aspect is that the speaker models are derived from a PLDA model trained with large amounts of x-vectors from thousands of speakers which makes the speaker models in VBx very robust.

As shown in the experiments, the model can learn the number of speakers in the recording by itself and with great accuracy. Other approaches fail on this or need to use a different sub-module to estimate the number of speakers while the Bayesian nature of VBx can handle this elegantly. Furthermore, the model is principled as it relies on a probabilistic modeling of the diarization task. This is in contrast to other approaches that rely heavily on ad-hoc tuning of thresholds.

Moreover, the model itself does not require large amounts of data with diarization annotations to perform well. This contrasts NN-based approaches, which are usually very data-hungry and more computationally expensive.

Finally, the main advantage of a cascaded model is that it is relatively easy to replace sub-modules. For example, one can focus on improving the VAD module with little effect on other parts of the system but impact in the final performance.

#### 3.5 Weaknesses of VBx

One of the problems is that a system that makes use of VBx for clustering has also other modules to deal with VAD, OSD and potentially yet other modules such as enhancement or resegmentation. This makes running such a system somewhat cumbersome as several sub-systems have to be run sequentially. A more elegant approach would be a single model that can take the signal as the input and produce directly the diarization output. Although some works have proposed the idea of having a silence state in the HMM, in our case, we would need to ensure that the x-vector extractor and PLDA can model silence. This is normally not done for speaker verification and it would potentially require special treatment for silence in the extractor. Furthermore, the VAD performance can be definitely better with an NN-based model trained specifically for the task.

Since the x-vector extractor model is trained for speaker verification, the training samples are usually longer than the 1.5 s used for diarization. Moreover, this length for the segments is already quite long and it is likely that speech from more than one speaker is included in that window, especially for colloquial conversations with short turns. In order to deal with this, an extractor would need to be trained with shorter segments (which are by nature less reliable) to be able to deal better with short segments.

Related to this, whenever there is overlapped speech, the embedding is extracted necessarily with speech from more than one speaker. However, the x-vector extractor is trained with single-speaker speech and it is possible that x-vectors do not model overlapped speech well. In this direction, there have been recent efforts [Jung et al., 2023] to train extractors with augmentations suited for diarization which have shown promising results by incorporating more than one speaker in the segments.

Using an x-vector extractor that can handle overlaps is only half of the solution as modifications in the HMM would be required to handle such overlaps. This aspect is related to one clear weakness of the approach: the presented model cannot deal with overlapped speech; yet, most of the errors correspond currently to overlap segments. Nevertheless, a recent extension [Delcroix et al., 2023] has made use of VBx to reconcile decisions between short segments made by an end-to-end model that handles overlap, showing that it might be possible to adapt the approach adequately.

### 3.6 Final remarks

This chapter described the standard cascaded framework for diarization models. A brief historical overview of each sub-module was presented and special emphasis was put on the Bayesian hidden Markov model scheme for clustering, commenting on the initial models that inspired the current version and describing its formulation in detail. Making use of x-vectors as input, VBx was evaluated on standard tasks with data from different domains.

Finally, the strengths and weaknesses of the model were discussed. In spite of its problems, the ease of use of VBx recipe<sup>13</sup> and strong results allowed it to be used as the baseline in numerous publications and even in some of the most recent challenges [Yu et al., 2022a, Grauman et al., 2022].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/VBx

## Chapter 4

# End-to-end diarization systems

The main weakness of cascaded methods for diarization is their inherent multi-modular nature. Not only the inference can be cumbersome and potentially slow but also each subsystem is trained independently with different objectives. Therefore, having a single model to handle the whole problem is desirable.

In this chapter, we discuss the best-performing discriminatively trained diarization systems with special emphasis on end-to-end neural diarization (EEND), for being the most promising framework lately. Then, given the need of these models for large amounts of annotated training data, we discuss an alternative approach to create "simulated conversations" (in contrast to the original "simulated mixtures") and show its advantages. Finally, we present DiaPer, a model that builds on the EEND framework.

#### 4.1 Neural networks for diarization

Neural networks have been used in the context of diarization for some time. Given the most common diarization pipeline described in Figure 3.1, the first applications of NN focused on individual steps. We have covered examples for pre-processing, VAD, segmentation and overlap detection in section 3.1. In this section, we cover specific works for speaker embeddings extraction and decoding of speaker activities which span the most recent efforts in these directions. The lists in Sections 4.1.1 and 4.1.2 do not pretend to be exhaustive<sup>1</sup> but rather cover the works that have shown remarkable results at their time or that presented a new, and promising, line of research. In particular, Section 4.1.2 covers target speaker voice activity detection (TS-VAD) which processes the recordings in an end-to-end fashion but relies on a previously trained speaker embedding extractor and an initial diarization output given by another model.

Although end-to-end diarization models have only been developed in the last few years, they have attracted a broad interest. Section 4.1.3 covers the main works in the end-to-end neural diarization framework. EEND has been the first fully end-to-end model capable of dealing with the permutation problem intrinsic to speaker diarization and has paved the road for most of the recent developments in this field.

While both EEND and TS-VAD have their advantages, they also struggle to handle certain scenarios. Different extensions have been proposed and some of them can be categorized as "two-stage" models where the first stage usually performs EEND on short

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>An extensive and frequently updated list of works can be found in https://github.com/DongKeon/ Awesome-Speaker-Diarization

segments of the recording and the second stage can be a standard clustering method (such as AHC or spectral clustering) or a neural-based clustering approach. We discuss them in Section 4.1.4.

#### 4.1.1 Neural networks for speaker embeddings and affinity matrices

Since the advent of neural speaker embeddings (d-vectors [Variani et al., 2014] or x-vectors [Snyder et al., 2018]), we could say that all competitive diarization systems nowadays make use of an NN. NN-based embeddings capture speaker information that allows for better segment representations which lead to better performance. However, many approaches have focused on modifying the speaker representations or the affinity matrix (obtained by comparing every embedding against each other). These are, in turn, used by a clustering method for the purpose of diarization using different techniques:

- [Yella et al., 2014] is one of the first works in this direction where an NN is trained to discriminate speakers. Then, the output of an intermediate layer ('bottleneck') is used as features in an HMM-GMM system to perform clustering. The main novelty in this work was the combination of acoustic features with discriminatively trained representations in the context of a diarization system.
- [Garcia-Romero et al., 2017] proposed using DNN-based embeddings in combination with AHC to produce diarization outputs. Even though the term "x-vector" was not coined yet, the embeddings were obtained with the same strategy so this is the first work to have performed clustering of x-vectors for diarization. Analogously, [Wang et al., 2018] present the first application of d-vectors for diarization by clustering them with spectral clustering.
- [Lin et al., 2019] proposed to produce the affinity matrix using a BLSTM. This is accomplished by feeding the BLSTM with sequences where the *i*<sup>th</sup> frame is concatenated to each frame in the original sequence. The network is trained to learn the similarity between frame *i* and each other frame using binary cross-entropy (BCE) with "same" versus "different" classes. The approach showed excellent results at the time and, in spite of the limitations of LSTMs with long sequences, the BLSTM-based affinity matrix performed significantly better than a PLDA-based one on long utterances. A similar idea is presented in [Lin et al., 2020a], where self-attention is used to produce the similarity matrix in the same fashion as with the BLSTM and leads to better results.
- [Wang et al., 2020] used graph neural networks (GNN) to refine the input embeddings. The GNNs (which work as an encoder) are trained so that the affinity matrix of the modified embeddings resembles the ground truth adjacency matrix, using a binary classification loss for linkage prediction for all pairs of segments inside each session. When using spectral clustering with the processed embeddings, they manage to obtain significant improvements over the original representations. This shows the potential for transforming embeddings normally trained for speaker recognition towards diarization-specific applications. [Wang et al., 2023c] also utilize GNNs but instead of refining the embeddings in a global fashion, they refine clusters of embeddings (denoted by their corresponding subgraphs) one at a time. Then, the refined subgraphs are merged and the new whole graph is partitioned to obtain speaker clusters. Unlike [Wang et al., 2020], the clustering is performed in the graph space and it

is shown to perform considerably better than other clustering methods such as AHC or spectral clustering.

- Another line of works [Singh and Ganapathy, 2020, Singh and Ganapathy, 2021b, Singh and Ganapathy, 2021a] also explores refinement of the affinity matrix and graphbased clustering. In [Singh and Ganapathy, 2020], a triplet loss scheme is used to train a DNN that refines the cosine similarity-based affinity matrix for AHC. In [Singh and Ganapathy, 2021b], path integral clustering (a graph-structural agglomerative clustering algorithm) is used to define the clusters resulting in better performance than AHC. In [Singh and Ganapathy, 2021a] the similarities are given by a PLDA model whose parameters are updated as part of the training process to improve the performance with respect to cosine similarity.
- [Kwon et al., 2021] explore two techniques: dimensionality reduction of embeddings (by means of training an auto-encoder) and iterative affinity matrix refinement (by means of an attention-based scheme), in the context of AHC and spectral clustering. The dimensionality reduction does not affect spectral clustering but it improves the performance with AHC while the opposite happens for the affinity matrix refinement. This shows that the local hierarchies built with AHC can often be given by irrelevant information and transforming the embeddings, even if unsupervisedly, can alleviate this issue. Alternately, spectral clustering is highly affected by noises in the affinity matrix and several refinement operations [Wang et al., 2018] are usually applied to improve the quality of the matrix.
- One of the limitations when clustering embeddings lies in the need for long enough segments to extract good representations but short enough segments to model short speaker turns. To address this, one line of research has combined embeddings extracted with different window sizes and shifts. In [Park et al., 2021], the affinity matrices of three different configurations are processed with an NN and the resulting matrix is used for spectral clustering. In [Kwon et al., 2022], embeddings from different resolutions are paired with vectors that denote which scale they were extracted with (analogously to positional encoding in Transformer models) and they are processed with an attention mechanism to obtain similarities between the embeddings (through the inherent attention weights). The resulting affinity matrix is finally used for clustering with spectral clustering.
- [Jung et al., 2023] argue that speaker embedding extractors are normally trained with a speaker recognition application in mind where there is speech from a single speaker. In diarization, it is likely that embeddings will be extracted from speech corresponding to more than one speaker so they analyze augmentation schemes for training the extractor, where different levels of overlapped speech are introduced or where speaker changes occur. It is shown that training the embedding extractors using these augmentation strategies improves the performance of a clustering-based diarization system. Furthermore, they also present a strategy to create target and non-target trials (including speaker changes and overlap) that are better proxies to evaluate the performance of a speaker embedding extractor for the purpose of diarization (instead of speaker recognition, that is usually the target application when training embedding extractors). Given the importance that embedding extractors still have for diarization, this is a promising line of research that could potentially lead to extractors more tailored for diarization.

#### 4.1.2 Neural networks for decoding speaker activities

A different line of work to the ones described above has focused on replacing the standard clustering approach by an NN-based solution. In some cases, the assignment of speaker labels to the embeddings was treated as a sequence-to-sequence problem modeled with BLSTMs [Zhang et al., 2022] and with an encoder-decoder Transformer-based architecture [Li et al., 2021]. In this last case, while remarkable results were obtained in comparison with spectral clustering, using augmentation strategies is crucial to make this approach successful.

One particular model, named unbounded interleaved-state recurrent neural network [Zhang et al., 2019] handles segmentation, embedding extraction and clustering steps together. It works in an online manner and can deal with an unbounded number of speakers. Although they present remarkable results, their full recipe<sup>2</sup> is not shared as it relies on internal components of Google's infrastructure.

Some approaches have focused on clustering or diarization using NNs but from the perspective of source separation [Hershey et al., 2016, von Neumann et al., 2019]. Given that they focus on a different task which usually requires clean speech from each speaker, we do not discuss them further here.

Approaches focusing on clustering with an NN, just like any other clustering method for diarization, cannot deal naturally with overlapping segments. Another application of NN consists in decoding speaker activity probabilities for each speaker, eventually handling overlapped speech. TS-VAD follows this strategy and is described next.

#### Target speaker voice activity detection

Target speaker voice activity detection [Medennikov et al., 2020] was developed in the context of the CHiME-6 Challenge in 2020 and its performance was so remarkably better than any other system that they won the challenge by a large margin. This approach makes use of speaker embeddings (i-vectors) from each speaker as references to find where those speakers appear in the recording, thus the name. TS-VAD relies on an initial diarization output used to estimate one i-vector per speaker. Then, acoustic features processed with CNN layers and BLSTM projection layers are used to detect if there is voice activity for each of the speakers using the i-vectors as anchor speaker references, as shown in Figure 4.1. The outputs are per-speaker speech activity probabilities. However, they can benefit from post-processing too: [Medennikov et al., 2020] evaluate a few options such as tuning the detection threshold, applying a median filter, removing short pauses and Viterbi decoding using an HMM with a few states. Eventual re-estimation of the i-vectors is needed to improve the performance but the approach manages to perform very well, especially in scenarios with large amounts of overlapped speech such as CHiME-6. Nevertheless, one of the main drawbacks of this approach as originally proposed is that it requires a priori knowledge of the number of speakers.

TS-VAD was extended in [Wang et al., 2021b] to deal with an unknown number of speakers by the winning team of the Third DIHARD Challenge [Ryant et al., 2021] by adding (other, non-appearing in the conversation) or removing (least talkative) anchor speaker references. In [He et al., 2021], an upper bound on the number of speakers was used so that the model can drop some of the representations. Adaptive neural speaker diarization using memory-aware multi-speaker embedding [He et al., 2023] presents an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://github.com/google/uis-rnn



Figure 4.1: Diagram of the original target speaker voice activity detection approach.

approach inspired by TS-VAD which can handle an undefined number of speakers. It is based on speaker templates encoded in a memory module and an attention mechanism using the frames of individual speakers according to the initial diarization. The resulting speaker embeddings for each of the observed speakers are further reinforced to be similar to i-vectors, x-vectors, or the concatenation of both. This model is iteratively applied by fine-tuning it on simulated mixtures obtained from the single-speaker segments according to the initial diarization output, thus providing extra gains.

The modifications proposed by [Cheng et al., 2023a, Cheng et al., 2023b] can handle even more speakers (although always capped by some pre-defined maximum). The main changes consist in using NN-based representations instead of i-vectors. [Cheng et al., 2023b] use Conformer [Gulati et al., 2020] instead of only CNN to produce per-frame representations. Furthermore, the BLSTM projection is replaced by an attention-based decoder. In [Wang et al., 2022], the channels are processed with cross-channel attention instead of CNN with attention. A recent extension [Wu et al., 2023] uses cross-channel attention in the context of CHiME-7 [Cornell et al., 2023] and obtains remarkable results. They also perform semisupervised training of the model using pseudo-labels generated for unlabeled in-domain data to improve further.

In [Cheng et al., 2023b], the speaker embeddings are obtained with a ResNet-based architecture incorporated into the whole model and the speaker activity module (originally

a BLSTM) is replaced by an attention-based module which not only considers across-time but also across-speaker context.

A model similar to TS-VAD is presented in [Du et al., 2021, Du et al., 2022] where the speaker activities returned by the model are not treated independently but a power set encoding is used to produce overlap-aware outputs.

#### 4.1.3 End-to-end neural diarization

#### EEND and SA-EEND to handle a fixed number of speakers

End-to-end neural diarization was originally proposed in [Fujita et al., 2019a] as a single neural-based system that can handle diarization without the need for other modules. The diarization problem is defined as a per-speaker-per-time-frame binary classification problem. Given a sequence of observations (features)  $\mathbf{X} \in \mathbb{R}^{T \times F}$  where T denotes the sequence length and F the feature dimensionality, and labels  $\mathbf{Y} \in \{0, 1\}^{T \times S}$  where  $y_{t,s} = 1$  if speaker s is active at time t and 0 otherwise; the most probable labels  $\mathbf{\bar{Y}}$  are estimated among all possible labels as

$$\bar{\mathbf{Y}} = \underset{\mathbf{Y} \in \mathcal{Y}}{\arg \max} P(\mathbf{Y}|\mathbf{X})$$
(4.1)

using the following factorization:

$$P(\mathbf{Y}|\mathbf{X}) = \prod_{t}^{T} \prod_{s}^{S} P(y_{t,s}|\mathbf{X}).$$
(4.2)

This formulation handles silence and overlaps between speakers naturally since silence at time t corresponds to the case where  $y_{t,s} = 0 \ \forall s \in S$  while overlap happens at time t if  $y_{t,s_1} = 1$  and  $y_{t,s_2} = 1$  with  $s_1 \neq s_2$ . The model predicts the posteriors  $P(y_{t,s}|\mathbf{X})$  and is trained to maximize the probability of the reference labels.

One of the main features of the EEND framework is the permutation-invariant training (PIT) loss borrowed from source separation [Yu et al., 2017] which allows to train the model to distinguish speakers without assigning specific identities. If  $\hat{\mathbf{y}}_t \in \{0,1\}^S$  are the posteriors estimated by the model for time t, the loss is defined as

$$\mathcal{L}_d(\mathbf{Y}, \hat{\mathbf{Y}}) = \frac{1}{TS} \min_{\phi \in perm(S)} \sum_t^T BCE(\mathbf{y}_t^{\phi}, \hat{\mathbf{y}}_t), \qquad (4.3)$$

where  $\mathbf{y}_t^{\phi}$  is the  $\phi$ -th permutation of the ground truth speaker labels at time t and BCE denotes the binary cross entropy

$$BCE(\mathbf{y}_t, \hat{\mathbf{y}}_t) = \sum_{s}^{S} -y_{t,s} \log \hat{y}_{t,s} - (1 - y_{t,s}) \log(1 - \hat{y}_{t,s}).$$
(4.4)

Note that the permutation of speaker labels is the same for all frames.

Together with this loss, an auxiliary deep clustering loss [Hershey et al., 2016] was proposed but not used in the following works for not showing improvements.

The first version of EEND consisted of two BLSTM layers followed by a linear layer with S outputs and a sigmoid function to produce the posteriors as shown in Figure 4.2a. This model was followed by the so-called SA-EEND [Fujita et al., 2019b] where the BLSTM layers were replaced by one linear layer and several multi-head self-attention blocks as shown

(a) EEND in its original version. The branch for the clustering loss is omitted.

(b) EEND with self-attention encoder blocks.



Figure 4.2: End-to-end neural diarization for a fixed number of speakers.

in Figure 4.2b. SA-EEND showed improvements over the BLSTM-based one. However, one strong limitation of these models was that they could only handle a fixed number of speakers (limited to 2 in the original publications) per recording.

#### SC-EEND and EEND-EDA to handle variable numbers of speakers

The following works focused on extending the EEND approaches to handle variable numbers of speakers per recording. Speaker-wise chain EEND (SC-EEND) [Fujita et al., 2020] presents an extension where, instead of assuming conditional independence (as in (4.2)), using the probabilistic chain rule, the posterior probability is expressed as

$$P(\mathbf{Y}|\mathbf{X}) = \prod_{s} P(\mathbf{y}_{s}|\mathbf{y}_{1},\dots,\mathbf{y}_{s-1},\mathbf{X}).$$
(4.5)

The speech activities of the speakers are sequentially decoded using also the activities of previously estimated speakers. A neural network based on LSTMs outputs the activities of one speaker at a time until the current speaker has no speech. When training this model, one issue arises since training with PIT implies that there is no particular order for decoding the speakers. However, SC-EEND decodes the activities of the current speaker given the activity of the previously-decoded one. To reduce the impact of errors during training, teacher-forcing is employed (i.e. the ground truth activities are given instead of the ones decoded by the model). After decoding the activities of a speaker, one could pair them with the reference labels that lead to the lowest error to know which reference speaker's activities to feed to the next step but this leads to bad performance. A better strategy consists in decoding all speakers activities one by one, then finding the optimal match with the reference labels (as usual when using PIT) and then utilizing teacher-forcing with the correct order of speakers. This method has been extended to perform multitasking with VAD and/or OSD [Takashima et al., 2021b].

Another alternative to handle variable numbers of speakers was almost simultaneously proposed and, given its superior performance, has made the speaker-wise chain decoding to fall into disuse. The alternative model, making use of encoder-decoder-based attractors, was named EEND-EDA [Horiguchi et al., 2020]. Following the SA-EEND approach, frame embeddings are obtained based on self-attention, but, instead of having fixed outputs for a limited number of speakers, the frame embeddings are passed through an encoder to produce a representation of the whole sequence which, in turn, is passed through a decoder to obtain one attractor per speaker, as shown in Figure 4.3. A unidirectional LSTM layer is used as encoder so that if  $(\mathbf{e}_t)_{t=1}^T$  is the sequence of frame embeddings,

$$\mathbf{h}_0, \mathbf{c}_0 = Encoder(\mathbf{e}_1, \dots, \mathbf{e}_T) \tag{4.6}$$

is the representation of the whole sequence given by the last hidden state  $\mathbf{h}_0 \in \mathbb{R}^D$  and last cell state  $\mathbf{c}_0 \in \mathbb{R}^D$  of the LSTM where D is the dimension of frame embeddings and attractors. Note that the output of the LSTM is not used in any way in the encoder. Furthermore, in practice, it has been observed that randomly shuffling the input of the encoder provides better results. This clearly goes against the intrinsic ability of LSTMs to model time sequences and shows their inability to handle long sequences.

The LSTM decoder is used to produce one speaker representation per speaker seen in the sequence. These representations, called attractors,  $\mathbf{a}_s \in \mathbb{R}^D$  are iteratively decoded one at a time as follows

$$\mathbf{h}_s, \mathbf{c}_s, \mathbf{a}_s = Decoder(\mathbf{h}_{s-1}, \mathbf{c}_{s-1}, \mathbf{0}), \tag{4.7}$$

where  $\mathbf{0} \in \mathbb{R}^D$  is a zero vector passed as input to the decoder LSTM. The initial hidden and cell states ( $\mathbf{h}_0$  and  $\mathbf{c}_0$ ) correspond to those given by the encoder.

This approach allows for decoding any number of attractors. If one knows how many speakers appear in the sequence, one can decode that number of attractors; however, in a less restricted scenario, the model needs to know which attractors to consider as valid for the diarization output. To determine so, an attractor existence probability is obtained for attractor s as

$$p_s = \sigma(\mathbf{w}^\top \mathbf{a}_s + \mathbf{b}), \tag{4.8}$$

where **w** and **b** are trainable weights and bias of a fully-connected layer and  $\sigma$  is the logistic sigmoid function.

Given that the attractors are decoded in order, only the first S will be deemed valid. During training, reference labels for the attractor existence  $l_s$  are defined as

$$l_s = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } s \le S \\ 0 & \text{S+1} \end{cases},\tag{4.9}$$

where S is the reference number of speakers in the sequence.

The parameters used to classify the attractors as valid or invalid are updated by means of the attractor existence loss

$$\mathcal{L}_a(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{l}) = BCE(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{l}), \tag{4.10}$$

where  $\mathbf{p} = [p_1, \ldots, p_{S+1}]$  and  $\mathbf{l} = [l_1, \ldots, l_{S+1}]$  are the predicted posterior attractor existence probabilities and references, and BCE is the binary cross entropy. The model is, therefore, trained to mark as valid the first S attractors and the  $(S+1)^{th}$  as invalid.



Figure 4.3: End-to-end neural diarization with encoder-decoder attractors (to handle a flexible number of speakers).

During inference, the estimated number of speakers  $\hat{S}$  is obtained as

$$\hat{S} = \max\{s | s \in \mathbb{Z}_0^+, \ p_s \ge \tau\},\tag{4.11}$$

where  $\tau$  is a given threshold, e.g. 0.5.

Having obtained attractors for all speakers  $\mathbf{A} = [\mathbf{a}_1, \dots, \mathbf{a}_S] \in \mathbb{R}^{D \times S}$ , and given the frame embeddings for the whole sequence  $\mathbf{E} = [\mathbf{e}_1, \dots, \mathbf{e}_T] \in \mathbb{R}^{D \times T}$ , the per-frame perspeaker activity posterior probabilities are obtained as

$$\hat{y}_{t,s} = \sigma(\mathbf{e}_t^\top \mathbf{a}_s). \tag{4.12}$$

The model is trained using the following combined loss

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_d + \alpha \mathcal{L}_a, \tag{4.13}$$

with  $\alpha$  usually set to 1. While the original implementation for a fixed number of speakers would compute the loss for all permutations of reference and estimated speakers, this approach does not scale for larger numbers of speakers. Faster implementations have been explored based on the optimal solution of a bipartite graph [Lin et al., 2020b, Landini et al., 2023a], usually solved with the so-called Hungarian algorithm.

#### EEND extensions

Several extensions have been proposed based on the EEND framework. Some works have focused on extensions to the online scenario: limiting the context of the encoder in EEND-EDA [Han et al., 2021], using a speaker-tracing buffer for a fixed number of speakers [Xue

et al., 2021b] and a flexible number of speakers [Xue et al., 2021a]. Others have used EEND in combination with the standard cascaded framework: [Horiguchi et al., 2021a] used EEND as a post-processing of a clustering-based method to find the overlaps between each pair of speakers. An extension to make use of multiple microphones is presented in [Horiguchi et al., 2022b] exploring a replacement of the self-attention layers by spatio-temporal encoders (where self-attention is applied across channels and across frames sequentially) or the alternative co-attention encoders (where across frame self-attention is applied on each channel independently and then multi-head attention using information of all channels is used to condense the information). In [Horiguchi et al., 2023], the co-attention alternative is further used in a knowledge distillation scheme [Hinton et al., 2014] so a single-channel model and a multi-channel model are used iteratively as student and teacher models to improve their performances.

Conformer [Gulati et al., 2020] was used to replace the self-attention layers of SA-EEND in [Liu et al., 2021] and of EEND-EDA in [Leung and Samarakoon, 2021b]. Both works have also replaced the feature subsampling used on the input by convolutional subsampling and [Leung and Samarakoon, 2021b] introduced a convolutional upsampling to return more fine-grained outputs. Given the quadratic complexity of attention on the sequence length, a linear approximation was evaluated in the context of EEND-EDA in [Izquierdo del Alamo et al., 2022].

Given the residual connections in between the self-attention layers in EEND, some works have explored auxiliary losses calculated after each of the layers in the context of SA-EEND [Yu et al., 2022b] and in the context of EEND-EDA [Fujita et al., 2023] but both in the 2-speaker scenario.

Using the same framework for training, based on BCE and permutation invariant loss, there have been other works that train end-to-end models such as [Maiti et al., 2021] where time-delay convolutional blocks and self-attention layers with a linear attention approximation are combined to provide global context. Two extra losses are explored: one that reinforces diarization in a local context and another that reinforces speaker recognition capabilities in the embeddings. Multi-tasking reinforcing speaker recognition has also been explored in other works [Rybicka et al., 2022, Pan et al., 2022]. EEND has also been aided by features extracted from an ASR model in [Khare et al., 2022] and in a unified framework to perform diarization and separation in [Maiti et al., 2023].

One of the drawbacks of end-to-end models is the need for a vast amount of data annotated for diarization purposes. Some works [Takashima et al., 2021a, Coria et al., 2023] have focused on this problem from the perspective of creating pseudo-labels on non-annotated data and iteratively re-train a seed model on those data. In [Cord-Landwehr et al., 2023], a pre-trained speaker recognition model is used in the EEND framework to take advantage of the speaker ID labels. First, a student model (same architecture as the pre-trained teacher model) is trained so that per-frame representations resemble those of the teacher obtained over a longer speech segment. The goal is that the student produces speaker embeddings more frequently (and with finer granularity) than the pre-trained speaker embedding extractor. Then, these speaker embeddings with higher resolution are used as input for EEND, replacing the filterbank features.

One of the limitations of EEND-EDA is the LSTM-based encoder-decoder mechanism. In order to obtain better results, the inputs of the LSTM encoder are randomly shuffled, clearly removing the temporal information. [Pan et al., 2022] proposed an alternative where the input of the LSTM encoder is not shuffled and the LSTM decoder incorporates an attention mechanism over the frame embeddings returned by the frame encoder. Instead of using zero vectors as input for the decoder, the input is obtained as a weighted sum of the frame encoder outputs, thus providing the decoder with better cues. A similar idea is explored in [Broughton and Samarakoon, 2023] where the decoder is fed with summary representations calculated together with the embeddings produced by the conformer-based frame encoder.



module is used only as initialization.

(b) Detailed diagram of the backend block.

Figure 4.4: Model diagram for obtaining non-autoregressive attention-based attractors as presented in [Rybicka et al., 2022]. Figure adopted from [Rybicka et al., 2022].

**Non-autoregressive attractor estimation** Given the limitations of the LSTM-based encoder and decoder to obtain attractors, some works have explored non-autoregressive approaches for obtaining attractors with attention-based schemes. In this subsection, we cover in more detail previous works in this line since they are more relevant to our model, presented in Section 4.3.

The first of these works [Rybicka et al., 2022], replaced the LSTM-based encoder-decoder by two layers of cross-attention decoder as shown in Figure 4.4. In this work, initial attractors are estimated using k-means on the frame embeddings to cluster them to the number of speakers in the recording (e.g. 2). These initial attractors are then iteratively transformed using multi-head cross-attention blocks where the frame embeddings serve as keys and values and the attractors serve as queries. The queries of the first block are obtained as the average of frame embeddings weighted by predicted posterior activities and the following blocks simply refine them attending to the frame embeddings. It is shown that this method can improve by performing a few refinement iterations (i.e. by predicting activities in one iteration and using them to initialize the queries in the next iteration).



Figure 4.5: Model diagram for attention-based target-speaker attractors as presented in [Chen et al., 2023b]. Note that the figure states that the segment is selected randomly but other options are possible. Figure adopted from [Chen et al., 2023b].

In [Fujita et al., 2023], the LSTM-based encoder-decoder is also replaced by a crossattention decoder; however, in this case, the set of initial queries (which are transformed into attractors) is not defined by the output of the model but they are learnable parameters.

[Chen et al., 2023b] combine the former approaches two as shown in Figure 4.5. The LSTM-based encoder-decoder is also replaced by layers of cross-attention decoder and three of the initial queries are fixed (but learned during training): they represent "silence", "single speaker" and "overlap" while the other S queries represent each of the speakers in the recording. In the first pass, only the fixed queries are used and then the speaker queries are estimated iteratively one at a time from the frame embeddings. Different strategies are considered for defining the speaker queries from frames labeled as "single speaker": selecting the first segment of speech, selecting the segment randomly, and using spectral clustering on the frame embeddings and picking a segment of the majoritarian cluster. Of these, spectral clustering provides the best results. The weighted average of the selected frames is computed with weights given by the predicted posterior activities to produce the new initial speaker query. The new set of queries is refined through a few cross-attention layers in order to produce the final attractors. These attractors are used to obtain the speech activity posteriors similar to EEND-EDA. This procedure is repeated for each speaker, one at a time until all "single speaker" segments are consumed by some attractor. It should be noted that the inference procedure with this method is more complicated than in the original EEND-EDA due to the iterative procedure to estimate first silence, single speaker and overlap attractors and then each of the speakers iteratively.

#### 4.1.4 Two-stage models

EEND models usually have problems handling long recordings or recordings with many speakers. Two-stage models allow for taking advantage of the good performance of EEND to handle silence and overlaps in short segments by using it as first stage. Then, the second stage model can handle more speakers and joins the information from short segments of a potentially very long recording. Three lines of work can be distinguished regarding the second stage method and they are described next.

#### Neural- and clustering-based models

This line combines end-to-end models (used on chunks of a few seconds each) and clustering (to find the inter-chunk correspondence between speakers). These approaches have the advantage of dealing with overlapped speech and have good granularity in the decisions (given by the end-to-end part). Furthermore, they can deal with long recordings as well as be able to better estimate the number of speakers (given by the clustering part).

It was in [Kinoshita et al., 2021b, Kinoshita et al., 2021a] where EEND was run for the first time in chunks to produce diarization outputs and then the decisions reconciled by clustering in a method coined EEND+vector clustering (EEND-VC). Together with the speech activities, speaker representations for each of the speakers in the chunk were produced by means of a weighted average of frame-level embeddings using the speech activities as weights. Then, these speaker representations were used to find the inter-chunk agreement between speaker labels, imposing the restriction that different labels in a given chunk are not merged. Furthermore, speaker representations were encouraged to have small intra-speaker and large inter-speaker distances. Even though the EEND part is limited in terms of the number of speakers it can handle, if the chunks are short enough, the number of speakers is in most cases bounded and the performance is not largely affected. The clustering step was performed with constrained k-means or AHC in [Kinoshita et al., 2021b, Kinoshita et al., 2021a] respectively.

An extension was proposed in [Kinoshita et al., 2022a] where the clustering was performed with an infinite Gaussian mixture model where the parameters were estimated with variational Bayes inference, allowing for better performance on recordings with higher numbers of speakers. In [Kinoshita et al., 2022b], the focus was on how to better split recordings. They detected the beginnings of utterances rather than arbitrarily separating the recording into chunks and used Graph-PIT [von Neumann et al., 2021] to handle overlapping segments. More recently in [Delcroix et al., 2023], the VBx framework was used for clustering where the HMM states did not only consider one speaker but all possible pairs of speakers, in order to handle overlaps given by the EEND part of the system.

EEND+clustering was explored for the online scenario in [Coria et al., 2021]. The most recent recipe of the pyannote toolkit [Bredin, 2022] is also based on this framework. EEND is applied on 5 s chunks (where, in practice, more than three speakers almost never appear) but at a resolution of 0.016 s, instead of the usual 0.1 s used in EEND systems, thus allowing for more accurate time boundaries. Using single-speaker audio (given by the diarization output in the chunk) one speaker embedding per speaker is extracted using ECAPA-TDNN [Desplanques et al., 2020]. The speaker embeddings of different chunks are clustered by means of AHC and the local diarization decisions are combined to provide whole-utterance diarization annotations.

The EEND framework was utilized in both stages in [Horiguchi et al., 2021b] where a variant of EEND-EDA was used in a global and a local context. In this model, EEND-EDA was first run on 5 s chunks to produce diarization outputs as well as the corresponding attractors. Then, to find the inter-chunk agreement between the local attractors, they were passed through a transformer decoder where they functioned as queries and the frame embeddings were keys and values. This aimed to convert all local attractors into global attractors which were then clustered by means of spectral clustering with a k-means variant that accounted for constraints. An online version of this approach was presented in [Horiguchi et al., 2022c].

#### Neural- and TS-VAD-based models

[Wang and Li, 2022] presented an architecture where a ResNet-based model was pre-trained for speaker recognition and used to produce per-frame features consumed by both EEND and TS-VAD. The EEND part of the model was used to produce the diarization initialization normally required by TS-VAD. Using the activities returned by the EEND module as weights, the per-frame embeddings were weight-averaged to define the speaker embeddings needed by TS-VAD.

One of the most successful approaches up to date in this line was presented in [Wang et al., 2023d]. The first stage consists of EEND-EDA with the addition of an LSTM after the dot-product between frame embeddings and attractors to make use of contextual information of the speakers activities at the frame level. Instead of treating each speaker independently, as usually done in EEND, they use power set encoding (PSE) labels to model the output. PSE reinforces the dependencies between speakers by modeling up to three simultaneous (overlapping) speakers. Given the diarization output provided by the first stage, x-vectors are extracted with a pre-trained ResNet-based model. These x-vectors (one per speaker) are obtained using the frames where the speaker was active according to the first stage. The x-vectors, functioning as speaker embeddings are in turn compared with per-frame embeddings of high resolution to produce the final outputs. Unlike in TS-VAD, the comparison between frame embeddings and speaker profiles is not done with BLSTMs. Instead, they utilize two options to obtain scores for each speaker and each frame. The first option is to use the concatenated speaker and frame embeddings transformed with feedforward layers independently of each other. In the second option, the speaker embedding is concatenated to all frame embeddings and the sequence of extended frames is transformed with self-attention layers to provide context-dependent activities for the given speaker. The similarity scores given by these two subsystems for all frames and speakers are then processed with an LSTM to deal with context and produce the final PSE classes.

#### 4.1.5 Other

Some models do not fall into the categories above but rather present a combination of them or an alternative approach.

In [Wang et al., 2023a], a model that combines ideas from EEND-EDA and TS-VAD was presented. The dot-product that usually compares frame embeddings and attractors in EEND-EDA was replaced by an approach similar to TS-VAD. Frame embeddings and attractors were stacked and run through the speaker activity detection module. Originally BLSTM-based in [Medennikov et al., 2020], the speaker activity module was replaced (similarly to [Cheng et al., 2023b]) by a transformer-based architecture and enhanced by considering joint-speaker-detection rather than treating each speaker independently.

DIVE [Zeghidour et al., 2021] presented an end-to-end approach that iteratively finds the speakers in a recording, similarly to [Fujita et al., 2020]. In [Fujita et al., 2020], each speaker activity is obtained with an LSTM-based decoder and the previous speakers' activities are given to the next LSTM pass. Given the limitations of LSTMs to model long sequences, DIVE (independently) classifies each frame into one of four classes: "single novel speaker is active", "single already selected speaker is active", "overlapped speech" or "silence". This approach decodes activities for each speaker one at a time iteratively. The classifier consists of linear layers followed by nonlinearities and it receives as input the frame embedding, the speaker vector corresponding to the current speaker and a representation for each of the previously selected speakers. Unlike LSTMs, this approach allows for better handling of long sequences. Results for two speaker conversations are remarkable but no analysis has been presented for more speakers.

Another type of models are those focused on speaker-attributed ASR. While these works do not directly tackle the task of speaker diarization, they are closely related.

- Serialized output training (SOT) [Kanda et al., 2020b] models multi-speaker ASR. Speech tokens (i.e. words or sub-words) of different speakers are sorted by time-stamp and "speaker-change" tokens are introduced in between to denote that the tokens correspond to different speakers. Given the serialized ASR labels including the new "speaker-change" token, an end-to-end ASR model is trained as usual. This way, each word can be assigned a speaker label, providing word-level diarization. Several works [Kanda et al., 2020a, Kanda et al., 2021, Kanda et al., 2022] have extended this approach using a speaker encoder and a decoder to produce speaker embeddings associated to the tokens which are clustered to produce token-level diarization.
- Turn-to-diarize [Xia et al., 2022] presents a similar idea where an ASR model is trained to also predict "speaker-change" tokens. Given the timestamps of these change tokens, a single d-vector is extracted for each of the segments. Spectral clustering is

then used to assign speaker labels to each of the segments. Unlike the SOT works, providing timestamps implies that this model effectively produces diarization outputs as previously described methods.

A specific category of its own is formed by the models in the SUPERB benchmark [Yang et al., 2021]. Given the advent of self-supervisedly trained models for generating speech representations, such as wav2vec 2.0 [Baevski et al., 2020], HuBERT [Hsu et al., 2021] or WavLM [Chen et al., 2022a], SUPERB presents a standard framework for comparison. Among the many speech-related tasks, speaker diarization is included. SUPERB focuses on the 2-speaker scenario and the model is a simple single LSTM layer. It should be noted that in this framework, the self-supervised model is normally frozen and only a rather simple task-specific model is trained.

Although many works on speech-related tasks have used models like wav2vec 2.0 or HuBERT as feature extractors (without following the SUPERB framework), this path has not been widely explored for diarization. The only work in this direction is based on WavLM [Chen et al., 2022a], where the representations are processed with EEND-VC to produce remarkable results. On diarization-related tasks, in [Kunešová and Zajíc, 2023], simple classifiers are trained using the features from wav2vec 2.0 for speaker change detection, voice activity detection and overlapped speech detection.

#### 4.1.6 Summary

In the last few years, a large bulk of work in the diarization field has focused on end-to-end models, mainly under the EEND (fully end-to-end systems) TS-VAD (non-fully end-to-end systems) frameworks. The latter leverages speaker embedding extractors, deeply studied in the context of speaker recognition and even partially for diarization. However, their nature partly resembles modular systems and brings back their disadvantages such as having to run multiple modules.

EEND systems, on the other hand, propose a single system for the task but they struggle to find the correct number of speakers when there are many of them, and face problems with long recordings. Furthermore, they require large amounts of training data, which has to be generated artificially, and do not perform as well on wide-band data as they do on telephone conversations. Thus, good quality training data plays a major role in the performance of these systems. Nevertheless, the research in this area has been limited. Section 4.2 focuses on this aspect of EEND models.

With the superior performance of attention-based models over recurrent ones in several speech tasks, it is surprising that EEND-EDA is still one of the most sought-after methods for handling multiple speakers in a fully end-to-end system. Recent works have focused on non-autoregressive variants for attractor calculation but are mostly limited to only two speakers or using iterative procedures. Furthermore, all of them follow a common pattern. Section 4.3 describes a model that expands on these ideas.

#### 4.2 Synthetic training data generation

End-to-end diarization models have shown remarkable improvements over cascaded ones in certain scenarios. However, one of the disadvantages of end-to-end models is that they require large amounts of training data while manually annotated data for diarization are notoriously lacking. When presenting the first version of EEND, [Fujita et al., 2019a] proposed a strategy for constructing simulated mixtures using telephone conversations from different collections and this strategy has been used (with both telephony data or read books) to create simulated mixtures by mixing speakers from different recordings. However, little analysis was presented about how the simulations were devised nor what impact the used data augmentations have. Furthermore, the mixtures do not resemble real conversations, especially when more than two speakers are included.

This chapter describes the original approach [Fujita et al., 2019a] for creating

training data to which, respecting the original terminology, we will refer to as "simulated mixtures" (SM). Next, we describe our approach, denoted "simulated conversations" (SC), which was specifically developed to better resemble real conversations. The proposal of SC represents one of the contributions of the thesis. Not only we showed improvements over SM but other works have adopted the approach and shown that it is an important step to reach state-of-the-art results.



Figure 4.6: Procedure for generating simulated mixtures.

#### 4.2.1 From simulated mixtures ...

Diarization training data consist of audio recordings and their corresponding speaker segment annotations. In order to create the mixtures with their corresponding annotations, [Fujita et al., 2019a] have used a VAD system run on each side of each conversation in a pool of thousands of telephone conversations. Assuming a single speaker per telephone channel, this means that speech segments and their speaker labels can be gathered from the pool to construct mixtures.

To create a mixture, as many speakers as wanted in the mixture  $(N_{spk})$  are sampled from the total pool. The pool is represented by  $\mathcal{U} = \{U_s\}_{s \in S}$  where  $U_s$  is an utterance of speaker s formed by all the segments denoted by the VAD that belong to that speaker in an original utterance<sup>3</sup>. For each selected speaker, one of their utterances is randomly sampled and  $N_u$  consecutive segments are selected randomly from it.  $N_u$  is a random number in between  $N_{umin}$  and  $N_{umax}$  (parameters of the mixture creation procedure). Pauses are introduced in between the selected segments of a speaker to simulate turns in a conversation, where the length of the pause is sampled from an exponential distribution

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ Note that [Fujita et al., 2019a] use "utterances" to refer to each of the segments of speech in a real conversation.

with parameter  $\beta$ . The resulting audio defines a channel for that speaker in the mixture. This process is repeated for all speakers in the mixture and finally, the channels are summed to obtain a single utterance. This procedure is enriched by adding background noises and reverberating each speaker channel with a room impulse response (RIR) randomly sampled from a set of predefined rooms. The whole procedure is depicted in Figure 4.6 and described in Algorithm 1. Note that since the channel of each speaker is generated independently, depending on the choice of  $\beta$ , the output can contain a high percentage of overlapped speech (usually higher than in real conversations). This is even more accentuated when the number of speakers is more than two, i.e. long overlaps between three or more speakers are not uncommon in the simulated mixtures while they rarely occur in real conversations.

Algorithm 1 Mixture simulation (from [Fuj	ita et al., 2019a])
Input: $S, N, I, R$	▷ Set of speakers, noises, RIRs, and SNRs
$\mathcal{U} = \{U_s\}_{s \in \mathcal{S}}$	$\triangleright$ Set of utterances
$N_{\rm spk}$	$\triangleright$ #speakers per mixture
$N_{ m umax},N_{ m umin}$	▷ Maximum and minimum #segments per speaker
eta	▷ Average interval
Output: y	▷ Mixture
Sample a set of $N_{\rm spk}$ speakers $\mathcal{S}'$ from $\mathcal{S}$	
$\mathcal{X} \leftarrow \emptyset$	$\triangleright$ Set of $N_{\rm spk}$ speakers' signals
for all $s \in \mathcal{S}'$ do	
$\mathbf{x}_s \leftarrow 0s$	$\triangleright$ Channel for speaker s
Sample <b>i</b> from $\mathcal{I}$	$\triangleright$ Select RIR
Sample $N_u$ from $\{N_{\text{umin}}, \ldots, N_{\text{umax}}\}$	
$G \leftarrow getNConsecutiveSegments(U_s, N_u)$	$\triangleright$ Randomly
$pos \leftarrow 0$	
for $u = 1$ to $N_u$ do	
Sample $d \sim \frac{1}{\beta} \exp\left(-\frac{d}{\beta}\right)$	$\triangleright$ Sample pause length
$pos \leftarrow pos + d$	
$\mathbf{x}_s.addFromPosition(pos, G[u] * \mathbf{i})$	$\triangleright$ Insert segment
$\mathcal{X}.\mathrm{add}(\mathbf{x}_s)$	
$L_{max} = \max_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X}}  \mathbf{x} $	
$\mathbf{y} \leftarrow \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{X}} \left( \mathbf{x} \oplus 0^{L_{max} -  \mathbf{x} }  ight)$	$\triangleright$ Fill with 0's to match lengths
Sample <b>n</b> from $\mathcal{N}$	▷ Background noise
Sample $r$ from $\mathcal{R}$	$\triangleright$ SNR
Determine a mixing scale $p$ from $r$ , $\mathbf{y}$ , and $\mathbf{n}$	
$\mathbf{n}' \leftarrow \text{repeat } \mathbf{n} \text{ until reaching the length of } \mathbf{y}$	
$\mathbf{y} \leftarrow \mathbf{y} + p \cdot \mathbf{n}'$	

... to simulated conversations

4.2.2

One of the main concerns with SM is that each speaker in the mixture is treated independently. Although the lengths of the pauses are randomly drawn from an exponential distribution, a sensible choice as it represents the inter-arrival times between independent events (the speech segments of the speaker), this does not resemble the dynamics of a real conversation where speakers do not take turns independently but collaboratively. For this reason, the proposed approach to create SC [Landini et al., 2022a] uses the following statistics on frequencies, lengths of pauses and overlaps from real conversations:

• Number of times that two consecutive segments are of the same speaker and separated by a pause and a histogram defining  $D_{=\text{speaker}}$ , the distribution of pause lengths between segments of the same speaker.

- Number of times ds that two consecutive segments are of different speakers and separated by a pause and a histogram defining  $D_{\neq \text{speaker}}$ , the distribution of pause lengths between segments of different speakers.
- Number of times ov that two consecutive segments overlap<sup>4</sup> and a histogram defining  $D_{\text{overlap}}$ , the distribution of overlap lengths.
- $p = \frac{ds}{ds+ov}$  is the probability of having a pause between two segments of different speakers. Note that the probability of having overlap between two segments of different speakers is 1 p.

Algorithm 2 Conversation simulation	
Input: $\mathcal{S}, \mathcal{N}, \mathcal{I}, \mathcal{R}$	$\triangleright$ Set of speakers, noises, RIRs, and SNRs
$\mathcal{U} = \{U_s\}_{s \in \mathcal{S}}$	$\triangleright$ Set of utterances
$N_{ m spk}$	$\triangleright$ #speakers per conversation
$p, D_{=\mathrm{speaker}}, D_{\neq \mathrm{speaker}}, D_{\mathrm{overlap}}$	$\triangleright$ Estimated distributions
$G \leftarrow \{\}$	$\triangleright$ Dictionary with list of segments per speaker
Sample a set of $N_{\rm spk}$ speakers $\mathcal{S}'$ from $\mathcal{S}$	
for all $s \in \mathcal{S}'$ do	
Sample $u$ from $U_s$ without replacement	
Sample <b>i</b> from $\mathcal{I}$	$\triangleright$ RIR
$u' \leftarrow u * \mathbf{i}$	$\triangleright$ Reverberate all segments in the utterance
$G[s] \leftarrow u'$	
$L \leftarrow \text{Randomly interleave } G \text{ into a single list}$	
$\mathbf{y}.addFromPosition(0, L[1])$	$\triangleright$ Start signal with first segment
$pos \leftarrow \operatorname{len}(L[1])$	
for $t = 2$ to $len(L)$ do	
if $\operatorname{Speaker}(L[t-1]) = \operatorname{Speaker}(L[t])$ then	
Sample $gap$ from $D_{=\text{speaker}}$	
else if Sample of $Bernoulli(p)$ is 1 then	
Sample $gap$ from $D_{\neq \text{speaker}}$	
else	
Sample $-gap$ from $D_{\text{overlap}}$	
$\mathbf{y}.addFromPosition(pos + gap, L[t])$	
$pos \leftarrow pos + gap + \operatorname{len}(L[t])$	
Sample <b>n</b> from $\mathcal{N}$	▷ Background noise
Sample $r$ from $\mathcal{R}$	$\triangleright$ SNR
Determine a mixing scale $p$ from $r$ , $\mathbf{y}$ , and $\mathbf{n}$	
$\mathbf{n}' \leftarrow \text{repeat } \mathbf{n} \text{ until reaching the length of } \mathbf{y}$	
$\mathbf{y} \leftarrow \mathbf{y} + p \cdot \mathbf{n}'$	

Algorithm 2 Conversation simulation

The proposed approach is described in Algorithm 2 and depicted in Figure 4.7. In this case, utterances are sampled without replacement. When creating a large set of simulated conversations, this ensures that an utterance is not used more than once<sup>5</sup>. Furthermore, for a given utterance all segments are used as part of a single SC. In contrast, in the original approach, only a subset of the segments from each original conversation is used at a time.

The segments (defined by the VAD labels) of the selected utterances (one per speaker) are randomly interleaved as shown in Figure 4.8. The speaker labels of all segments of all speakers are listed and shuffled. Then, for each label, the segments of the corresponding speaker are picked in order. This guarantees that the per-speaker order is kept while

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>If annotations are correct, they are always from different speakers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In practice, the code is prepared to run until exhausting all utterances and re-start again for a specific number of times or until generating a specific amount of audio.

assigning random order to the speaker turns of the different speakers. Then, for each pair of consecutive segments after interleaving them, a gap is defined depending on the nature of the two segments as shown in Algorithm 2. The lengths of pauses or overlaps are sampled from the estimated distributions. In the pseudo-code, there is a single channel initialized with 0's and segments are added to it in the obtained order by means of out.addFromPosition(pos, in) which adds the signal in onto out starting from position pos.



Figure 4.7: Procedure for generating simulated conversations.



Figure 4.8: Procedure for interleaving segments when generating simulated conversations.

It should be noted that an alternative method was devised concurrently in [Yamashita et al., 2022] where the turn-taking categories (turn-hold, turn-switch, interruption, backchannel) were taken into account to define simulated data. This approach also considers the interactions between speakers for defining the turns so that a Markov process expresses the transitions and the probabilities of each type of transition are estimated on real conversational data. Although the method has also a theoretical background and a more complex scheme, the results are not better than those obtained with our proposed approach. Furthermore, the analysis is only focused on the two-speaker telephone scenario.

#### 4.2.3 SM versus SC

For the sake of the analysis, we consider the addition of background noises and reverberation (already present in [Fujita et al., 2019a]) as augmentations. For analyzing the effect of using or not using each of these augmentations, different training datasets are generated for each setup. The same EEND model is trained on each one independently and its performance is evaluated on real data. Besides those two (already present in the original approach), we

explore a third one which aims to make the proportions in energy levels between speakers of a created conversation to resemble those seen in real conversations. This augmentation estimates the energy levels of all utterances to be used in a single conversation, takes as reference the maximum of those and scales the remaining following a ratio sampled from energy relations estimated on real conversations. However, this approach did not impact the performance.

For the sake of making the comparison between the two approaches (SM and SC) as fair as possible, several aspects of the data preparation follow those of the original SM approach [Fujita et al., 2019a]:

- The set of utterances used: comprises Switchboard-2 (phases I, II, III) [Graff et al., 1998, Graff et al., 1999, Graff et al., 2002], Switchboard Cellular (parts 1 and 2) [Graff et al., 2001, Graff et al., 2004], and NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation datasets (from years 2004, 2005, 2006, 2008) [NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011b, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2012, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011e, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011d, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011a, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011c, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011c, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011c, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011a, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011c, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2006a, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2006b]. All the recordings are sampled at 8 kHz and, out of 6381 speakers, 90% are used for creating training data.
- The VAD used to obtain time annotations is based on time-delay neural networks and statistical pooling<sup>6</sup>.
- The set of background noises and mechanism for augmenting data: 37 noises labeled as "background" in the MUSAN collection [Snyder et al., 2015] are added to the signal scaled with a signal-to-noise-ratio (SNR) selected randomly from {5, 10, 15, 20} dB.
- The set of RIRs used to reverberate utterances: an RIR is sampled from the collection introduced in [Ko et al., 2017] and used to reverberate the utterances of each speaker with 0.5 probability.

In order to shed some light on how the proposed SCs resemble real conversations more than SMs, some statistics about the recordings are presented in Table 4.1 where we see that SC is more similar to real sets in terms of percentages of silence, speech from a single speaker and overlap. We selected a subset of the SC to match the number of hours used with SM in previous works. The code for generating SC can be found in https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/EEND\_dataprep.

#### Comparison for two-speaker conversations

The experiments were performed using the self-attention EEND with encoder-decoder attractors for showing superior performance in previous works. It should be noted that for experiments with 2 speakers per recording, one could use SA-EEND but we use EEND-EDA (Section 4.1.3) to be consistent with the analyses in the next sections dealing with variable numbers of speakers. In all cases, the architecture used was exactly the same as that described in [Horiguchi et al., 2020]. For the sake of making the code more efficient, we used our PyTorch implementation<sup>7</sup>. 15 consecutive 23-dimensional log-scaled Mel-filterbanks

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>http://kaldi-asr.org/models/m4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/EEND

		Average	Total	Average $(\%)$		
Dataset	#Files	duration $(s)$	audio (h)	Silence	$1 ext{-speaker}$	Overlap
$\overline{\text{SM (train } \beta = 2)}$	100 000	89.30	2480.62	18.61	49.62	31.77
SC (train)	25074	356.15	2480.56	12.80	78.83	8.37
Callhome Part 1 (2 speakers)	155	74.02	3.19	9.05	77.90	13.05
Callhome Part 2 (2 speakers)	148	72.14	2.97	9.84	78.34	11.82
DIHARD3 full CTS dev	61	599.95	10.17	10.56	77.27	12.17
DIHARD3 full CTS eval	61	599.95	10.17	10.89	78.62	10.49

Table 4.1: Statistics for synthetic and real datasets. All listed sets have only 2 speakers per recording.

(computed over 25 ms every 10 ms) are stacked to produce 345-dimensional features every 100 ms. These are transformed by 4 self-attention encoder blocks (with 4 attention heads each) into a sequence of 256-dimensional embeddings. These are then shuffled in time and fed into the LSTM-based encoder-decoder module which decodes as many attractors as speakers are predicted (2 in these experiments). The speech activity probabilities for each speaker (represented by an attractor) at each time (represented by an embedding) are obtained by thresholding the output of the sigmoid function applied to the product of the attractors and frames.

During inference time, per-speaker per-time predicted probabilities  $\hat{Y}$  are thresholded at 0.5 to determine speech activities. To ease the comparison, this parameter was not tuned in any experiment but tuning it could lead to better results. Each training was run for 100 epochs on a single GPU. The batch size was set to 64 or 32 with 100000 or 200000 minibatch updates of warm up respectively. Following [Horiguchi et al., 2020], the Adam optimizer [Kingma and Ba, 2014] was used and scheduled with noam [Vaswani et al., 2017].

Since there can be a mismatch between the simulated training data and the real application data, fine-tuning (FT) is performed on a small set of in-domain data. For this step, 100 epochs were run and the Adam optimizer was used with learning rate  $10^{-5}$ . For the inference as well as for obtaining the model from which to fine-tune, the models from the last 10 epochs were averaged. During training and fine-tuning phases, batches are formed by sequences of stacked 500 Mel-filterbank outputs, corresponding to 50 s. During inference, the full recordings are fed to the network one at a time.

Diarization performance is evaluated in terms of diarization error rate as defined in Section 2.2.2.

SC augmentations analysis We evaluated all combinations of the augmentations, i.e. reverberating and adding noises. For this analysis, statistics to generate SC were estimated on DIHARD3 CTS development. Figure 4.9 presents results on recordings with 2 speakers from Callhome Part 2 comparing the best-published result with the original Chainer implementation [Horiguchi et al., 2020], our runs with the Chainer implementation, our PyTorch implementation with SM and the PyTorch implementation with the different SC options. Our runs with Chainer correspond with the result in [Horiguchi et al., 2020]. The results with PyTorch are slightly worse, note that there might be small implementation differences between Chainer and PyTorch. Also, the same hyper-parameters tuned for training with

Chainer were used with the PyTorch implementation to ease the comparison and adjusting them could lead to further improvement.

Using any of the SC options for generating training data outperforms SM. Moreover, the performance of the models trained using the best SC option (SC 2) is close to the results obtained with the models trained on SM after fine-tuning on the real sets. The models trained on the best SC option can, in turn, be further improved by means of fine-tuning, significantly outperforming those trained on SM, showing that a model trained on better quality SC data not only performs better but can also still be improved by fine-tuning to real data.

When comparing the four augmentation options, the main gains are observed when adding background noises; as expected, this simulates noisier conditions and adds variability to the set. Reverberating the signals with the default parameters actually harms the performance. This could be because each speaker is reverberated with different acoustic conditions, possibly making the task easier for the model. We hypothesize that the effect might be different in other scenarios such as meetings or interviews where speakers do not have their own close-talk microphones, as is the case in telephone conversations. Furthermore, the choice of RIRs could be narrowed down to take into account only rooms that resemble those in real applications. These aspects need to be further studied, especially for the more diverse scenarios seen in wide-band data. Results in the following sections are obtained using the best result with SC 2 and SM (P).



Figure 4.9: DER (%) comparison for SM (C stands for Chainer and P for PyTorch) and SC options on CH2-2spk and fine-tuning to CH1-2spk. [H] corresponding to [Horiguchi et al., 2020] is a single run. All other experiments were repeated 5 times (with different initializations) and we show means and error bars.

**DER breakdown analysis** Table 4.2 presents a detailed comparison of the errors from SM (P) and SC 2. In terms of VAD, both systems perform very similarly before and after fine-tuning. However, larger differences can be seen in terms of OSD. When using SC for training, the model makes considerably fewer false alarms for OSD, especially before fine-tuning. This can be explained by the larger percentage of overlap seen in SM (Table 4.1).

Table 4.2: Error analysis before and after fine-tuning on recordings with 2 speakers of CH2-2spk in terms of DER and its three components: false alarm (FA), missed speech (Miss) and confusion error (Conf.), VAD and OSD.

		DER breakdown			VA	ΔD	OSD		
System	DER	Miss	FA	Conf.	Miss	FA	Miss	FA	
SM (P)	15.09	2.83	8.24	4.01	0.48	7.70	4.84	10.71	
$+ F^{*}T$	8.44	5.23	2.32	0.90	3.39	4.06	6.20	4.22	
SC 2	8.64	3.11	4.84	0.69	0.49	7.53	4.68	9.03	
+ FT	7.28	4.72	1.98	0.58	3.23	4.03	6.02	3.82	

**SC** generation statistics and fine-tuning analysis To analyze the effect of the set used to estimate the statistics for creating SC data, we made a comparison using either DH-dev or CH1. As seen in Table 4.3, the effect of the set used for the estimation of the statistics is not large. Both datasets present several recordings that amount to a few hours of speech which is enough to have a reasonable amount of data to estimate the statistics. At the same time, the fine-tuning step improves the performance on both datasets suggesting that real conversations still differ from SC, leaving room for improving the quality of SC.

Table 4.3: DER (%) for models trained with SC 2 using statistics estimated on DH-dev or CH1. Fine-tuning for each test set is done in the corresponding dev set. Numbers in gray denote results where the test data were used for training. In underlined results, test data were used to compute the statistics.

System	Callhom	e 2 speakers Part 2	DIHARD3 CTS full dev eval				
DH stats + FT	8.16 6.20	8.64 7.28	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	22.06 17.00			
$\begin{array}{c} \text{CH stats} \\ + \text{FT} \end{array}$	$\frac{8.26}{6.13}$	$8.73 \\ 7.28$	<b>22.29</b> 17.38	$21.53 \\ 17.14$			

Amount of data analysis One aspect to analyze is the effect that the amount of training data has on EEND performance when using SC. Figure 4.10 shows that the performance degrades considerably before fine-tuning when training with *as little as* 310 hours. However, using 1240 hours (half of the amount used in all other experiments) already allows for a similar performance as using more data, e.g. 4961 h or 7442 h. Moreover, using these larger training sets allows the model after fine-tuning to reach as little as 7.03% DER on average and 6.8% DER in the best run.



Figure 4.10: DER (%) on CH2-2spk when training with different numbers of hours of SC 2. Each experiment is repeated 5 times (with different initializations) to obtain the mean and confidence intervals.

**Comparison with previous results** In this paragraph, we compare our results to the best results published with the same architecture. Table 4.4 shows that when training with SC and without fine-tuning, it is possible to attain similar performance as when training with SM after fine-tuning on Callhome. This gain is smaller in the case of DIHARD CTS, where fine-tuning has a larger effect. One of the aspects to consider with the architecture used is that the input is downsampled so that one output every 100 ms is produced. When evaluating with a 0 s forgiveness collar, such as in DIHARD, this severely impacts the results. Table 4.4 presents results when evaluating at the standard downsampling of one output every 100 ms and 50 ms<sup>8</sup>, showing that a considerable error reduction is possible after fine-tuning when producing outputs with finer time resolution.

Table 4.4: DER (%) for different systems. Results on DIHARD3 CTS are presented when the input is downsampled to one every 100 ms (standard) and 50 ms.

	CH 2 s	peakers	DI	DIHARD3 CTS full				
System	Part 1	Part $2$	d	ev	eval			
[Horiguchi et al., 2020]		8.07	-	_	_			
			Downsample rate (ms)					
			50	100	50	100		
SM (P)	13.62	15.09	25.36	25.46	22.16	23.58		
+ FT	7.61	8.44	12.97	17.98	11.99	17.44		
SC 2	8.16	8.64	21.16	23.47	19.81	22.06		
+ FT	6.2	7.28	11.68	16.99	11.20	17.00		

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>This is done only at inference time (not during training), the system is exactly the same and cannot address the issue completely. Having finer granularity considerably increases the inference time and memory requirements.

#### Comparison for wide-band data

Most works with end-to-end models so far have focused on the telephony scenario where large amounts of data are available and where each speaker is recorded in a separate channel. This allows to create diarization segment annotations by simply running a VAD system on each channel. This scenario presents certain advantages such as (usually) one speaker per channel, conversational speech, and relatively similar channel characteristics across recordings. This last aspect allows for a relatively easy amalgamation of different recordings when creating synthetic data where the channel differences are less relevant than the speaker ones and, thus, the model can focus on learning to separate speakers rather than channels.

Contrarily, wide-band data can have more variability in terms of recording devices, settings and types of interactions. However, it is rare to have a single speaker per recording, even less in a conversational scenario. Thus, applying the same techniques for creating synthetic data becomes more challenging since the mismatch between (artificial) training and (authentic) test data can become much larger. There have been efforts [Leung and Samarakoon, 2021a, Liu et al., 2021, Kinoshita et al., 2021b, Maiti et al., 2021] in generating training data for EEND using wide-band recordings from LibriSpeech [Panayotov et al., 2015] mostly based on SM.

Although there are numerous wide-band collections with thousands of hours of speech, they contain normally more than one speaker in the same channel. This makes it impossible to use the same strategy as with telephony data for deriving the speaker turns. Instead, it is necessary to have some kind of segmentation already available that contains information about the speakers. Next, we describe the freely available datasets that we used to create wide-band SC in this work.

- LibriSpeech [Panayotov et al., 2015] consists of 1000 hours of read English speech from almost 2500 speakers. Each recording is expected to contain speech of a single speaker; thus, the original strategy of running VAD to obtain segmentation is possible. Recordings are of good quality and without background noises meaning that channel characteristics are relatively similar across recordings. However, all speech is read and not conversational.
- VoxCeleb2 [Chung et al., 2018] consists of more than 2400 hours of recordings from more than 6000 speakers speaking mostly English. Originally prepared as a training set for speaker recognition systems, the recordings are partially annotated. This means that for the speakers of interest, some of their segments are labeled. Thus, it is possible to derive speech segments for a given speaker without the need for any VAD system. At the same time, these annotations are automatically generated, possibly introducing errors such as including small excerpts from other speakers. Furthermore, the speech is collected "in the wild" so the recordings can have different noises. We observed better results if recordings with a poor SNR were filtered out.
- VoxPopuli [Wang et al., 2021a] consists of recordings from the European Parliament in different languages. For this work, we used the subset for which transcriptions exist. Each recording is expected to contain speech from a single speaker and the transcription timestamps are used to derive the segmentation used for SC. Since the annotations were automatically derived, in some rare cases there were short excerpts from other speakers. This subset contains approximately 2700 hours from 2600 speakers. The recordings correspond to speaker turns during plenary sessions. Therefore, this corpus presents speech that is not read nor conversational but has exclusive turns and spontaneous speech. Recordings are normally of good quality and without background noises.

As in the telephony scenario, SCs were augmented with background noises from the MUSAN collection [Snyder et al., 2015] scaled with an SNR selected randomly from {5, 10, 15, 20} dB. Room impulse responses and leveling of relative energy between speakers were evaluated as mentioned in [Landini et al., 2022a] but the performance was about the same so we present results only when adding background noises.

**Evaluation sets** Different collections were used for evaluation. For the wide-band scenario, only two-speaker recordings were used<sup>9</sup> in order to simplify the conditions and have clear comparisons with the, already studied, telephone scenario. We evaluate results on the four domains from the Third DIHARD Challenge [Ryant et al., 2021] that satisfy such condition (Table 4.5 summarizes the information about each subset):

- CTS, consisting of previously unpublished telephone conversations from the Fisher collection. Both development and evaluation sets consist of 61 10-minute recordings each (full set). Originally 8 kHz signals, they were upsampled to 16 kHz for the challenge.
- Clinical, consisting of Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS) interviews conducted to identify whether a child fits the clinical diagnosis for autism recorded using a ceiling-mounted microphone. In the full set of DIHARD3, the development set contains 48 recordings lasting 320 s on average and the evaluation set contains 51 recordings lasting 307 s on average.
- Maptask, consisting of interactions of speakers during a map task in which one participant communicates instructions to the other participant to draw a path in a map. Each speaker is recorded independently with a close-talk microphone and the channels are summed to obtain a mono recording. The development set contains 23 recordings lasting 395 s on average and the evaluation set contains 19 recordings lasting 393 s on average.
- Sociolinguistic (lab), consisting of interviews recorded under quiet conditions in a controlled environment with a single omnidirectional microphone. The development and evaluation sets contain 16 and 12 recordings respectively lasting around 10 minutes each.

Name	Type	#f dev	iles eval	Avg. dev	length (s.) eval
CTS	telephone conversations	61	61	600	600
Clinical	interviews with children	48	51	320	307
Maptask	fast-paced interactions	23	19	395	393
Socio lab	interviews with adults	16	12	600	600
AMI	meetings $(2-spk)$	804	93	1190	1137
VoxConverse	broadcast $(2-spk)$	44	31	280	520

Table 4.5: Evaluation sets for wide-band scenario. For AMI, numbers do not correspond to dev but to the train set.

<sup>9</sup>The multi-speaker scenario is studied in Section 4.3.

Another domain of interest for diarization is meetings. However, there is a lack of datasets in a meeting-like scenario with only two speakers. Given that many end-to-end diarization works still focus on the two-speaker scenario, we considered of relevance to derive from AMI meetings [Carletta et al., 2006] all possible subsets of two speakers for each conversation and make them publicly available<sup>10</sup>. For each recording, all pairs of speakers were drawn and, for each pair, all speech where another speaker spoke was removed from the waveforms using reference diarization annotations of the "only words" setup described in [Landini et al., 2022b]<sup>11</sup>. Then, for each original conversation with four speakers, six *conversations* of two speakers were created. We evaluate results on Mix-Headset audios (AMI H) and the beamformed microphone array N1 (AMI A), where BeamformIt [Anguera et al., 2007] is applied using the specific AMI setup.

Finally, to add more diversity, recordings with two speakers from VoxConverse [Chung et al., 2020] were used as these come from varied broadcast sources and present different characteristics from those covered in previously mentioned sets. Following VoxConverse evaluation setup, a forgiveness collar of 0.25 s was used to compute DER while all the sets mentioned above were scored with forgiveness collar 0 s. In all cases, all speech (including overlap) was evaluated.

**Results** One of the main aspects when generating synthetic training data is the choice of recordings to use. Figure 4.11a presents a comparison of SM and SC using different sets, namely telephone conversations, LibriSpeech downsampled to 8 kHz (mimicking a telephone channel scenario), LibriSpeech, VoxCeleb2 and VoxPopuli. 16 kHz evaluation data were downsampled to run the inference with 8 kHz models and 8 kHz data were upsampled (with empty upper spectrum) to run the inference with 16 kHz models.

Even though some clear differences exist before fine-tuning, such as SC LibriSpeech performing the best for Maptask and both AMI sets, differences are reduced after fine-tuning. As observed in [Landini et al., 2022a], differences of up to 0.5% DER can easily be attributed to chance; thus, here there are no statistically significant "winners" in most cases. Some of the patterns worth mentioning are that 8 kHz models perform the worst for Maptask and the AMI sets, suggesting that information in higher frequencies is more relevant in these sets; and that using VoxCeleb2 recordings allows for better performance in VoxConverse, probably due to the similarities between both sets, formed by diverse recordings collected from YouTube.

Unlike the effect seen in the telephony scenario where SCs are clearly superior and the need for fine-tuning is reduced substantially<sup>12</sup> [Landini et al., 2022a], when working with different wide-band datasets, fine-tuning still plays a major role and even SMs allow for similar performance. Unfortunately, this shows that the main challenge in wide-band scenarios is, until now, not the realism or naturalness of the synthetic data in terms of turns but rather differences in the channel between source and test data, quality of speaker annotation, and conversational nature of data or a combination of all these.

The mechanism proposed for generating SC makes use of statistics about pauses and overlaps observed in real conversations. We explored different sets for extracting such statistics: CTS, Maptask, Socio lab, Clinical, all the aforementioned together (in the core setup, to have them equally represented), AMI and VoxConverse for generating SC using

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/AMI\_2speaker\_subset

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Available in https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/AMI-diarization-setup.

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ Results on CTS when training with SM telephone are 4.9% and 5.2% relatively worse than when training with SC telephone before and after fine-tuning respectively.



(a) Comparison of type of recordings used to generate SC (or SM): LibriSpeech, telephone (Switchboard and SRE), VoxCeleb2 and VoxPopuli. Numbers mark the best result among bars.



(b) Comparison of sources for estimating the statistics used to generate SC with LibriSpeech recordings.

Figure 4.11: Results on the evaluation/test sets of different subsets of DIHARD3, AMI mix-headset (H) and beamformed array (A) and 2-speaker recordings from VoxConverse. Light shade colors show results before fine-tuning and darker colors refer to results after fine-tuning to a matching development set.

audios from LibriSpeech. As shown in Figure 4.11b, there are no significant differences. While these findings do not imply that it is not possible to produce synthetic data of superior quality that will permit better performance without the need for fine-tuning, we intend to share our results with the community simply to shed light on the directions that have already been explored. There are still other aspects to consider such as improving data augmentation mechanisms like using more realistic background noises, reverberation or loudness levels that match the application scenarios. For instance, CTS, Maptask and AMI H have speech recorded with close-talk microphones, and Socio lab, Clinical and AMI A were recorded with far-field microphones. These aspects were not particularly considered in our analysis but they might have a strong influence. We generated SC from specific domains, i.e., from Maptask recordings only, and evaluated the performance on the same domain but the performance was considerably inferior; probably due to the limited number of speakers. Even more, choosing recordings with similar channel characteristics or choosing speakers with similar voices to create SC could be mechanisms for creating more challenging training data that would allow for better performance on real scenarios.

Finally, we hope that by sharing recipes<sup>13</sup> for generating training data using public datasets and the models trained on publicly available data, the community will have easier access to baselines that otherwise require expensive computations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/EEND\_dataprep
#### Comparison for a flexible number of speakers in the telephony scenario

Having seen the advantages of SC over SM in the constrained scenario of 2 speakers per recording, the next analysis extends the comparison for more speakers. Using the model described in 4.2.3, the same setup was followed for SM and SC: the initial training using 2 speakers per recording is run for 100 epochs with 50 s sequences, the adaptation to simulated training data with more speakers is run for 100 epochs on smaller sets or 25 epochs on (approximately four times) larger sets both with 50 s sequences. Finally, the fine-tuning step is run for 100 epochs using sequences of 200 s.

**Evaluation sets** To evaluate the performance when training EEND-EDA with more than two speakers, the 2000 NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation [Przybocki and Martin, 2001] dataset, usually referred to as "Callhome" [NIST, 2000] was used. We report results using the standard Callhome partition<sup>14</sup>. We will refer to the parts as CH1 and CH2. The numbers of recordings with different amounts of speakers are listed in Table 4.6.

Table 4.6: Numbers of recordings per list for Callhome parts 1 and 2. Percentages over the total are expressed between brackets.

No. speakers	2	3	4	5	6	7
CH1	155 (62.3%)	61 (24.5%)	23 (9.2%)	5(2%)	3(1.2%)	2(0.8%)
CH2	148 (59.2%)	74 (29.6%)	20 (8%)	5(2%)	3(1.2%)	0 (0%)

**Training sets** Different training sets were compared besides the standard set of SM used in [Horiguchi et al., 2020] with 1 to 4 speakers per recording and 100k mixtures for each number of speakers. SC sets are listed in Table 4.7. SC 2-4 spk contains recordings with 2, 3 and 4 speakers following the proportions of 50%, 25%, and 25% respectively in terms of hours while SC 2-4 spk follows the proportions 25%, 25%, and 50%. The SC 2-7 spk follows the proportions of speakers seen in Callhome Part 1 (shown in Table 4.6).

		Average	Total		Average $(\%)$		
Dataset	#Files	duration (s)	audio (h)	Silence	1-speaker	Overlap	
SM 2 spk	100 000	89.30	2480.62	18.61	49.62	31.77	
SC 2 spk	25074	356.15	2480.56	12.80	78.83	8.37	
SC $2-4$ spk	20449	436.62	2480.14	11.31	77.86	10.83	
SC 2-4 spk	17717	503.96	2480.17	10.49	77.15	12.36	
SC 2-7 spk	21652	412.41	2480.39	11.71	78.09	10.2	
SM $1-4 \mathrm{spk}$	400000	139.46	15495.00	20.06	50.79	29.15	
SC 1-4 spk	99373	359.47	9922.67	12.76	78.49	8.76	
Callhome Part 1	249	125.80	8.70	10.23	74.49	15.28	
Callhome Part 2	250	123.18	8.55	10.55	74.46	14.99	

Table 4.7: Statistics for synthetic and real datasets.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/CALLHOME\_sublists

	System	All	2-spk	3-spk	4-spk	5-spk	6-spk
1	SM 2 spk	28.67	16.85	27.46	40.4	52.94	50.51
2	+adapt SM 1-4 spk	26.14	16.28	24.67	34	50.15	53.24
3	+ FT CH1	17.45	8.38	16.14	24.26	36.75	46.79
4	SM 1-4 spk	27	16.1	25.44	37.56	46.52	54.92
5	+ FT CH1	25.78	13.92	24.77	34.62	43.77	66.37
6	SC 2 spk	20.86	8.48	21.07	29.56	45.61	49.2
$\overline{7}$	+ adapt SC 1-4 spk	16.18	8.95	13.78	21.22	37.35	46.32
8	+ FT CH1	16.07	10.03	14.35	19.3	30.67	46.94
9	+ adapt SC $2-4$ spk	17.52	9.07	15.11	23.3	38.55	54.03
10	+ adapt SC 2-4 spk	17.09	9.55	14.69	22.5	34.96	51.46
11	+ adapt SC 2-7 spk	17.49	9.16	15.43	24.18	39.17	45.41
12	SC 1-4 spk	19.9	10.2	17.79	26.49	42.67	58.09
13	+ FT CH1	21.24	15.45	18.89	25.17	38.16	49.54
14	SC <b>2</b> -4 spk	21.23	11.44	20.03	29.46	41.77	47.44
15	+ FT CH1	20.59	13.32	18.89	25.94	39.93	45.82
16	SC 2-4 spk	20.39	11.45	18.67	27.75	42.16	47.11
17	+ FT CH1	20.2	14.39	17.67	24.51	42.75	42.38
18	SC $2-7 \text{ spk}$	24.98	16.55	23.14	31.57	48.76	50.04
19	+ FT CH1	24.9	16.27	23.29	31.42	47.36	51.32

Table 4.8: DER (%) comparison on Callhome Part 2. FT stands for fine-tuning.

**Results** Table 4.8 presents a comparison when different sets are used for training, adapting (to more speakers) and fine-tuning (to Callhome Part 1). The first 5 rows show the performance when using SM. When following the same scheme with SC (rows 6-8 and 12, 13), the model trained on 2 speakers is already considerably better but adapting to more speakers pushes the performance further. The fine-tuning step provides only small gains, reducing the dependence on this step. Analogously, if the model is directly trained on the 1-4 sets, SC (rows 12, 13) allow for much better performance than SM (rows 4, 5). However, this set is so biased towards fewer speakers that the fine-tuning only helps for 4 or more speakers while harming for 2 and 3 which actually represent the majority of the recordings.

We explored using other SC multi-speaker sets with different proportions of recordings. Training on a set with a higher proportion of recordings with 4 than 2 speakers (row 10) is beneficial since the resulting model can deal better with recordings with more speakers. Training with a set that follows the same proportion of speakers seen in CH1 (row 11) does not bring considerable gains. However, it should be noted that the training set is rather small and it is possible that learning to deal with more speakers requires a larger training set. Similar behaviors are seen when training the model directly on these sets (rows 12-19).

Overall, the best results are obtained when first training only on 2 speakers and then using the 1-4 speakers set for adaptation which is considerably larger than the other ones. This suggests that such model can take advantage of larger sets and that it would be beneficial to produce training data on the fly in order to encourage larger variability in the training set.

#### 4.2.4 Summary

In this section, we discussed the generation of synthetic training data and its effects on an end-to-end model's performance. The original approach for generating simulated mixtures and the proposed approach to create simulated conversations were described showing how the results of the latter resemble real conversations better than the former. Both were compared in the telephony scenario for conversations with two or more speakers and it was shown that the simulated conversations provide advantages; mainly the improved performance and less need for a fine-tuning stage in the training procedure.

The analysis was extended to wide-band data in different domains. However, it was shown that the main challenges are not in terms of how realistic are the interactions but most likely in the acoustic aspects of the recordings. This is also related to the increased intrinsic variability observed in wide-band data as well as in the available datasets that can be used to create synthetic data. These two aspects need to be addressed in the future to be able to take full advantage of synthetic training data, crucial for the good performance of end-to-end models. Possible ideas to improve simulated conversations were also discussed throughout the section.

# 4.3 DiaPer: End-to-end neural diarization with Perceiverbased attractors

### 4.3.1 Motivation and background

As discussed in Section 4.1.3, the EEND framework is the most prolific single-stage end-toend model, showing remarkable performance. EEND-EDA, although in theory capable of dealing with flexible numbers of speakers, has certain limitations. One of them is that the model is strongly biased towards the number of speakers per recording seen during training and has difficulties handling conversations with many speakers. Even more, it is necessary to shuffle the frames at the input of the attractor encoder to obtain the best performance showing that the choice of LSTM as encoder is suboptimal.

Several works have proposed modifications to the EEND-EDA model, as discussed in Section 4.1.3. Three of them [Rybicka et al., 2022, Fujita et al., 2023, Chen et al., 2023b], in particular, present a non-autoregressive attractor-decoder framework based on attention as shown in Figures 4.12, 4.13, 4.14. The three models are presented under the same general framework where some blocks are common to all of them. All share a similar frame encoder based on self-attention layers to produce the frame embeddings and in all cases, the frame-speaker activities are obtained by applying sigmoid on the dot product between frame embeddings and attractors. Thus, the main differences stem from how the attractors are obtained.

The approach in Figure 4.12 [Rybicka et al., 2022] utilizes transformer decoder blocks where frame embeddings function as keys and values and the attractors are used as queries and refined by each decoder block. The attractors in the first block are obtained as weighted averages of the frame embeddings by the probability of the speaker being active in that frame (given by the diarization output of the previous iteration). This procedure is repeated iteratively to refine the attractors. However, an initial set of queries is necessary for the first iteration and they utilize the centroids obtained after using k-means clustering over frame embeddings. K-means is used to obtain a pre-defined number of clusters, thus this approach handles a fixed number of speakers. The attractor decoder comprises two se-



Figure 4.12: Diagram for [Rybicka et al., 2022].

Figure 4.13: Diagram for [Fujita et al., 2023].

Figure 4.14: Diagram for [Chen et al., 2023b].

quential decoder blocks (as denoted in Figure 4.4b). In the figure, the gray "1" denotes the first iteration when k-means is used, and "2" refers to the second pass when the attractors are obtained with the weighted average (performed by the Selector). Further iterations are not represented but follow the path denoted by "2".

In Figure 4.13 [Fujita et al., 2023], a simpler scheme is presented where the initial queries are learnable parameters learned during training. It also utilizes a single transformer decoder block formed by only a cross-attention module where frame embeddings function as keys and values. Note that this approach does not iterate.

Figure 4.14 combines ideas of the two above. [Chen et al., 2023a] utilize six sequential transformer decoder blocks where frame embeddings function as keys and values and the queries are separated into two groups: Three learnable queries represent non-speech, single-speaker speech and overlap respectively and are denoted by the initial queries in the figure. As explained in Section 4.1.3 and shown in Figure 4.5, queries for the speakers are defined iteratively one speaker at a time. The selector chooses single-speaker speech frames from a speaker (randomly or clustering frames first with SC and selecting a segment of the majoritarian cluster). The frames selected from the new speaker are averaged to produce one attractor. The initial queries and this preliminary attractor are then refined throughout the decoder blocks to produce the final attractors. This procedure is repeated until all "single speaker" segments are consumed by some attractor. The gray "1" denotes the first step where only categories are decoded and "2" denotes the second step where the attractor decoder is used to obtain the final frame-speaker activities.

The first two approaches have demonstrated their capabilities only in the two-speaker scenario where there is no need to find the number of speakers in the recording and where the architecture can be crafted to handle that specific number. The extension to more speakers is definitely possible but follow-up works have not yet been published. The third one presents results with a flexible number of speakers but relies on an autoregressive scheme since the speakers are iteratively decoded in the second step. At the same time, these approaches present particular interpretations of a more generic architecture: the Perceiver [Jaegle et al., 2021] which iteratively refines a set of latents (queries in crossattention) informed by the input sequence (keys and values in cross-attention) but in a non-autoregressive framework.

The model we propose in this work generalizes some of the ideas described above and directly tackles the problem of handling several speakers using Perceivers to obtain attractors in an EEND-based framework. We name this approach DiaPer: end-to-end neural Diarization with Perceiver-based attractors.

#### 4.3.2 Model description

The Perceiver [Jaegle et al., 2021] is a Transformer [Vaswani et al., 2017] variant that employs cross-attention to project the variable-size input onto a fixed-size set of latent representations, as shown in Figure 4.15. These latents are transformed by a chain of selfattention and cross-attention blocks. By encoding the variable-size input ("Byte array" in the figure) into the fixed-size latent space ("Latent array" in the figure), the Perceiver reduces the quadratic complexity of the Transformer to linear. In this work, we utilize the Perceiver framework to encode speaker information into the latent space and then derive attractors from the latents. Perceiver allows us to handle a variable number of speakers per conversation while addressing some of the limitations of EDA with a fully non-autoregressive (and iteration-free) scheme.



Figure 4.15: Perceiver architecture as presented in [Jaegle et al., 2021]. Figure adopted from [Jaegle et al., 2021].

DiaPer shares many facets with other EEND models, such as defining diarization as a per-speaker-per-time-frame binary classification problem. Given a sequence of observations (features)  $\mathbf{X} \in \mathbb{R}^{T \times F}$  where T denotes the sequence length and F the feature dimensionality, the model produces  $\hat{\mathbf{Y}} \in (0, 1)^{T \times S}$  which represent the speech activity probabilities of the S speakers for each time-frame. Just like with EEND-EDA, the model is trained so that  $\hat{\mathbf{Y}}$  matches the reference labels  $\mathbf{Y} \in \{0, 1\}^{T \times S}$  where  $y_{t,s} = 1$  if speaker s is active at time t and 0 otherwise. The main difference between EEND-EDA and DiaPer is in how the attractors are obtained given the frame embeddings. As shown in Figure 4.16, DiaPer makes use of Perceiver to obtain the attractors instead of the LSTM-based encoder-decoder.



Figure 4.16: DiaPer diagram.

The main two modules in DiaPer are the frame encoder and the attractor decoder. As shown in Figures 4.17 and 4.18 and proposed in [Fujita et al., 2019b], the frame encoder receives the sequence of frame features **X** and transforms them with a few chained selfattention layers  $\mathbf{E} = FrameEncoder(\mathbf{X})$  to obtain the frame embeddings  $\mathbf{E} \in \mathbb{R}^{T \times D}$ , where D is the dimension of the embeddings.

The attractor decoder receives the frame embeddings and produces attractors  $\mathbf{A} = PerceiverDecoder(\mathbf{E})$  with  $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbb{R}^{A \times D15}$  which are in turn compared with the frame embeddings to determine which speaker is active at each time-frame:  $\hat{\mathbf{Y}} = \sigma(\mathbf{E}\mathbf{A}^{\top})$ .

To explain how the frame encoder and the attractor decoder operate, we will make use of two functions: multi-head attention (MHA) described in Algorithm 3 and feed-forward layer (FF) described in Algorithm 4. Note that multi-head cross-attention corresponds to MHA(Q, K, V) when  $Q \neq K = V$  and multi-head self-attention (MHSA) corresponds to MHA(Q, K, V) when Q = K = V. Both operations (namely MHA and FF) operate using internal parameters so one can think of using them later as instances. For example,  $MHA^{(i)}$ will refer to the  $i^{\text{th}}$  instance with its own set of parameters.

To describe the model, we need to define *FrameEncoder* and *PerceiverDecoder* and the loss(es) used to train it. We will first focus on a minimal version of a working model and then cover some extensions that lead to better performance.

The frame encoder is in charge of transforming the initial input features into deeper and more contextualized representations from which (a) the attractors will be estimated, and (b) the frame-wise activation of each speaker will be determined. Several encoder layers are used to extract such representations as shown in Figure 4.17. More formally, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>In practice, A equals to the number of speakers S.



#### Algorithm 3 Multi-head attention

 $\overline{\mathbf{Parameters:}\ H\in\mathbb{N},\ \mathbf{W}_{h}^{Q}\in\mathbb{R}^{D\times d},\mathbf{W}_{h}^{K}\in\mathbb{R}^{D\times d},\mathbf{W}_{h}^{V}\in\mathbb{R}^{D\times d},\ \mathbf{W}^{O}\in\mathbb{R}^{(H\cdot d)\times D}}$ 

where H is the number of heads (with  $1 \le h \le H$ ),  $\mathbf{W}_{h}^{Q}$ ,  $\mathbf{W}_{h}^{K}$ ,  $\mathbf{W}_{h}^{V}$  are the query, key and value projection matrices for the  $h^{\text{th}}$  head,  $\mathbf{W}^{O}$  is the output projection matrix, and  $d = \frac{D}{H}$  is the dimension of each head.

Input:  $\mathbf{Q} \in \mathbb{R}^{q \times D}, \mathbf{K} \in \mathbb{R}^{T \times D}, \mathbf{V} \in \mathbb{R}^{T \times D}$ Output:  $MHA(\mathbf{Q}, \mathbf{K}, \mathbf{V}) \in \mathbb{R}^{q \times D}$ 

for all 
$$h \in 1...H$$
 do  
 $C_h \leftarrow Softmax \left(\frac{\mathbf{Q}\mathbf{W}_h^Q(\mathbf{K}\mathbf{W}_h^K)^{\top}}{\sqrt{d}}\right) (\mathbf{V}\mathbf{W}_h^V)$   
 $MHA(\mathbf{Q}, \mathbf{K}, \mathbf{V}) \leftarrow Concatenate(C_1, ..., C_H)\mathbf{W}^O$ 

#### Algorithm 4 Feed-forward

**Parameters:**  $\mathbf{W}_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{D \times D_{ff}}, \mathbf{b}_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{D_{ff}}, \mathbf{W}_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{D_{ff} \times D}, \mathbf{b}_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{D_{ff}}$ where  $\mathbf{W}_1, \mathbf{W}_2, \mathbf{b}_1, \mathbf{b}_2$  are the weights and biases, **1** is an all-one vector,  $ReLU(\cdot)$  is the rectified linear unit activation function. D is the dimension of the input and  $D_{ff}$  is the dimension of the internal linear layer. Input:  $\mathbf{E} \in \mathbb{R}^{T \times D}$ Output:  $FF(\mathbf{E}) \in \mathbb{R}^{T \times D}$ 

 $FF(\mathbf{E}) \leftarrow ReLU(\mathbf{EW}_1 + \mathbf{1b}_1^{\top})\mathbf{W}_2 + \mathbf{1b}_2^{\top}$ 

FrameEncoder can be described as:

$$\mathbf{e}_{t}^{(0)} = \mathbf{W}_{in}\mathbf{x}_{t} + \mathbf{b}_{in} \tag{4.14}$$

$$\mathbf{E}^{(0)} = [\mathbf{e}_1^{(0)}, \dots, \mathbf{e}_T^{(0)}] \tag{4.15}$$

$$\bar{\mathbf{E}}^{(l)} = LN(\mathbf{E}^{(l-1)}) \tag{4.16}$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{E}}^{(l)} = LN(\bar{\mathbf{E}}^{(l)} + MHA^{(l)}(\bar{\mathbf{E}}^{(l)}, \bar{\mathbf{E}}^{(l)}, \bar{\mathbf{E}}^{(l)}))$$
(4.17)

$$\check{\mathbf{E}}^{(l)} = \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{(l)} + FF^{(l)}(\hat{\mathbf{E}}^{(l)})$$
(4.18)

$$\mathbf{E}^{(l)} = ConditionBlock(\check{\mathbf{E}}^{(l)})$$
(4.19)

$$FrameEncoder(\mathbf{X}) = \mathbf{E}^{(L)} \tag{4.20}$$

where LN stands for layer normalization, and L is the number of layers in the frame encoder (with  $1 \le l \le L$ ). ConditionBlock is optional and can be ignored at this point (it will be defined in (4.31)).



Figure 4.19: Scheme of Perceiver decoder.

The decoder makes use of a chain of a few Perceiver blocks as depicted in Figure 4.19. The set of learnable latents is transformed by each block utilizing the frame embeddings as keys and values. One could have an equal number of latents and attractors, in which case the latents are an initial representation transformed by the Perceiver blocks to obtain the attractors. In practice, we observed that this leads to instability in the training and that obtaining the attractors as linear combinations of a larger set of (transformed) latents performed better. More formally, the *PerceiverDecoder* is defined as:

$$\mathbf{L}^{(0)} = MHA^{(0)}(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{E}^{(L)}, \mathbf{E}^{(L)})$$
(4.21)

$$\bar{\mathbf{L}}^{(b)} = MHA^{(b)}(\mathbf{L}^{(b-1)}, \mathbf{E}^{(L)}, \mathbf{E}^{(L)})$$
(4.22)

$$\hat{\mathbf{L}}^{(b)} = MHA^{(b)_2}(\bar{\mathbf{L}}^{(b)}, \bar{\mathbf{L}}^{(b)}, \bar{\mathbf{L}}^{(b)})$$
(4.23)

$$\mathbf{L}^{(b)} = MHA^{(b)_1}(\hat{\mathbf{L}}^{(b)}, \hat{\mathbf{L}}^{(b)}, \hat{\mathbf{L}}^{(b)})$$
(4.24)

$$\mathbf{A} = PerceiverDecoder(\mathbf{E}^{(L)}) = \mathbf{WL}^{(B)},\tag{4.25}$$

where  $\mathbf{L} \in \mathbb{R}^{L \times D}$  is the set of learnable latents,  $\mathbf{L}^{(b)}$  are the transformed latents after the  $b^{\text{th}}$ Perceiver block, B is the number of Perceiver blocks in the decoder (with  $1 \le b \le B$ ),  $\mathbf{W} \in$  $\mathbb{R}^{A \times L}$  is the matrix that linearly combines latents to obtain attractors, and **A** represents the decoded attractors.

DiaPer decodes always the same fixed number of attractors, denoted by A. As mentioned above, the attractors are obtained as linear combinations of the latents. Therefore, the original latents are encouraged to represent information about the speakers in a general manner so that these representations can be transformed (through cross- and self-attention) given a particular input sequence in order to capture the characteristics of the speakers in the utterance. In standard scaled dot-product attention [Vaswani et al., 2017], the softmax is applied on the time-axis to normalize the attention weights along the sequence length before multiplying with the values. In Perceiver, cross- and self-attention on the latents are intertwined. When doing cross-attention (i.e. in (4.22)), we observed slightly better performance if the softmax was applied to normalize across latents rather than along the sequence length, i.e. each frame embedding is "probabilistically" assigned to each latent using weights that sum up to one. This and other decisions are compared in the experimental section.

As usual for EEND-based models, the diarization loss  $\mathcal{L}_d$  is calculated as

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}}_d(\mathbf{Y}, \hat{\mathbf{Y}}) = \frac{1}{TS} \min_{\phi \in perm(S)} \sum_t^T BCE(\mathbf{y}_t^{\phi}, \hat{\mathbf{y}}_t), \qquad (4.26)$$

where considering all reference labels permutations denotes PIT loss.

Similarly to EEND-EDA, to determine which attractors are valid, an attractor existence loss  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_a$  is calculated as

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}}_a(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p}) = BCE(\mathbf{r}^{\phi}, \mathbf{p}), \qquad (4.27)$$

using the same permutation given by  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_d$ , where  $\mathbf{p} = [p_1, \ldots, p_A]$  are the attractor posterior existence probabilities and  $\mathbf{r}^{\phi} = [r_1, \ldots, r_A]$  are the reference presence labels  $r_i \in \{0, 1\}$ for  $1 \le i \le A$ . However, unlike EEND-EDA where the loss only considers the number of speakers in the utterance plus one (for the first invalid attractor), in DiaPer, the loss is calculated for all outputs in the model (independently of the number of speakers in the utterance).

In order to encourage the model to utilize all latents, an extra "entropy term"  $\mathcal{L}_e$  is added to the loss so that the weights that define the linear combination of latents do not become extreme values (i.e. no latent has a very high weight, therefore making all others very small):

$$\mathcal{L}_e = \sum_{a=1}^{A} mean(Softmax(\mathbf{w}_a) \cdot \log Softmax(\mathbf{w}_a)), \qquad (4.28)$$

where  $\mathbf{w}_a \in \mathbb{R}^L$  is the row of  $\mathbf{W}$  corresponding to attractor a. The final loss to be optimized is  $\hat{\mathcal{L}} = \hat{\mathcal{L}}_d + \hat{\mathcal{L}}_a + \mathcal{L}_e$ . However, we introduced two modifications.

First, in a similar way as presented in [Fujita et al., 2023], conditioning on framespeaker activities is included to each layer in the frame encoder: As shown in Figure 4.20, intermediate attractors are calculated given the frame embeddings of each frame encoder layer. The intermediate attractors are then weighted by intermediate frame activities, transformed and added into the frame embedding space to produce the conditioning. The





Figure 4.21: Frame encoder scheme.

Figure 4.20: Conditioning scheme.

conditioning block can be expressed as

$$\mathbf{A}^{l} = PerceiverDecoder(\mathbf{E}^{(l)}) \tag{4.29}$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{Y}}^{l} = \sigma(\mathbf{E}^{(l)}\mathbf{A}^{l\top}) \tag{4.30}$$

$$ConditionBlock(\mathbf{E}^{(l)}) = \check{\mathbf{E}}^{(l)} + \hat{\mathbf{Y}}^{l} \mathbf{A}^{l} \mathbf{W}_{c}, \qquad (4.31)$$

where  $\mathbf{A}^{l}$  are the attractors corresponding to the intermediate frame embeddings for layer l in the frame encoder,  $\hat{\mathbf{Y}}^{l}$  are the posterior frame-speaker activities when using the frame embeddings for layer l in the frame encoder, and  $\mathbf{W}_{c} \in \mathbb{R}^{D \times D}$  is a learnable transformation matrix that also weighs the importance of the conditioning. Figure 4.21 represents the new frame encoder including the conditioning blocks.

The second modification consists in introducing auxiliary losses, inspired by other works [Yu et al., 2022b, Fujita et al., 2023, Jeoung et al., 2023]. The main idea is to reinforce the diarization and attractor losses after each layer in the frame encoder and after each Perceiver block in the attractor decoder. Using  $\mathbf{A}^l$  from (4.29),  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_a(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p}^l)$  is calculated where  $\mathbf{p}^l$  are the attractor existence probabilities for  $\mathbf{A}^l$ ; and  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_d(\mathbf{Y}, \hat{\mathbf{Y}}^l)$  is calculated using the intermediate speech activities  $\hat{\mathbf{Y}}^l$  for layer l as defined in (4.30).

Analogously but for the Perceiver blocks in the attractor decoder,  $\mathbf{A}^{b} = \mathbf{WL}^{(b)}$  are the attractors for the intermediate latents (after the  $b^{\text{th}}$  block) from which it is possible to evaluate  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{a}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p}^{b})$ . Then,  $\hat{\mathbf{Y}}^{b} = \sigma(\mathbf{E}\mathbf{A}^{b\top})$  represents the intermediate speech activities and it is possible to evaluate  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{d}(\mathbf{Y}, \hat{\mathbf{Y}}^{b})$  for block b. Note that in this case, the final frame embeddings  $\mathbf{E}$  are used while for  $\hat{\mathbf{Y}}^{l}$ , the attractors are decoded for the intermediate frame embeddings  $\mathbf{E}^{(l)}$ . Other combinations, such as using  $\mathbf{A}^{L}$  instead of  $\mathbf{A}^{l}$  for  $\hat{\mathbf{Y}}^{l}$ , would be possible but they were not studied. The averages of the intermediate (all but the last one) losses over frame encoder layers and over Perceiver blocks are summed to the losses  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_d(\mathbf{Y}, \hat{\mathbf{Y}})$  and  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_a(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p})$  which use "final" attractors and "final" frame embeddings. Then,  $\mathcal{L}_d$  and  $\mathcal{L}_a$  are obtained as

$$\mathcal{L}_{d} = \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{d}(\mathbf{Y}, \hat{\mathbf{Y}}) + \frac{1}{L-1} \sum_{l=1}^{L-1} \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{d}(\mathbf{Y}, \hat{\mathbf{Y}}^{l}) + \frac{1}{B-1} \sum_{b=1}^{B-1} \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{d}(\mathbf{Y}, \hat{\mathbf{Y}}^{b})$$
(4.32)

$$\mathcal{L}_{a} = \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{a}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p}) + \frac{1}{L-1} \sum_{l=1}^{L-1} \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{a}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p}^{l}) + \frac{1}{B-1} \sum_{b=1}^{B-1} \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{a}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p}^{b}).$$
(4.33)

The final loss to be optimized is  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_d + \mathcal{L}_a + \mathcal{L}_e$ .

One of the major disadvantages when using a non-autoregressive decoder is that the number of elements to decode (attractors in this case) has to be set in advance and this imposes a limit on the architecture. However, unlike the original versions of EEND, we do not focus on a scenario with a specific number of speakers but rather set the model to have a maximum number of attractors A large enough to handle several scenarios. This is done in one way or another in all methods that handle "flexible" numbers of speakers. For example, in practice with EEND-EDA, one decodes a-maximum-expected-number-of-speakers attractors and later verifies which ones are valid rather than iteratively decode and check for the validity of each individual attractor. DiaPer decodes always the same number of attractors and, like in EEND-EDA [Horiguchi et al., 2020], a linear layer plus sigmoid determine which attractors are valid, i.e. correspond to a speaker in the conversation.<sup>16</sup>

#### 4.3.3 Experiments

#### Training data

Given the conclusions of Section 4.2, SC are utilized to train the models. Different sets of SC were generated. To train 8 kHz models, 10 sets were created, each with a different number of speakers per SC (ranging from 1 to 10) and each containing 2500 h of audio. Utterances from the following sets were used: Switchboard-2 (phases I, II, III) [Graff et al., 1998, Graff et al., 1999, Graff et al., 2002, Switchboard Cellular (parts 1 and 2) [Graff et al., 2001, Graff et al., 2004], and NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation datasets (from years 2004, 2005, 2006, 2008) [NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2006a, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2006b, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011a, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011b, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011c, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2012, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011e, NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011d]. All the recordings are sampled at 8 kHz and, out of 6381 speakers, 90% are used for creating training data. The Kaldi ASpIRE VAD<sup>17</sup> is used to obtain time annotations (in turn used to produce reference diarization labels). To augment the training data, we use 37 noises from MUSAN [Snyder et al., 2015] labeled as "background". They are added to the signal respecting a signal-to-noise ratio selected randomly from  $\{5, 10, 15, ..., 10, ..., 1$ 20} dB.

In order to train 16 kHz models, a similar strategy was followed to also generate SC with different numbers of speakers ranging from 1 to 10 per conversation, all containing 2500 h of audio. Instead of telephone conversations, utterances were taken from LibriSpeech [Panayotov et al., 2015] which consists of 1000 hours of read English speech from almost 2500

 $<sup>^{16}</sup>$ The effect of this is discussed in Section 4.3.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>http://kaldi-asr.org/models/m4

speakers. More details can be found in Section 4.2.3. The same VAD as described above was used to produce annotations and equivalent background noises were used, but in 16 kHz.

Statistics about the whole sets and the 2-speaker ones can be seen in Table 4.9. Naturally, SC with more speakers tend to have more overlap. Since the algorithm for creating SC uses the whole recordings, and LibriSpeech recordings are usually longer than telephone conversations, this results in longer utterances for SC LibriSpeech. The longer turns in LibriSpeech also explain why SC generated with such data have proportionally less silence. However, the amount of audio is about the same for similar conditions (i.e. same number of speakers).

Dataset	#files	Total audio (h)	Average dur. (s)	silence	Average % 1-speaker	overlap
SC telephone 2 speakers	24967	2481	357.68	12.78	78.87	8.35
SC telephone 1-10 speakers	148732	24807	600.45	9.69	76.15	14.16
SC LibriSpeech 2 speakers	7158	2480	1247.51	10.09	82.48	7.43
SC LibriSpeech 1-10 speakers	35558	23385	2367.57	7.23	79.51	13.24

Table 4.9: Statistics for synthetic datasets.

#### Models

As the main baseline for this work, we utilize end-to-end neural diarization with encoderdecoder attractors (EEND-EDA) [Horiguchi et al., 2020] which is the most popular EEND approach that can handle multiple speakers and was used in previous sections. Its architecture was exactly the same as that described in [Horiguchi et al., 2020] and we used our PyTorch implementation<sup>18</sup>. 15 consecutive frames of 23-dimensional log Mel-filterbanks (computed over 25 ms every 10 ms) are stacked to produce 345-dimensional features every 100 ms. These are transformed by the frame encoder, comprised of 4 self-attention encoder blocks (with 4 attention heads each) into a sequence of 256-dimensional embeddings. These are then shuffled in time and fed into the LSTM-based encoder-decoder module that decodes attractors, which are deemed as valid if their existence probability is above a certain threshold. The sigmoid function applied on the dot product between attractors and frame embeddings is used to obtain speech activity probabilities for each speaker (represented by a valid attractor) at each time step (represented by an embedding).

Part of the setup for DiaPer is shared with the baseline, namely the input features, the frame encoder configuration (except in experiments where the number of layers was changed). In the mechanism for determining attractor existence, DiaPer also utilizes a linear layer followed by sigmoid applied on the attractors but they are processed independently. This is in contrast with EEND-EDA where the order of the attractors matters as they are decoded until the existence probablity is below a certain threshold.

Following standard practice with EEND models, the training scheme starts with training the model first on synthetic training data and proceeds with fine-tuning (FT) using a small development set of real data of the same domain as the test set. In the experiments with more than two speakers, a model initially trained on synthetic data with two speakers per recording is first adapted to a synthetic set with a variable number of speakers, and finally fine-tuned to a development set.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>https://github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/EEND

#### **Evaluation data**

For the first parts of the analysis, where we show the architectural choices of DiaPer and where we compare DiaPer with EEND-EDA, we utilize two 2-speaker conversational recordings. For that, we use the setup from Section 4.2.3 based on Callhome 2-speaker subsets and DIHARD3 CTS full. We also utilize the Callhome corpus with multiple speakers.

In order to compare DiaPer and EEND-EDA in terms of finding the right numbers of speakers, a set of SC is used consisting of 10 recordings for each number of speakers from 1 to 10, totalling 100 recordings.

Finally, for the analysis on wide-band sets, we use the same corpora as used for the modular system (Section 3.3.2).

#### Training

Most trainings were run on a single GPU. The batch size was set to 32 with 200000 minibatch updates of warm-up. Following [Horiguchi et al., 2020], the Adam optimizer [Kingma and Ba, 2014] was used and scheduled with noam [Vaswani et al., 2017]. For a few trainings with variable number of speakers where 4 GPUs were used, the batchsize and warm-up steps were adapted accordingly (i.e. divided by 4). Other hyperparameters (e.g. dropout, learning rate) can be seen in the training configuration files shared in the repository.

For FT on a development set, the Adam optimizer was used. Both EEND-EDA and DiaPer were fine-tuned with learning rate  $10^{-5}$  for Callhome 2 speakers and with  $10^{-4}$  for whole Callhome and DIHARD3 CTS. For the wide-band datasets, DiaPer was fine-tuned on the training set using learning rate  $10^{-6}$  until the performance on the development set stopped improving; or, in case there was no official training set available, the fine-tuning was performed on the development set till not further improvement on the test set.

During training (with 2-speaker SC), adaptation (with a variable number of speakers SC), and FT (with in-domain data), batches were formed by sequences of 600 Melfilterbank outputs, corresponding to 1 minute, unless specified otherwise (i.e. the analysis in Section 4.3.3). These sequences are randomly selected from the generated SC<sup>19</sup>. During inference, the full recordings are fed to the network one at a time. In all cases, when evaluating a given epoch, the parameters from the checkpoints of the previous 10 epochs are averaged to run the inference.

To compare EEND-EDA and DiaPer on equal ground, we train both models for the same number of epochs, evaluate them after regular intervals and choose the best-performing on the development set. For comparisons on 2-speaker scenarios of Callhome, each model is trained for 100 epochs on telephony SC. Every 10 epochs, the parameters of the 10 previous checkpoints are averaged and performance is evaluated on the CH1-2spk set to determine the best one. The performance of such model is reported on the CH2-2spk set and DIHARD3 CTS full eval before and after FT.

When doing adaptation to more speakers for comparison on Callhome, the best-performing 2-speaker model as described above is selected as initialization. The adaptation to an SC set with different numbers of speakers per recording is run for 75 epochs. Using a sliding window, the parameters of the last 10 models are averaged every 5 epochs and performance is evaluated on CH1 to determine the best one. The performance of such model is reported on CH2. This model is also used as initialization when doing FT to a development set.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>An attentive reader will notice that it might not be possible to see as many as 10 speakers in 1 minute, this is addressed in the experimental section.

To avoid selecting results on the test sets, all fine-tunings are run for 20 epochs and the parameters of the last 10 epochs are averaged to produce the final model.

For comparisons on the variety of wide-band sets, three variants of DiaPer are trained. An 8 kHz model following a similar approach as described above: trained for 100 epochs on SC of 2 speakers created with telephony speech and then adapted to the SC with 1-10 speakers set for 100 epochs. The 16 kHz model is trained in the same manner but using SC generated from LibriSpeech. Two flavors of this "wide-band DiaPer" are used, one with 10 attractors and another with 20 attractors to analyze the impact on datasets with several speakers. For the comparisons on wide-band sets, results are also shown without and with FT.

#### Metrics

Diarization performance is evaluated in terms of DER as defined by NIST [NIST, 2009] and computed using dscore<sup>20</sup>. During inference time, the model outputs are thresholded at 0.5 to determine speech activities. For evaluation sets where a forgiveness collar is used for DER, a median filter with window 11 (corresponding to 1.1 s) is applied as post-processing over the speech activities. If the forgiveness collar is 0 s, no filtering is applied and, instead of running the inference with 10 frames subsampling in the frame encoder, 5 frames only are subsampled as this provides a better resolution (50 ms vs. 100 ms) in the output. However, due to the high memory consumption, when processing very long files for CHiME6, a subsampling of 15 frames had to be used. To analyze the model quality in terms of finding the correct number of speakers, confusion matrices for correct/predicted numbers of speakers are presented for SC with 10 recordings for each number of speakers from 1 to 10.

#### Selection of parameters

In order to shed some light on the influence of different aspects of the architecture in DiaPer, we present first a comparison of the performance when varying some key elements. We start from the best configuration we found, namely: 3 Perceiver blocks in the attractor decoder, 128 latents, 4 self-attention layers in the frame-encoder and 128-dimensional latents, frame embeddings and attractors. This configuration is marked with a gray background in the comparisons. The models are trained on 2-speaker SC and no FT is applied.

Table 4.10 shows the impact of the number of Perceiver blocks in the attractor decoder. Out of the configurations explored, having 3 blocks presents the best performance.

Table 4.10: Comparison on CH1-2spk when varying the number of Perceiver blocks in the attractor decoder.

# Blocks	1	2	3	4	5
DER (%)	8.27	8.41	7.96	8.44	8.09
# Parameters (M)	3.1	3.7	4.3	4.9	5.5

Table 4.11 shows how the number of latents can affect the performance. Differences are small for all amounts equal to or below 256, even with as few as 8. Nevertheless, given

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>https://github.com/nryant/dscore

that the number of parameters is very similar for any configuration, we keep 128 latents as having more could ease the task when more speakers appear in a recording.

# Latents	8	16	32	64	128	256	512
DER (%)	8.15	8.14	8.29	8.10	7.96	8.10	8.54
# Parameters (M)	4.29	4.29	4.29	4.30	4.31	4.32	4.36

Table 4.11: Comparison on CH1-2spk when varying the number of latents.

Table 4.12 presents a comparison when varying the number of layers in the frame encoder. Standard SA-EEND and EEND-EDA use 4 and some works have used 6 layers. In the case of DiaPer, we do not observe large differences in the performance and obtain the best performance with 4.

Table 4.12: Comparison on CH1-2spk when varying the number of layers in frame encoder.

# Layers	3	4	5	6
DER (%)	8.18	7.96	8.33	8.31
# Parameters (M)	3.7	4.3	4.9	5.5

Finally, Table 4.13 shows the impact of the model dimensions on the performance. Increasing the dimensionality of latents, frame embeddings and attractors further than 128 does not show improvements in terms of DER but increases the number of model parameters significantly. Figure 4.22 shows performance throughout the epochs for the development set. It is clear how more dimensions allow for a faster convergence; however, more than 128 do not provide gains in terms of final performance. In addition, more dimensions make the training less stable: using 512 would always lead to instability. Configurations with less than 128 dimensions (64 and 32) can improve further and after 200 epochs reduce the DER by about 1 point but still with worse final results than other configurations. These findings show that reasonable performances can be achieved even with more lightweight versions of DiaPer.



Figure 4.22: Performance on CH1-2spk for different model dimensions (latents, frame embeddings and attractors).

Dimensions	32	64	128	256	384
DER (%)	12.90	9.30	7.96	8.16	8.52
# Parameters (M)	0.7	1.6	4.3	12.9	26.6

Table 4.13: Comparison on CH1-2spk when varying the model dimension (latents, frame embeddings and attractors).

#### Ablation analysis

Different decisions were made when developing DiaPer and some have a big impact on the performance. Table 4.14 presents a comparison of DiaPer in the best configuration shown above and when removing some of the operations performed during training. The first one refers to the normalization of the loss (see (4.26)) by the reference number of speakers. DiaPer always outputs A attractors and the loss is calculated for all of them, even if only training with 2-speakers SC. If the loss is not normalized by the number of speakers, the model tends to find less speech, increasing the missed speech rate considerably.

Another ablation targets the frame encoder conditioning shown in Figure 4.21. Similarly to [Fujita et al., 2023], where the scheme was introduced, removing it worsens the performance by around 0.5% DER. Comparable degradation is observed by removing the loss reinforcements in both frame encoder and Perceiver blocks.

Finally, the attention normalization in the cross-attention calculations inside the Perceiver blocks is performed across latents in DiaPer. If done across time, as it is usually done, the performance is slightly worse. We have also explored using across-time normalization in half of the heads and across-latents in the other half but the performance was not better than using across-latents in all heads.

Table 4.14: DER (%) on CH1-2spk with different ablations.

DiaPer	7.96
Without normalization of loss per #speakers	11.10
Without frame encoder conditioning	8.55
Without intermediate loss in frame encoder	8.53
Without intermediate loss in Perceiver blocks	8.43
Perceiver cross-attention across time (instead of latents)	8.07

While publications always focus on the positive aspects of the models, we believe there is substantial value in sharing those options that were explored and did not provide gains. Among them were:

- using absolute positional encoding when feeding the frame embeddings into the attractor decoder (no improvement). Perhaps due to the training vs. test mismatch regarding input length.
- using specaugment for data augmentation (no improvement).
- following [Maiti et al., 2021, Rybicka et al., 2022], adding a speaker recognition loss to reinforce speaker discriminative attractors (slightly worse results). However, this was only explored in the scenario with 2 speakers and the effect might be different for recordings with more speakers.

- following [Wang et al., 2023d], including an LSTM-based mechanism to model output speaker activities through time (worse performance).
- modeling silence with a specific attractor (worse performance).
- length normalization of frame embeddings and attractors before performing dot-product to effectively compute cosine similarity (worse performance).
- using cross-attention to compare frame embeddings and attractors instead of dot-product (worse performance).
- as analyzed in [Du et al., 2021, Wang et al., 2023d, Plaquet and Bredin, 2023], using power set encoding to model the diarization problem instead of per-frame per-speakers activities (worse performance). We believe that the reason for this approach not to work with DiaPer is that, when handling many speakers, the number of classes in the power set is too high and most of them are not well represented. This approach has much more potential in scenarios with limited numbers of of speakers as shown in [Plaquet and Bredin, 2023].

Implementations of most of these variants can be found in our public repositories in https: //github.com/BUTSpeechFIT/DiaPer to enable others to easily experiment with them.

#### Two-speaker telephone conversations

Even though DiaPer is specifically designed for the scenario with multiple speakers, as it is common practice, in this section we first present results for the 2-speaker telephone scenario. It should be noted that both EEND-EDA and DiaPer, when trained only with 2-speaker SC, learn to only output activities for 2 speakers, even if they are prepared to handle a variable number of them. Figure 4.23 compares the performance on two sets before and after FT to the in-domain development set. Both EEND-EDA and DiaPer were trained on the same data with 5 different parameter initializations to produce the error bars. Results show that DiaPer can reach better performance on both datasets, both with and without FT.



Figure 4.23: DER (%) for telephone recordings of Callhome and DIHARD3 conversational telephone speech (CTS) with 2 speakers.

Table 4.15 presents a comparison between EEND-EDA and DiaPer without and with FT. We can see that even though DiaPer is devised to perform better when handling multiple speakers, it can reach a better performance than its EEND-EDA counterpart on the 2-speaker telephone scenario, with fewer parameters.

Table 4.15: DER (%) comparison on CH2-2spk. EEND-EDA and DiaPer are trained with SC with 2 speakers per conversation. For each method (EEND-EDA and DiaPer), the best model on CH1-2spk out of 5 runs is selected.

System	#Param. (Million)	Data (kHour)	$rac{No}{FT}$	With FT
EEND-EDA DiaPer	$\begin{array}{c} 6.4 \\ 4.6 \end{array}$	$2.5 \\ 2.5$	$8.77 \\ 8.05$	$7.96 \\ 7.51$

Figure 4.24 presents a comparison between EEND-EDA and DiaPer inference times. Although DiaPer is slower for very short recordings, it can run considerably faster when processing several-minute recordings. This speed-up is given only by the Perceiver-based attractor decoder (instead of the LSTM-based of EEND-EDA) since the rest of the model is the same. Moreover, these results correspond to input downsampling factor of 10; if more precision was required, the length of the frame-embedding sequences would increase which would show further advantage for DiaPer for the same recording lengths. Notably, EEND-EDA has 6.4 million parameters while DiaPer has only 4.6 million showing that the model not only runs faster when processing long sequences but also makes more efficient use of the parameters.



Figure 4.24: Inference time for EEND-EDA and DiaPer for recordings from 1 minute to 1 hour running 5 times each inference with a downsampling factor of 10. The percentage of time taken by DiaPer compared to EEND-EDA is printed in black. The experiment ran on Intel(R) Xeon(R) CPU E5-2680 v4 @ 2.40GHz.

#### Multiple-speakers telephone conversations

Figure 4.25 presents the comparison for recordings with multiple numbers of speakers where EEND-EDA and DiaPer are trained on the same data. Once again, DiaPer presents significant advantages over EEND-EDA both before and after fine-tuning to the development set. Table 4.16 shows the DER for different numbers of speakers per conversation where gains are observed in almost all cases. The largest differences are for recordings with more speakers, suggesting the superiority of DiaPer in handling such situations.



Figure 4.25: DER (%) for CH Part 2 with varying number of speakers.

Table 4.16: DER (%) comparison on CH2. For each method (EEND-EDA and DiaPer), the best model on CH1 out of 5 runs is selected.

System	All	2-spk	3-spk	4-spk	5-spk	6-spk
EEND-EDA + FT CH1	$16.70 \\ 15.29$	$8.99 \\ 7.54$	$\begin{array}{c} 13.84\\ 14.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 24.57\\ 20.84 \end{array}$	$33.10 \\ 33.34$	$46.25 \\ 41.36$
DiaPer + FT CH1	$  \begin{array}{c} 14.86 \\ 13.60 \end{array}  $	9.10 7.39	$12.70 \\ 12.08$	19.18 19.62	29.52 30.25	$41.81 \\ 28.84$

Finally, Table 4.17 shows the comparison of DER components. It can be observed that without fine-tuning, DiaPer does not improve the confusion error of EEND-EDA but rather fixes missed and false alarm (FA) speech. A closer look at the inherent VAD and OSD performances of the two models allows us to see that DiaPer improves considerably the OSD recall with similar OSD precision. Therefore, most of the improvement is related to more accurate overlapped speech detection. Nevertheless, it should be pointed out that precision and recall slightly above 50% are still very low. There is clearly large room for improving the performance in this aspect.

Table 4.17: Comparison on CH2. For each method (EEND-EDA and DiaPer), the best model on CH1 out of 5 runs is selected. DER and its three components, and precision and recall for VAD and OSD performance are reported.

C	DER	Miss	FA	Conf.	VA	AD	09	SD
System	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	P (%)	R (%)	P (%)	R (%)
EEND-EDA + FT CH1	$  \begin{array}{c} 16.70 \\ 15.29 \end{array}  $	$\begin{vmatrix} 7.08 \\ 8.24 \end{vmatrix}$	4.88 2.61	$4.73 \\ 4.44$	$\begin{array}{c} 93.3\\95.8\end{array}$	$97.6 \\ 94.5$	$\begin{vmatrix} 50.0 \\ 63.8 \end{vmatrix}$	$41.9 \\ 38.3$
DiaPer + FT CH1	$  14.86 \\ 13.60  $	6.16 7.80	$3.90 \\ 2.06$	$4.80 \\ 3.74$	93.1 95.4	$98.1 \\ 95.3$	51.5 64.1	$52.1 \\ 44.8$



Figure 4.26: Confusion matrices averaging five models evaluated on SC when adapted for 50 epochs with 2-7 speakers (top) and 1-10 speakers (bottom).

EEND-EDA has been shown to have problems handling several speakers (i.e. not being able to find more than the number seen in training and significantly miscalculating the number of speakers when more than 3 are present in a conversation) [Horiguchi et al., 2021b, Horiguchi et al., 2022a]. To compare DiaPer's performance in this sense, we trained 5 of both such models with the same procedure but different initialization seeds and evaluated them on a set of 100 SC with 10 recordings for each number of speakers from 1 to 10. Confusion matrices between the numbers of real (reference) speakers and the numbers found by the system were calculated for each model. The averages of such confusion matrices for the 5 DiaPer and 5 EEND-EDA models are presented in Figure 4.26. Although both EEND-EDA and DiaPer are trained on the same data with only up to 7 speakers per SC (matrices above), EEND-EDA is able to find more speakers. Yet, DiaPer is considerably more accurate for SC with up to 6 speakers. When both EEND-EDA and DiaPer are trained with up to 10 speakers per SC (matrices below), we can see that DiaPer is still considerably more accurate. However, its performance is limited when the number of speakers is 8 or more.



Figure 4.27: Confusion matrices for DiaPer adapted to telephony SC with 1 to 10 speakers per recording using different sequence lengths to create the batches: 1 minute (top) and 4 minutes (bottom).

One element to consider is that all the models above were trained and adapted using batches of 1-minute-long sequences. The 1-minute training examples were randomly selected from the simulated conversations so it is possible that not all speakers in the conversations appeared in each sample. Furthermore, it is less likely for 10 speakers in a simulated conversation to be heard in only one minute. For this reason, we also performed adaptation of one model using 4-minute-long sequences. While sequences of 1 minute have on average 3.6 speakers, sequences of 4 minutes have 5.2, allowing the model to see a higher number of speakers per training sample on average during training. A comparison is presented in Figure 4.27 after 50 and 100 epochs training with 1 and 4 minutes sequences. A slight improvement is observed when using 4 minutes after 50 epochs but such advantage increases after 100 epochs. Nevertheless, it is observed that the model never predicts 10 speakers. This is most likely due to the low percentage of 4-minute sequences containing 10 active speakers, which amount for 8.7% of all sequences drawn from the training set in one epoch.

#### Are the attractors' validity predictors necessary?

EEND-EDA is trained using two losses: one targets minimizing the per-speaker per-frame activity errors with BCE and the other is used to find the correct number of valid attractors. The former is calculated only for the valid attractors and the latter is calculated for the valid attractors and the first invalid one. DiaPer is trained with the same two losses but with a fixed number of attractors A, which is an upper bound on the expected number of speakers. In contrast to EEND-EDA, with DiaPer, both losses are calculated for all A attractors, independently of which ones are valid or invalid.

During inference, EEND-EDA decodes the attractors until one of them has existence probability below a certain threshold and the number of speakers in the output is directly determined by how many attractors are decoded. DiaPer always returns activities for all A attractors and, since the per-speaker per-frame activities loss is calculated for all of them, the model should be able to determine the number of speakers directly from the posterior activities. While it is possible to use the attractor existence probabilities to decide for which speakers to return activity probabilities (as we did in all experiments), the frame-speaker activities are enforced to be 0 for invalid attractors. Thus, one could wonder if using the attractor existence probabilities is necessary for DiaPer.

We tested this hypothesis on CH1-2spk and CH1. When using DiaPer trained only on SC with 2 speakers and evaluating it on CH1-2spk, the DERs were exactly the same with both inference alternatives: using the attractor existence probabilities to determine the speakers or using the frame-speaker activities to determine the speakers naturally derived from the activities. This was expected since the model had always seen two speakers in each training sample, so it was biased to output that exact number of speakers at inference time. When adapting the model described above to the set consisting of SC with 2 to 7 speakers and evaluating it on CH1, the outputs were not exactly the same, but the errors differed only by 0.01% DER and 0.05% JER. This suggests that the attractors validity predictors might not be necessary for DiaPer, making the inference procedure much simpler than with EEND-EDA.

Nevertheless, having the attractor validity loss might affect the training procedure in DiaPer, perhaps helping it model valid and invalid attractors differently and, therefore, easing the activities prediction task. It might be possible that DiaPer can be trained without the attractors validity predictors (and without their corresponding loss), making the whole training procedure simpler. However, this idea has not been tried and it is left for future work.

#### Wide-band scenarios

Most works on end-to-end models focus on the telephone scenario and use Callhome (which is a paid dataset) as benchmark. Even if Callhome is one of the standard baselines in diarization, we believe that it is popular for EEND training also because synthetic data (needed for training such models) match this condition quite well. However, there are many wide-band scenarios of interest when performing diarization and only a few authors have analyzed their systems on a wide variety of them [Bredin, 2023, Plaquet and Bredin, 2023]. Following this direction, and pursuing a more democratic field, in this section we use DiaPer on a wide variety of corpora (most of which are of public and free access) and show the performance for the same model (before and after FT) across domains.

We have observed that DiaPer performed better than EEND-EDA so the following results are only presented for DiaPer. An exhaustive comparison with state-of-the-art results is presented in Chapter 5.

Since most of the scenarios include more than two speakers per conversation, all DiaPer models were adapted to the set of 1-10 speakers per recording using sequences of 4 minutes. The 8 kHz model was trained on telephony SC and two 16 kHz models were used. Both wideband models were trained on LibriSpeech-based SC where one model had 10 attractors (like the 8 kHz model) and another had 20 attractors to allow for more speakers. All models are evaluated without and with FT. For corpora where a multi-speaker training set is available, this set is used for FT until no more improvements are observed on the development set. If no training set is available, the dev set is used for FT until the performance on the test set does not improve further. Therefore, results on these latter corpora (denoted in gray in Table 4.18) should be taken with a grain of salt.

Looking at the results in Table 4.18, in some cases, there was overfitting when performing FT on the development set (since those corpora did not have a training set). In DipCo, this is most likely due to the limited amount of data. In VoxConverse, the distribution of the number of speakers per recording is skewed towards more speakers in the test set and FT on the dev set makes the model find fewer speakers than without FT. Moreover, recordings with more speakers are longer, making the overall error higher after FT on the test set. As for AliMeeting near, DiaPer (20 attractors) has slightly worse performance on the test set but the decision to stop the FT was made observing the performance on the dev set, for which there were improvements.

DiaPer, like any end-to-end system, is very sensitive to the type of training data. This is highly noticeable in the high error rates before fine-tuning for all far-field scenarios: AISHELL-4, AliMeeting far, AMI array, CHiME6 and DipCo; and relatively lower errors for exclusively close-talk scenarios: AliMeeting near, AMI headset, Mixer6 and in the comparison between DIHARD2 and DIHARD3 full where the latter contains a large portion of telephone conversations. All SC (used to train the models) are generated with speech captured from short distances (telephone for the 8 kHz system and LibriSpeech for the 16 kHz ones). Use of reverberation as part of SC generation could improve the situation, but it has not been explored so far in this context. Not having enough data matching the test scenario is a strong drawback for the fine-tuning of end-to-end models as observed with DipCo and VoxConverse. Conversely, Mixer6 and RAMC with large amounts of FT data and relatively simple setups are among the scenarios with the largest relative improvement given by the FT.

The main goal of this comparison was to present a unified framework evaluated across different corpora. More tailored models could be trained if we used SC with specific num-

bers of speakers per recording (matching the evaluation data). Likewise, the output postprocessing (subsampling and median filter) could be adapted for each dataset. This should definitely result in better performance and is left for future work.

Regarding the comparison between 8 kHz and 16 kHz DiaPers, in most cases, the latter reaches better performance both without and with FT. Even though the 8 kHz model was trained with more conversational data, this does not provide advantages over the 16 kHz model trained on LibriSpeech-based SC. However, the effect of FT is in most cases (for both sampling rates) considerably large, reducing the gap between 8 kHz and 16 kHz models. Creating synthetic training data that resembles real ones remains an open challenge for most scenarios.

With respect to the number of attractors in the model, we can observe that overall having more of them is beneficial. This is actually not a drawback for DiaPer since the quantity of attractors does not impact severely on the number of parameters or computations. It is left for future work to explore the effect of larger numbers of attractors (e.g. 40 or 80).

Table 4.18: DER (%) comparison on a variety of test sets. All results are with DiaPer using models with 10 or 20 attractors. Results in gray were obtained running the FT for best performance on the test set so they could be overoptimistic.

Sampling rate	8 k	Hz	16 kHz						
# attractors	$10 \ \mathrm{attractors}$		10 at	tractors	20  attractors				
Fine-tuning	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes			
AISHELL-4	49.29	42.66	48.21	41.43	47.86	31.30			
AliMeeting far	45.40	31.60	38.67	32.60	34.35	26.27			
AliMeeting near	33.70	28.93	28.19	27.82	23.90	24.44			
AMI array	54.69	50.49	57.07	49.75	52.29	50.97			
AMI headset	41.31	36.41	36.36	32.94	35.08	30.49			
CHiME6	78.51	68.54	78.25	70.77	77.51	69.94			
DIHARD2	49.92	34.10	43.75	32.97	44.51	31.23			
DIHARD3 full	38.24	24.08	34.21	24.12	34.82	22.77			
DipCo	64.33	45.09	48.26	Overfit	43.37	Overfit			
Mixer6	19.11	14.69	21.03	13.41	18.51	10.99			
MSDWild	34.62	17.99	35.69	15.46	25.07	14.59			
RAMC	32.61	20.90	38.05	21.11	32.08	18.69			
VoxConverse	32.37	31.63	23.20	Overfit	22.10	Overfit			

#### 4.3.4 Possible extensions

Even though DiaPer presents some advantages over EEND-EDA, there are still a few aspects where it could be improved. One of them is that currently, the attractors are exclusively defined in terms of the frame embeddings. However, the frame embeddings could also be improved if they were adapted using the attractors. This is done up to a certain extent with the frame encoder conditioning and it has a significant effect on the results as shown in Table 4.14. However, more explicit configurations could be devised. Just like Perceiver blocks iteratively transform the latents attending to the frame embeddings, the frame embeddings could be iteratively transformed by another chain of Perceivers that attend to the attractors. This would result in a more symmetric architecture that could lead to better frame embeddings and, therefore, to better performance.

Another possible extension for DiaPer could focus on making it even more light-weight. We have shown that with a relatively low number of parameters, it is possible to achieve competitive performance. Another option would be to try parameter tying (i.e. utilizing the same parameters in different layers) in the Perceiver-based attractor decoder or the frame encoder which could lead to similar performance with substantially fewer parameters.

It was commented in Section 4.3.3 that the attractors existence probabilities might not be necessary to train DiaPer. This idea could be explored further.

One aspect that was not investigated thoroughly in this work is how to better define the training sets. For example, training with specific numbers of speakers or acoustic augmentations matching the evaluation data could lead to better suited models. This remains a rather unexplored facet of training end-to-end models but could lead to better performance and/or faster and more efficient training procedures.

Related to the training sets is actually the training data per se. We analyzed the quality of simulated conversations which resemble real conversations better than previous approaches. However, the acoustic quality of the synthetic data is extremely relevant, especially for wide-band cases where the mismatch with real corpora is very large. Given the ample variety of acoustic scenarios, one option would be to create tailored setups that match the evaluation set. For example, better simulation of far-field recordings should help with meetings or dinner part scenarios where speakers are normally far from the microphones. Given that available data used to generate synthetic training data are usually collected with near-field microphones, they could be carefully reverberated and the volume adjusted to simulate the effects observed in real rooms.

## 4.4 Final remarks

In this chapter, we covered end-to-end diarization systems, starting with an overview of existing approaches and special emphasis on the EEND framework.

Then, we focused on the generation of synthetic training data. End-to-end models require large amounts of diarization-annotated data but due to the scarcity of annotated real data, the compromise solution consists in generating synthetic recordings. We proposed an approach that allows such models to obtain better performance and reduces the need for fine-tuning on telephone conversations.

Finally, we presented DiaPer as an alternative to the most popular end-to-end model that can handle multiple speakers. We showed that it can achieve better performance even with fewer parameters and performed a thorough comparison between both approaches. Our approach - DiaPer - performs better than the popular EEND-EDA mainly in handling overlapped speech and it can find the number of speakers in a conversation more accurately.

# Chapter 5

# Conclusion

In this chapter, we present a final comparison between a cascaded system (based on VBx, as described in Chapter 3.2) and an end-to-end system (DiaPer, as described in Chapter 4.3). The intention is to provide insights about the advantages of each approach across different scenarios. We also compare the results of these approaches with the best-published results at the time of writing this thesis. Then, we conclude the thesis with a brief summary of what are the challenges that we believe need to be addressed in the future of speaker diarization.

# 5.1 Modular systems versus end-to-end systems

Table 5.1 presents an exhaustive comparison with all competitive systems on the Callhome (2 speakers) dataset at the time of publication under the same conditions: all speech is evaluated and no oracle information is used. Data refers to the number of hours of data for supervision. For end-to-end models, it can be real or synthetic data and for the clustering-based method, it consists of all data used to train the x-vector extractor, VAD and OSD. Methods are divided into groups depending on if they are single or two-stage. Even though DiaPer does not present the best performance among all approaches, it reaches competitive results with fewer parameters and even without FT. On the other hand, the VBx-based method falls behind since its performance in handling overlapped speech is worse.

System	Type	Code	#Param. (Million)	Data (kHour)	No FT	With FT
$\overline{VAD + VBx + OSD}$	С	$\checkmark$	17.9	9	N/A	9.92
EEND-EDA [Horiguchi et al., 2020]	1-S (I)	$\checkmark$	6.4	2.4	_	8.07
EEND-EDA Conformer [Yamashita et al., 2022]	1-S (I)		4	2.5	9.65	7.18
CB-EEND [Liu et al., 2021]	1-S		4.2	4.7	—	6.82
DIVE [Zeghidour et al., 2021]	1-S (I)		??	2	_	6.7
RX-EEND [Yu et al., 2022b]	1-S		12.8	2.4	—	7.37
EDA-TS-VAD [Wang et al., 2023a]	1-S (I)		16.1	16	_	7.04
EEND-OLA [Wang et al., 2023d]	1-S		$\approx 6.7$	15.5	—	6.91
EEND-NA [Fujita et al., 2023]	1-S		5.7	2.5	8.81	7.77
EEND-NA-deep [Fujita et al., 2023]	1-S		10.9	2.5	8.52	7.12
EEND-IAAE [Hao et al., $2023$ ] (it=2)	1-S (I)	$\checkmark$	8.5	2.5	13.8	7.58
EEND-IAAE [Hao et al., $2023$ ] (it=5)	1-S (I)	$\checkmark$	8.5	2.5	—	7.36
AED-EEND [Chen et al., 2023b]	1-S (I)		11.6	2.4	—	6.79
AED-EEND-EE [Chen et al., 2023a]	1-S (I)		11.6	24.7	—	5.69
EEND-VC [Kinoshita et al., 2021a]	2-S		$\approx 8$	4.2	_	7.18
WavLM + EEND-VC [Chen et al., $2022a$ ]	2-S	$\checkmark$	$\approx \! 840$	8	—	6.46
EEND-NAA [Rybicka et al., 2022]	2-S (I)		8	2.4	—	7.83
Graph-PIT-EEND-VC [Kinoshita et al., 2022b]	2-S		$\approx 5.5$	5.5	—	7.1
EEND-OLA + SOAP [Wang et al., 2023d]	2-S	$\checkmark$	15.6	19.4	—	5.73
EEND-EDA	1-S (I)	$\checkmark$	6.4	2.5	8.77	7.96
DiaPer	1-S	$\checkmark$	4.6	2.5	8.05	7.51

Table 5.1: DER (%) comparison on CH2-2spk. For our results, we selected the model with the best performance on CH1 out of 5 runs. Type can be clustering (C), 1-stage (1-S) or 2-stage (2-S) system. (I) stands for iterative, meaning there is an iterative process at the inference time.

Table 5.2 shows the results when handling multiple speakers per conversation in the Callhome dataset. Results show that even if DiaPer has a competitive performance, many methods can reach considerably better results. The main advantage of DiaPer is its lightweight nature, having the least number of parameters in comparison with all other methods. Exploring larger versions of DiaPer (i.e. increasing the model dimension) which could lead to better performance in multi-speaker scenarios is left for future research.

Interestingly, in this scenario, the VBx-based method reaches similar and competitive results. In spite of its modular nature, the results are still on par with many end-to-end models showing the relevance of these types of systems even at the current time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>It is worth mentioning that out of the 5 runs, the best DER on Part 2 was 7.38 but that did not correspond to the lowest DER on Part 1. Analogously, for EEND-EDA it was 7.78.

System	Type	Code	#Param. (Million)	Data (kHour)	No FT	With FT
$\overline{VAD + VBx + OSD}$	$\mathbf{C}$	$\checkmark$	17.9	9	N/A	13.63
EEND-EDA [Horiguchi et al., 2020]	1-S (I)	$\checkmark$	6.4	15.5	_	15.29
EDA-TS-VAD [Wang et al., 2023a]	1-S (I)		16.1	16	_	11.18
EEND-OLA [Wang et al., 2023d]	1-S	$\checkmark$	6.7	15.5	_	12.57
AED-EEND [Chen et al., 2023b]	1-S (I)		11.6	15.5	_	14.22
AED-EEND-EE [Chen et al., 2023a]	1-S (I)		11.6	24.7	—	10.08
EEND-VC [Kinoshita et al., 2021a]	2-S		$\approx 8$	4.2	_	12.49
EEND-GLA [Horiguchi et al., 2021b]	2-S		10.7	15.5	_	11.84
WavLM + EEND-VC [Chen et al., 2022a]	2-S	$\checkmark$	$\approx 840$	8	_	10.35
Graph-PIT-EEND-VC [Kinoshita et al., 2022b]	2-S		$\approx 5.5$	5.5	_	13.5
EEND-OLA + SOAP [Wang et al., 2023d]	2-S	$\checkmark$	15.6	19.4	_	10.14
EEND-VC MS-VBx [Delcroix et al., 2023]	2-S		$\approx 840$	5.5	_	10.4
EEND-EDA	1-S (I)	$\checkmark$	6.4	15	16.70	15.29
DiaPer	1-S	$\checkmark$	4.6	15	14.86	$13.60^{2}$
Scoring with	collar 0	s				
$\overline{VAD + VBx + OSD}$	С	$\checkmark$	17.9	4	N/A	26.18
pyannote 2.1[Bredin, 2023]	2-S	$\checkmark$	23.6	2.9	32.4	29.3
EEND-EDA	1-S (I)	$\checkmark$	6.4	2.5	28.73	25.77
DiaPer	1-S	$\checkmark$	4.6	2.5	27.84	$24.16^3$

Table 5.2: DER comparison on CH2. For our results, we selected the model with the best performance on CH1 out of 5 runs. Type can be clustering (C), 1-stage (1-S) or 2-stage (2-S) system. (I) stands for iterative, meaning there is an iterative process at the inference time.

Table 5.3 presents a comparison of a VBx-clustering-based system, DiaPer, and the best published results for each of the wide-band datasets described in Section 3.3.2. In comparison with the best results published at the time of writing the thesis, DiaPer performs considerably worse in most of the scenarios. However, it should be noted that in many cases, the best results correspond to systems submitted to challenges which usually consist of the fusion of a few carefully tuned models. Even if in most cases the performance is not on par with other approaches, DiaPer's final performance is very competitive for MSDWild and RAMC. We can also see that even a standard cascaded system can reach competitive results on a few datasets and perform better than DiaPer in approximately half of the scenarios: AISHELL-4, AliMeeting near, AMI array, AMI headset, DIHARD2, DIHARD3 full, RAMC and VoxConverse. Again, this shows the importance and relevance of these systems as baselines nowadays even when end-to-end solutions are the most studied in the community.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ It is worth mentioning that out of the 5 runs, the best DER on Part 2 was 13.16 but that did not correspond to the lowest DER on Part 1.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ It is worth mentioning that out of the 5 runs, the best DER on Part 2 was 23.81 but that did not correspond to the lowest DER on Part 1.

DiaPer (20 att.)Corpus VAD+VBx+OSD Best published results No FT With FT AISHELL-4 15.8447.8631.30 16.76 [1] 14.0 [2] 13.2 [3] AliMeeting far 28.8434.3526.27 $\underline{23.8}$  [4]  $\underline{23.3}$  [5]  $\underline{23.5}$  [6] AliMeeting near 22.5923.9024.4434.61 52.2950.97 $\underline{22.2}$  [7] <u>22.0</u> [8] AMI array 19.53 [9] 22.42 AMI headset 35.0830.49<u>18.0</u> [10] 13.00 [12] <u>16.95</u> [11] CHiME6 70.4277.5169.94 $\overline{32.46}$  [13]  $\overline{27.25}$  [14]  $\overline{25.11}$  [15] DIHARD2 26.6744.5131.23 26.4 [16]  $\underline{26.88}$  [17]  $\underline{24.64}$  [18] DIHARD3 full 20.2834.82 22.77 <u>17.32</u> [19] 16.94 [20] 16.76 [21] DipCo 49.2243.37Overfit 22.36 [22]  $\overline{22.04}$  [23] 16.36 [24] 7.27 [25] Mixer6 35.6018.5110.996.14 [26] 5.65 [27] **MSDWild** 16.8625.0714.59<u>21.96</u> [28] <u>33.6</u> [29] <u>16.0</u> [30] <u>22.2</u> [30] RAMC 18.1932.08 18.69<u>19.90</u> [31] <u>14.37</u> [32] VoxConverse  $\overline{4.0}$  [33] 6.1222.10Overfit 4.39 [34]  $\overline{4.35}$  [35]

Table 5.3: DER (%) comparison on a variety of test sets. Overlaps are evaluated and oracle VAD is NOT used. <u>Underlined</u> results denote single systems and overlined results correspond to fusions or more complex models. Results in gray were obtained running the FT for best performance on the test set so they could be overoptimistic.

Legend for Table 5.3:

- [1]: [Chen et al., 2022b]
- [2]: [Bredin, 2023]
- [3]: [Plaquet and Bredin, 2023]
- [4]: [Bredin, 2023]
- [5]: [Plaquet and Bredin, 2023]
- [6]: [Raj et al., 2023]
- [7]: [Bredin, 2023]
- [8]: [Plaquet and Bredin, 2023]
- [9]: [He et al., 2023]
- [10]: [Plaquet and Bredin, 2023]
- [11]: [He et al., 2023]
- [12]: [Chen et al., 2023a]
- [13]: [Kamo et al., 2023]
- [14]: [Ye et al., 2023]
- [15]: [Wan et al., 2023]
- [16]: [Delcroix et al., 2023]
- [17]: [Horiguchi et al., 2021a]
- [18]: [Chen et al., 2023a]

- [19]: [He et al., 2023]
- [20]: [Horiguchi et al., 2021c]
- [21]: [He et al., 2023]
- [22]: [Ye et al., 2023]
- [23]: [Wan et al., 2023]
- [24]: [Wan et al., 2023]
- [25]: [Ye et al., 2023]
- [26]: [Wan et al., 2023]
- [27]: [Kamo et al., 2023]
- [28]: [Liu et al., 2022]
- [29]: [Liu and Yu, 2022]
- [30]: [Plaquet and Bredin, 2023]
- [31]: [Yang et al., 2022]
- [32]: [Broughton and Samarakoon, 2023]
- [33]: [Baroudi et al., 2023]
- [34]: [Karamyan and Kirakosyan, 2023]
- [35]: [Wang et al., 2023b]

Table 5.4: Comparison on different sets in terms of DER and its three components, mean speaker counting error, JER, and precision and recall for VAD and OSD performances. DiaPer has 20 attractors and results are after FT (except for DipCo and VoxConverse). All results are obtained with 16 kHz systems except for the results of Callhome where the 8 kHz systems were used.

Compus	Swatom	DER	Miss	FA	Conf.	MS	JER	VAD		OSD	
	System	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	CE	(%)	P (%)	R (%)	P (%)	R (%)
AISHELL-4	VBx	15.84	9.98	1.8	4.06	0.45	23.46	98.4	94.0	66.4	15.5
	DiaPer	31.30	15.33	2.65	13.32	1.75	52.91	98.4	88.3	35.2	15.0
AliMeeting	VBx	28.84	20.64	3.4	4.8	0.15	33.56	96.6	94.2	85.1	27.6
far	DiaPer	26.27	11.08	7.25	7.94	0.3	35.01	97.7	96.5	77.8	62.3
AliMeeting	VBx	22.59	13.19	3.26	6.14	0.1	28.09	96.9	98.0	92.2	54.8
near	DiaPer	24.44	9.83	5.91	8.70	0.25	32.12	98.2	97.5	82.4	65.7
AMI	VBx	34.61	26.12	1.93	6.56	0.5	44.53	98.0	82.8	86.1	25.2
array	DiaPer	50.97	30.96	2.95	17.06	1.63	67.43	97.1	77.1	78.5	24.1
AMI	VBx	22.42	14.06	3.73	4.63	0.31	27.34	96.3	96.9	87.3	52.1
headset	DiaPer	30.49	19.86	4.27	6.36	0.63	42.74	96.7	88.2	77.9	36.1
Callhomo	VBx	13.62	7.69	1.92	4.01	0.31	37.32	93.2	98.6	77.1	37.2
Cannome	$\operatorname{DiaPer}$	13.60	7.80	2.06	3.74	0.26	30.32	95.4	95.3	64.1	44.8
CU;ME6	VBx	70.42	47.72	0.91	21.79	3	75.38	98.3	67.7	89.1	7.4
UHIME0	$\operatorname{DiaPer}$	69.94	35.3	12.77	21.87	1.75	79.16	88.7	85.2	47.5	21.1
	VBx	26.59	14.14	4.5	7.95	1.01	48.41	95.9	93.1	66.1	23.4
DIHARD2	DiaPer	31.23	14.98	6.98	9.27	0.54	57.00	95.5	90.9	50.2	33.7
DIHARD3	VBx	20.28	10.15	3.99	6.14	0.6	38.15	96.8	95.8	74.1	38.0
full	DiaPer	22.77	11.3	5.91	5.56	0.72	44.58	96.7	93.5	58.7	45.9
DipCo	VBx	49.22	40.66	1.05	7.51	2	61.93	98.6	68.1	71.0	6.0
DipCo	DiaPer	43.37	15.46	9.72	18.19	0.8	63.05	95.8	94.0	57.4	37.5
Mirror	VBx	35.6	21.74	12.43	1.43	0.04	39.35	99.5	82.0	13.6	14.0
Mixero	$\operatorname{DiaPer}$	10.99	5.15	4.99	0.85	0	18.38	97.9	99.7	46.2	36.1
MSDWild	VBx	16.86	5.81	2.75	8.3	1.05	56.94	94.2	97.0	61.9	33.4
	$\operatorname{DiaPer}$	14.59	5.25	3.61	5.73	0.44	43.14	94.6	95.5	56.9	45.1
RAMC	VBx	18.19	0.39	13.15	4.65	0	19.37	89.9	99.6	0.0	14.4
	DiaPer	18.69	4.41	5.34	8.94	0.12	24.95	94.9	95.6	0.0	0.0
VovConvorco	VBx	6.12	1.6	2.02	2.5	1.12	29.44	96.5	98.5	62.5	52.9
voxConverse	$\operatorname{DiaPer}$	22.1	6.99	4.93	10.18	2.52	57.65	94.4	93.1	32.7	44.0

Finally, Table 5.4 compares VBx and DiaPer, the two approaches that have been developed in the context of this thesis, using different metrics across all datasets used in the thesis. The mean speaker counting error (MSCE) is reported, DER is presented with its three components and finally, the VAD and OSD performances are detailed for each model. For VBx, these are given by the VAD and OSD models used while for DiaPer those performances are derived from the outputs since there are no specific VAD or OSD modules.

We first discuss the results for each dataset separately and then common patterns observed for all of them.

- AISHELL-4: the clustering-based approach presents far better results than DiaPer. This is observed across all metrics (DER, JER and MSCE). The large percentage of missed speech for DiaPer is connected to its VAD capabilities, possibly due to the fact that this dataset was collected with far-field microphones. At the same time, the clustering-based approach has much higher precision for the same OSD recall, partly explaining the increased FA speech and confusion in DiaPer. Furthermore, this dataset presents 5.8 speakers per recording on average and while VBx finds 5.5, DiaPer finds 4.1 on average. This certainly explains the high confusion error in DiaPer and the more-than-twice increase in terms of JER.
- AliMeeting far: DiaPer presents almost 10% relative improvement over the VBxbased approach and this can be traced mostly to overlap. While it is true that DiaPer performs slightly better in terms of VAD, the twice better recall regarding OSD with respect to the clustering-based approach gives substantial gains. This provides a clear advantage in AliMeeting where overlapped speech accounts for more than 18% of the time in the test set. In this scenario, the ability of VBx to find the number of speakers more accurately does not compensate DiaPer's advantage in handling overlap.
- AliMeeting near: unlike the far-field scenario, when using near-field microphones, the clustering-based approach is more than 5% relative better than DiaPer. The differences in terms of MSCE are similar to the far-field case but with near-field microphones, the OSD performance slightly improves for DiaPer while it improves substantially for the clustering-based system. The increased OSD recall enables the latter to considerably reduce the missed speech and the higher OSD precision also explains the lower FA.
- AMI array: both methods have very low recall percentages in terms of VAD, which contrasts with most other datasets. This is explained by the far-field characteristics of this dataset. The VAD system used as part of the clustering-based system is more robust to this situation and this explains the lower missed speech percentage with respect to DiaPer. This dataset presents 3.9 speakers on average in the test set and the clustering-based approach is relatively accurate (as seen in terms of MSCE) finding 3.4 while DiaPer only finds 2.3 on average. This implies that significant portions of speech are assigned to wrong speakers, explaining the high confusion error for DiaPer and the considerably worse JER.
- AMI headset: as expected, systems can perform better in the close-talk scenario than in the far-field and this is observed across all metrics (DER, JER, MSCE) for AMI headset vs. AMI array. However, DiaPer still struggles to find speech in the closetalk case as seen in the relatively low VAD recall. AMI presents recordings where different speakers have very different loudness levels, even if recorded with close-talk microphones. End-to-end models are considerably biased towards the training data and in this case, simulated conversations were generated using recordings from LibriSpeech for which recordings tend to have similar levels of loudness. We hypothesize

that creating recordings with more variability in loudness could help in this particular scenario. Interestingly, the OSD performance for the clustering-based approach is considerably better than for DiaPer. However, it should be noted that AMI was utilized to train the OSD system used as part of the clustering-based approach and this could explain these differences. The combination of better VAD, OSD and more accurate speaker counting certainly explain the better performance of the clustering-based approach in this dataset.

- Callhome: both systems perform almost the same regarding DER. However, the slight advantage in terms of MSCE for DiaPer shows that it finds the numbers of speakers more accurately and this translates into a considerable difference in terms of JER. Even though this dataset can have up to 6 speakers in one conversation, most of the recordings have only 2 and on average there are only 2.6 speakers per conversation.
- CHiME6: both systems perform equally poorly. This is perhaps the most challenging scenario among all datasets considered in this work, with very long conversations happening in different rooms throughout a single session, with recordings captured with far-field devices and data presenting the highest percentage of overlap (about 29% in the test set). However, the two systems fail due to different reasons. Even though all recordings have exactly 4 speakers, VBx finds on average 7 speakers while DiaPer finds 2.3 on average. This certainly explains the very high confusion errors and JER. VBx tends to separate the speech segments of one speaker into more than one label and eventually confuse them and DiaPer tends to assign segments of speech from different speakers to the same label. It should be noted that this dataset is very challenging and most of the time there are background noises that sound equally loud as the (usually quiet) speakers. Even though both systems are trained with data augmentation schemes including background noises, it seems insufficient. Using a speech enhancement module prior to the application of either system could help in both cases. This could also benefit the models regarding their OSD capabilities and especially regarding VAD where the performance is substandard.
- DIHARD2: the clustering-based approach presents around 15% DER relative improvement over DiaPer; however, the latter finds the correct number of speakers more accurately. This set is composed of recordings from a variety of domains and while the number of speakers per recording can vary from 1 to 9, on average there are 3.4 speakers and 38% of the recordings contain only 2 speakers. Even though VBx finds on average 2.5 speakers and is on average closer than DiaPer (with 2.2 on average) to the reference, it is almost twice less accurate according to MSCE. It seems that DiaPer is in general better able to handle recordings with fewer speakers and this is beneficial in this scenario with most recordings having very few speakers (78%) of recordings contain 4 or less speakers). Nevertheless, the clustering-based approach performs substantially better in terms of DER and this is mainly due to the lower FA and confusion errors. DIHARD2 is among the datasets with lowest percentage of overlap. Even though the OSD performance of both systems is far from ideal, the OSD for the clustering-based approach operates at a more "conservative" operating point with higher precision and lower recall than DiaPer. Given the low percentage of overlap in the test set (below 7%), this means that finding less overlap is eventually more beneficial than finding more, which would potentially result in higher FA and more confusion errors as seen in this case with DiaPer.

- DIHARD3: Similar to DIHARD2, the clustering-based approach performs better than DiaPer. This dataset presents many similitudes with DIHARD2, where the main differences are the removal of day-long recordings with vocalizations from babies and their environments and the addition of conversational telephone speech which accounts for almost one quarter of the recordings in the whole set. The removal of very challenging recordings and addition of much easier ones explains the decrease in errors for both systems with respect to DIHARD2. The average number of speakers in this set is 2.9 and VBx finds 2.4 while DiaPer finds 2.2 on average. Having 61% of the files with 2 speakers presents a simpler scenario possibly explaining why VBx is substantially more accurate than with DIHARD2. Regarding VAD and OSD, both systems perform better, most likely due to the high percentage of "easy" telephone conversations. However, once again, the conservative OSD in the clustering-based approach is most likely the reason for certain advantage of this method over DiaPer.
- DipCo: DiaPer presents more than 10% DER relative improvement over the clusteringbased approach; however, this is certainly due to the low VAD recall in the latter. This datasets presents a very similar scenario to CHiME6 with far-field microphones capturing dinner-party conversations where speech is very quiet and noises relatively loud. Once again, even though each conversation has exactly 4 speakers, VBx finds on average 5.6 speakers and DiaPer finds 3.2, therefore making DiaPer more accurate in terms of MSCE. Unlike for CHiME6, DiaPer reaches a reasonable VAD performance in DipCo and this explains the reduced DER. However, if a VAD more suited for this scenario was used for the clustering-based approach, this method would most likely reach even better performance since more than 40% of the DER corresponds to missed speech.
- Mixer6: DiaPer presents far better results than the clustering-based approach. This dataset presents one of the easiest scenarios among all in this work: all conversations have 2 speakers and they consist of interviews in quiet environments. However, the conversations were recorded with a distant microphone so some speech segments are very quiet. We hypothesize that this caused the VAD in the clustering-based approach to miss a substantial amount of speech and this impacted the performance of the system quite significantly. DiaPer, alternatively, presents a remarkable performance in terms of VAD and most of the errors are due to overlapped speech since it finds the right number of speakers in all recordings.
- MSDWild: DiaPer has more than 10% DER relative improvement with respect to the clustering-based approach while more than halving the MSCE. This dataset contains recordings with 2 to 4 speakers and 2.6 on average. VBx finds only 1.6 on average while DiaPer is more accurate with 2.3 on average. The recordings in this dataset correspond to videos from different sources and a high percentage of them have background music. At the same time, recordings are very short: 72 s on average. With VBx, almost half of the recordings are labeled with only one speaker (in spite of all of them having at least 2). We hypothesize that this is due to very short recordings which imply few samples for each speaker are available. These combined factors possibly confuse VBx to believe that there is a single speaker.
- RAMC: both systems perform very similarly in terms of DER; however, VBx is slightly more accurate finding the correct number of speakers (no mistakes at all) and this

probably explains the JER differences. Similarly to Mixer6, this dataset presents a very simple scenario of telephone conversations between two people. However, unlike Mixer6, close-talk microphones are utilized in this set, therefore imposing less challenging acoustic conditions which most likely explain why the VAD in the clustering-based approach performs substantially better than in Mixer6.

• VoxConverse: the clustering-based approach performs substantially better than DiaPer in all evaluation metrics. This dataset not only has the most variety in terms of numbers of speakers per recording but it also presents a higher average number of them in the test set with 6.5. DiaPer finds 4.6 speakers on average while VBx finds 5.7 and this explains to great extent the very high confusion error for DiaPer: finding fewer speakers means that, if detected, their speech is necessarily assigned to wrong speakers. This, combined with the low precision in terms of OSD, increases considerably the error when handling multiple speakers. It should be noted that in this dataset, some videos correspond to talk-shows or news shows where spectators whoop or laugh and these segments are sometimes detected as speech. Some recordings have background music with singers and these are not labeled in the reference annotations. It is debatable if those segments should be considered speech or not but, at any rate, more tailored systems should be trained for such situations, possibly by generating training data accordingly.

As observed in the discussions above, building a common system capable of dealing with different datasets presents several challenges for both clustering-based and end-to-end systems. It should be noted that both systems were fine-tuned using in-domain data for each dataset; however, VAD and OSD systems in the clustering-based approach were used with their standard configurations, i.e. without any adaptation. This implies that it might be possible to improve the performance for some datasets if, for example, we fine-tuned the hyperparameters of the VAD and OSD systems using their corresponding training sets. At the same time, these systems were trained on large amounts of data, probably leading to more robust models and that might be preferable in many cases. In this sense, end-toend models present the advantage of being more easily adaptable to a particular scenario. However, as seen in these comparisons, clustering-based approaches can be more robust to certain challenging conditions and, therefore, lead to better performance.

If one divides the datasets into those with more than 4 speakers (AISHELL-4, Callhome, DIHARD2, DIHARD3 full, and VoxConverse), and those with is up to 4 speakers per conversation (AliMeeting, AMI, CHiME6, DipCo, Mixer6, MSDWild, and RAMC), we can observe some interesting patterns. The clustering approach obtains better DER in all sets in the first group (except for Callhome where the performance is about the same for both approaches). Regarding MSCE, the same pattern holds except for DIHARD2 where DiaPer has a lower error. In these datasets, the DER with DiaPer is higher mainly in terms of confusion error and most likely due to worse handling of overlapped speech (note the lower OSD precision and increased FA and confusion errors). When observing the results for the second group of datasets with limited numbers of speakers, DiaPer shows better performance in some of them (DipCo, Mixer6 and MSDWild) and the clustering approach reaches better results for others (AliMeeting near, AMI array and headset) while both perform similarly in the remaining sets.

Since JER is calculated without a collar, it can provide a common ground for comparing performances across datasets. We can observe that datasets with few and a fixed amount of speakers such as Mixer6 and RAMC allow for much lower JER (since they only have 2

speakers) than datasets with more variability: see VoxConverse, DIHARD2 and DIHARD3 full for which DERs are reasonably low but JERs are much higher. It should be noted that depending on the final application, one metric can be preferred over the other one. JER gives equal weight to all speakers so even those who speak very little in a conversation with more than ten participants will be very relevant for the metric. In contrast, DER does not penalize missing not-so-active speakers as long as most of the speech is correctly labeled.

In general, differences between the two approaches are larger for JER than for DER (which could be partially influenced by the lack of forgiveness collar) and the better approach regarding DER is usually the better according to JER.

In order to shed more light on the DER comparisons, Figure 5.1 contains plots with confidence intervals based on bootstrap [Efron and Tibshirani, 1994]<sup>4</sup> for the DER values. Given N recordings in a test set, the test set is sampled with replacement N times to obtain a new test set of the same size as the original (where some recordings could be missing and others could be repeated) and the DER is calculated over this set for a given system. This is repeated 10000 times to obtain an empirical distribution of the DER for the system. Computing the 2.5 and 97.5 percentiles provides an estimated range where the system's performance will fall for 95% of the test sets of size N.

Although differences of a few DER points are observed for many datasets, the confidence intervals do not allow us to claim that such differences are significant in most cases. For example, the more than 10% relative improvement for the clustering approach on both DIHARD2 and DIHARD3 full is not supported by disjunct confidence intervals. While in challenges teams always pursue the lowest error in the test set, we should not forget that small differences are probably not enough to claim that one system is really better than another. Moreover, sets with very few files and/or very few hours are not very good proxies for such comparisons. One can observe how for DipCo the intervals are very long, most likely heavily influenced by the limited amount of files in the set. Finally, this analysis also allows us to compare the variability one can expect with different methods if the test set is changed. For example, while the DER for both approaches on Callhome is virtually the same, the clustering-based method shows a shorter interval and it should be preferred for a real application on files with similar characteristics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>We computed the intervals based on [Ferrer and Riera, 2023].



Figure 5.1: Confidence intervals for  $\alpha = 0.05$  with bootstrapping using 10000 samples. The red dot denotes the DERs as shown in Table 5.4 and the segments mark the intervals. "C" corresponds to the clustering-based method and "D" to DiaPer.
## 5.2 Moving forward

As discussed in previous chapters, the last quinquennial has seen several changes in the field of speaker diarization. From adopting x-vectors in clustering-based approaches and abandoning speaker change detection in favor of uniform segmentation to the introduction of end-to-end models and single- or two-stage systems.

While a few years ago it was common practice to evaluate systems (even in the context of challenges) assuming oracle voice activity detection, systems nowadays are expected to provide a full diarization solution. Obtaining good VAD performance is plausible in most scenarios and the quality of x-vector clustering has allowed to obtain remarkable performance in many situations. The main challenge in recordings captured with closetalk microphones and or quiet environments has become dealing with overlapped speech. However, this is not the case for more complex scenarios (i.e. far-field recordings, strong background noises).

End-to-end systems have emerged partly to address the challenges posed by overlapped speech. These methods provide much better performance in segments with overlap and provide good VAD performance without the need for external modules. However, end-toend systems have considerably worse performance on recordings with many speakers and are outperformed by clustering-based systems in such scenarios. Furthermore, memory consumption can be a limiting factor in very long conversations for end-to-end systems.

Currently, the best compromise seems to be to use two-stage systems where an end-toend model is run on relatively short segments, therefore handling VAD and overlap and a clustering-based second step reconciles the local decisions and allows for handling several speakers more accurately and longer recordings more efficiently.

How to train these models is still an open problem. End-to-end models are "data hungry" by nature and training data have to be generated artificially. However, they are also very biased towards the data seen during training and the performance on some scenarios is far from useful. Generating training data appropriate for different scenarios is still a challenge. In contrast, clustering-based methods, nowadays based on speaker embeddings extraction, are very robust to different conditions and can leverage different sources of supervision without the need for synthetic data. How to combine these two aspects, namely to be able to train models in an end-to-end fashion while taking advantage of the supervision that embedding extractors are usually trained on, can be an avenue for better performing systems.

In this sense, both end-to-end and clustering-based approaches can complement each other in the following years even if not combined per se. On one hand, speaker embedding extractors tailored for diarization that can cope with silences and overlapped speech can help to bridge the gap and lead to clustering-based approaches that can deal with all aspects of diarization. On the other hand, end-to-end methods struggle to handle different scenarios so building speech encoders that are trained with a wide variety of data (as done for speaker embedding extractors) could help in this regard. Furthermore, the other current limitation of these models is handling several speakers. Different strategies to deal with such shortcomings need to be devised. Currently, TS-VAD-like models seem to be better than EEND-based ones when dealing with many speakers but that could change if the way speaker attractors are estimated improves.

Aside from models but equally important for the progress of the field, the availability of datasets representative of real applications needs to be considered. In recent years, many new corpora have been released to the public under free licenses. This is a major boost

for democratization in the field allowing newcomers to delve into speaker diarization more easily. It is important, however, that new datasets have properly defined partitions and evaluation setups to avoid future problems when comparing results. Regarding results, many datasets present partitions into development/test sets but the development part is normally used for fine-tuning end-to-end systems; therefore, making decisions on the test part while developing the models. These results need to be taken with reservations since they might not hold on different data. This has become common practice in recent years and we need to be careful as a community in such regard. Moreover, comparisons are usually done on diarization error rate basis without showing any kind of statistical significance evidence which raises questions regarding the real improvements.

Finally, another aspect to encourage fair comparisons is the need for releasing models to the public. As shown in Tables 5.1 and 5.2, only a fraction of recent state-of-the-art works share their recipes making comparisons on different datasets very difficult. Sharing code for our published results should be the norm rather than an exception if we want a field that progresses openly and steadily.

## Bibliography

- [Adam et al., 2002] Adam, A. G., Kajarekar, S. S., and Hermansky, H. (2002). A new speaker change detection method for two-speaker segmentation. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*. IEEE.
- [Ajmera et al., 2002] Ajmera, J., Bourlard, H., Lapidot, I., and McCowan, I. A. (2002). Unknown-multiple speaker clustering using HMM. Technical report, IDIAP.
- [Akira-Miasato Filho et al., 2018] Akira-Miasato Filho, V., Silva, D., and Cuozzo, L. (2018). Joint discriminative embedding learning, speech activity and overlap detection for the DIHARD speaker diarization challenge. In *Proceedings of Interspeech*, pages 2818–2822. ISCA.
- [Andrei et al., 2017] Andrei, V., Cucu, H., and Burileanu, C. (2017). Detecting Overlapped Speech on Short Timeframes Using Deep Learning. In *INTERSPEECH*, pages 1198–1202.
- [Anguera et al., 2012] Anguera, X., Bozonnet, S., Evans, N., Fredouille, C., Friedland, G., and Vinyals, O. (2012). Speaker diarization: A review of recent research. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech, and Language Processing*, 20(2):356–370.
- [Anguera et al., 2007] Anguera, X., Wooters, C., and Hernando, J. (2007). Acoustic beamforming for speaker diarization of meetings. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech,* and Language Processing, 15(7):2011–2022.
- [Anguera et al., 2005] Anguera, X., Wooters, C., Peskin, B., and Aguiló, M. (2005). Robust speaker segmentation for meetings: The ICSI-SRI spring 2005 diarization system. In *International Workshop on Machine Learning for Multimodal Interaction*, pages 402–414. Springer.
- [Aronowitz and Zhu, 2020] Aronowitz, H. and Zhu, W. (2020). Context and Uncertainty Modeling for Online Speaker Change Detection. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 8379–8383. IEEE.
- [Baevski et al., 2020] Baevski, A., Zhou, Y., Mohamed, A., and Auli, M. (2020). wav2vec 2.0: A framework for self-supervised learning of speech representations. Advances in neural information processing systems, 33:12449–12460.
- [Baroudi et al., 2023] Baroudi, S., Bredin, H., Plaquet, A., and Pellegrini, T. (2023). pyannote. audio speaker diarization pipeline at VoxSRC 2023. *The VoxCeleb Speaker Recognition Challenge 2023 (VoxSRC-23)*.

- [Barras et al., 2004] Barras, C., Zhu, X., Meignier, S., and Gauvain, J.-L. (2004). Improving speaker diarization.
- [Beal, 2003] Beal, M. (2003). Variational Algorithms for Approximate Bayesian Inference. PhD thesis, Gatsby Unit, University College London.
- [Betser et al., 2004] Betser, M., Bimbot, F., Ben, M., and Gravier, G. (2004). Speaker diarization using bottom-up clustering based on a parameter-derived distance between adapted GMMs. In *Eighth International Conference on Spoken Language Processing*.
- [Bishop, 2006] Bishop, C. M. (2006). Pattern Recognition and Machine Learning. Springer-Verlag New York, Inc., Secaucus, NJ, USA.
- [Boakye et al., 2008a] Boakye, K., Trueba-Hornero, B., Vinyals, O., and Friedland, G. (2008a). Overlapped speech detection for improved speaker diarization in multiparty meetings. In 2008 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing, pages 4353–4356. IEEE.
- [Boakye et al., 2008b] Boakye, K., Vinyals, O., and Friedland, G. (2008b). Two's a crowd: Improving speaker diarization by automatically identifying and excluding overlapped speech. In Ninth Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association.
- [Boakye et al., 2011] Boakye, K., Vinyals, O., and Friedland, G. (2011). Improved overlapped speech handling for speaker diarization. In *Twelfth Annual Conference of* the International Speech Communication Association.
- [Boeddeker et al., 2018] Boeddeker, C., Heitkaemper, J., Schmalenstroeer, J., Drude, L., Heymann, J., and Haeb-Umbach, R. (2018). Front-end processing for the chime-5 dinner party scenario. In *CHiME5 Workshop*, Hyderabad, India, volume 1.
- [Brandschain et al., 2010] Brandschain, L., Graff, D., Cieri, C., Walker, K., Caruso, C., and Neely, A. (2010). The Mixer 6 corpus: Resources for cross-channel and text independent speaker recognition. In *Proc. of LREC*.
- [Bredin, 2017a] Bredin, H. (2017a). pyannote.metrics: a toolkit for reproducible evaluation, diagnostic, and error analysis of speaker diarization systems. In Interspeech 2017, 18th Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association, Stockholm, Sweden.
- [Bredin, 2017b] Bredin, H. (2017b). Tristounet: triplet loss for speaker turn embedding. In International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 5430–5434. IEEE.
- [Bredin, 2022] Bredin, H. (2022). PYANNOTE. Aaudio 2.1 Speaker Diarization Pipeline: Principle, Benchmark, and Recipe. https://github.com/pyannote/pyannote-audio.
- [Bredin, 2023] Bredin, H. (2023). pyannote.audio 2.1 speaker diarization pipeline: principle, benchmark, and recipe. In *Proc. INTERSPEECH 2023*.

- [Bredin et al., 2020] Bredin, H., Yin, R., Coria, J. M., Gelly, G., Korshunov, P., Lavechin, M., Fustes, D., Titeux, H., Bouaziz, W., and Gill, M.-P. (2020). pyannote.audio: neural building blocks for speaker diarization. In *ICASSP 2020, IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing*, Barcelona, Spain.
- [Broughton and Samarakoon, 2023] Broughton, S. J. and Samarakoon, L. (2023). Improving End-to-End Neural Diarization Using Conversational Summary Representations. In *Proc. INTERSPEECH 2023*, pages 3157–3161.
- [Brummer and Villiers, 2010] Brummer, N. and Villiers, E. (2010). The speaker partitioning problem. *Proc. of Odyssey 2010*.
- [Bullock et al., 2020] Bullock, L., Bredin, H., and Garcia-Perera, L. P. (2020). Overlap-aware diarization: Resegnentation using neural end-to-end overlapped speech detection. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing* (ICASSP), pages 7114–7118. IEEE.
- [Carletta et al., 2006] Carletta, J., Ashby, S., Bourban, S., Flynn, M., Guillemot, M., Hain, T., Kadlec, J., Karaiskos, V., Kraaij, W., Kronenthal, M., et al. (2006). The AMI meeting corpus: A pre-announcement. In *International workshop on machine learning* for multimodal interaction. Springer.
- [Cetin and Shriberg, 2006] Cetin, O. and Shriberg, E. (2006). Speaker overlaps and ASR errors in meetings: Effects before, during, and after the overlap. In 2006 IEEE international conference on Acoustics Speech and Signal Processing Proceedings, volume 1. IEEE.
- [Chen et al., 1998] Chen, S., Gopalakrishnan, P., et al. (1998). Speaker, environment and channel change detection and clustering via the bayesian information criterion. In *Proc.* DARPA Broadcast news transcription and understanding workshop, volume 8, pages 127–132. Virginia, USA.
- [Chen et al., 2022a] Chen, S., Wang, C., Chen, Z., Wu, Y., Liu, S., Chen, Z., Li, J., Kanda, N., Yoshioka, T., Xiao, X., et al. (2022a). Wavlm: Large-scale self-supervised pre-training for full stack speech processing. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing*, 16(6):1505–1518.
- [Chen et al., 2022b] Chen, Y., Guo, Y., Li, Q., Cheng, G., Zhang, P., and Yan, Y. (2022b). Interrelate Training and Searching: A Unified Online Clustering Framework for Speaker Diarization. In *Proc. Interspeech 2022*, pages 1456–1460.
- [Chen et al., 2017] Chen, Z., Droppo, J., Li, J., and Xiong, W. (2017). Progressive joint modeling in unsupervised single-channel overlapped speech recognition. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Audio, Speech, and Language Processing*, 26(1):184–196.
- [Chen et al., 2023a] Chen, Z., Han, B., Wang, S., and Qian, Y. (2023a). Attention-based Encoder-Decoder End-to-End Neural Diarization with Embedding Enhancer. arXiv preprint arXiv:2309.06672.
- [Chen et al., 2023b] Chen, Z., Han, B., Wang, S., and Qian, Y. (2023b). Attention-based Encoder-Decoder Network for End-to-End Neural Speaker Diarization with Target Speaker Attractor. In Proc. INTERSPEECH 2023, pages 3552–3556.

- [Chen et al., 2018] Chen, Z., Xiao, X., Yoshioka, T., Erdogan, H., Li, J., and Gong, Y. (2018). Multi-channel overlapped speech recognition with location guided speech extraction network. In 2018 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 558–565. IEEE.
- [Cheng et al., 2023a] Cheng, C.-Y., Lee, H.-S., Tsao, Y., and Wang, H.-M. (2023a). Multi-target Extractor and Detector for Unknown-number Speaker Diarization. *IEEE Signal Processing Letters*.
- [Cheng et al., 2023b] Cheng, M., Wang, W., Zhang, Y., Qin, X., and Li, M. (2023b). Target-Speaker Voice Activity Detection Via Sequence-to-Sequence Prediction. In ICASSP 2023-2023 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP). IEEE.
- [Chowdhury et al., 2015] Chowdhury, S. A., Danieli, M., and Riccardi, G. (2015). Annotating and categorizing competition in overlap speech. In *International Conference* on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 5316–5320. IEEE.
- [Chung et al., 2020] Chung, J. S., Huh, J., Nagrani, A., Afouras, T., and Zisserman, A. (2020). Spot the Conversation: Speaker Diarisation in the Wild. In *Proc. Interspeech* 2020, pages 299–303.
- [Chung et al., 2018] Chung, J. S., Nagrani, A., and Zisserman, A. (2018). VoxCeleb2: Deep Speaker Recognition. In Proc. Interspeech 2018, pages 1086–1090.
- [Cieri et al., 2004] Cieri, C., Miller, D., and Walker, K. (2004). The Fisher corpus: A resource for the next generations of speech-to-text. In *LREC*, volume 4, pages 69–71.
- [Cord-Landwehr et al., 2023] Cord-Landwehr, T., Boeddeker, C., Zorilă, C., Doddipatla, R., and Haeb-Umbach, R. (2023). Frame-wise and overlap-robust speaker embeddings for meeting diarization. In *ICASSP 2023-2023 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*. IEEE.
- [Coria et al., 2021] Coria, J. M., Bredin, H., Ghannay, S., and Rosset, S. (2021). Overlap-aware low-latency online speaker diarization based on end-to-end local segmentation. In 2021 IEEE Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding Workshop (ASRU), pages 1139–1146. IEEE.
- [Coria et al., 2023] Coria, J. M., Bredin, H., Ghannay, S., and Rosset, S. (2023). Continual self-supervised domain adaptation for end-to-end speaker diarization. In 2022 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 626–632. IEEE.
- [Cornell et al., 2023] Cornell, S., Wiesner, M. S., Watanabe, S., Raj, D., Chang, X., Garcia, P., Masuyam, Y., Wang, Z.-Q., Squartini, S., and Khudanpur, S. (2023). The CHiME-7 DASR Challenge: Distant Meeting Transcription with Multiple Devices in Diverse Scenarios. In Proc. 7th International Workshop on Speech Processing in Everyday Environments (CHiME 2023).
- [Dehak et al., 2010] Dehak, N., Kenny, P. J., Dehak, R., Dumouchel, P., and Ouellet, P. (2010). Front-end factor analysis for speaker verification. *IEEE Transactions on Audio*, *Speech, and Language Processing*, 19(4):788–798.

- [Delcroix et al., 2023] Delcroix, M., Tawara, N., Diez, M., Landini, F., Silnova, A., Ogawa, A., Nakatani, T., Burget, L., and Araki, S. (2023). Multi-Stream Extension of Variational Bayesian HMM Clustering (MS-VBx) for Combined End-to-End and Vector Clustering-based Diarization. In *Proc. INTERSPEECH 2023*, pages 3477–3481.
- [Deng et al., 2019] Deng, J., Guo, J., Xue, N., and Zafeiriou, S. (2019). Arcface: Additive angular margin loss for deep face recognition. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference* on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, pages 4690–4699.
- [Desplanques et al., 2020] Desplanques, B., Thienpondt, J., and Demuynck, K. (2020). ECAPA-TDNN: Emphasized Channel Attention, Propagation and Aggregation in TDNN Based Speaker Verification. In Proc. Interspeech 2020, pages 3830–3834.
- [Diez and Burget, 2021] Diez, M. and Burget, L. (2021). CSL VBx derivations. http://www.fit.vutbr.cz/~mireia/CSL\_VBHMM\_tech\_report.pdf. Technical Report, Brno University of Technology.
- [Diez et al., 2019a] Diez, M., Burget, L., Landini, F., and Černocký, J. (2019a). Analysis of Speaker Diarization Based on Bayesian HMM with Eigenvoice Priors. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Audio, Speech, and Language Processing*, 28:355–368.
- [Diez et al., 2020] Diez, M., Burget, L., Landini, F., Wang, S., and Černocký, H. (2020). Optimizing Bayesian HMM based x-vector clustering for the second DIHARD speech diarization challenge. In *ICASSP 2020-2020 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 6519–6523. IEEE.
- [Diez et al., 2018a] Diez, M., Burget, L., and Matejka, P. (2018a). Speaker Diarization based on Bayesian HMM with Eigenvoice Priors. In *Odyssey*, pages 147–154.
- [Diez et al., 2019b] Diez, M., Burget, L., Wang, S., Rohdin, J., and Černocký, J. (2019b). Bayesian HMM Based x-Vector Clustering for Speaker Diarization. In *INTERSPEECH*, pages 346–350.
- [Diez et al., 2018b] Diez, M., Landini, F., Burget, L., Rohdin, J., Silnova, A., Žmolíková, K., Novotný, O., Veselý, K., Glembek, O., Plchot, O., et al. (2018b). BUT System for DIHARD Speech Diarization Challenge 2018. In *Interspeech*, pages 2798–2802.
- [Du et al., 2021] Du, Z., Zhang, S., Zheng, S., Huang, W., and Lei, M. (2021). Speaker Embedding-aware Neural Diarization for Flexible Number of Speakers with Textual Information. arXiv preprint arXiv:2111.13694.
- [Du et al., 2022] Du, Z., Zhang, S., Zheng, S., and Yan, Z. (2022). Speaker Embedding-aware Neural Diarization: an Efficient Framework for Overlapping Speech Diarization in Meeting Scenarios. CoRR.
- [Dupuy et al., 2012] Dupuy, G., Rouvier, M., Meignier, S., and Esteve, Y. (2012). I-vectors and ILP clustering adapted to cross-show speaker diarization. In *Proc. Interspeech*.
- [Efron and Tibshirani, 1994] Efron, B. and Tibshirani, R. J. (1994). An introduction to the bootstrap. CRC Press.

- [Evans et al., 2012] Evans, N., Bozonnet, S., Wang, D., Fredouille, C., and Troncy, R. (2012). A comparative study of bottom-up and top-down approaches to speaker diarization. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, speech, and language processing*, 20(2):382–392.
- [Fan et al., 2020] Fan, Y., Kang, J., Li, L., Li, K., Chen, H., Cheng, S., Zhang, P., Zhou, Z., Cai, Y., and Wang, D. (2020). CN-CELEB: a challenging Chinese speaker recognition dataset. In *ICASSP 2020-2020 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 7604–7608. IEEE.
- [Ferrer and Riera, 2023] Ferrer, L. and Riera, P. (2023). Confidence Intervals for evaluation in machine learning.
- [Fiscus et al., 2006] Fiscus, J. G., Radde, N., Garofolo, J. S., Le, A., Ajot, J., and Laprun, C. (2006). The rich transcription 2005 spring meeting recognition evaluation. In Machine Learning for Multimodal Interaction: Second International Workshop, MLMI 2005, Edinburgh, UK, pages 369–389. Springer.
- [Fox et al., 2011] Fox, E. B., Sudderth, E. B., Jordan, M. I., and Willsky, A. S. (2011). The sticky HDP-HMM: Bayesian nonparametric hidden Markov models with persistent states. Annals of Applied Statistics, 5(2A):1020–1056.
- [Fredouille and Evans, 2008] Fredouille, C. and Evans, N. (2008). New implementations of the E-HMM-based system for speaker diarization in meeting rooms. In 2008 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing, pages 4357–4360. IEEE.
- [Fu et al., 2021] Fu, Y., Cheng, L., Lv, S., Jv, Y., Kong, Y., Chen, Z., Hu, Y., Xie, L., Wu, J., Bu, H., Xu, X., Du, J., and Chen, J. (2021). AISHELL-4: An Open Source Dataset for Speech Enhancement, Separation, Recognition and Speaker Diarization in Conference Scenario. In *Proc. Interspeech 2021*, pages 3665–3669.
- [Fujita et al., 2019a] Fujita, Y., Kanda, N., Horiguchi, S., Nagamatsu, K., and Watanabe, S. (2019a). End-to-End Neural Speaker Diarization with Permutation-Free Objectives. In Proc. Interspeech 2019, pages 4300–4304.
- [Fujita et al., 2019b] Fujita, Y., Kanda, N., Horiguchi, S., Xue, Y., Nagamatsu, K., and Watanabe, S. (2019b). End-to-end neural speaker diarization with self-attention. In 2019 IEEE Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding Workshop (ASRU), pages 296–303. IEEE.
- [Fujita et al., 2023] Fujita, Y., Komatsu, T., Scheibler, R., Kida, Y., and Ogawa, T. (2023). Neural Diarization with Non-Autoregressive Intermediate Attractors. In ICASSP 2023-2023 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP). IEEE.
- [Fujita et al., 2020] Fujita, Y., Watanabe, S., Horiguchi, S., Xue, Y., Shi, J., and Nagamatsu, K. (2020). Neural speaker diarization with speaker-wise chain rule. arXiv preprint arXiv:2006.01796.
- [Garcia-Romero et al., 2017] Garcia-Romero, D., Snyder, D., Sell, G., Povey, D., and McCree, A. (2017). Speaker diarization using deep neural network embeddings. In

International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 4930–4934. IEEE.

- [Garofolo et al., 2004] Garofolo, J. S., Fiscus, J. G., and Laprun, C. D. (2004). The rich transcription 2004 spring meeting recognition evaluation. US Department of Commerce, National Institute of Standards and Technology.
- [Gauvain et al., 1998] Gauvain, J.-L., Lamel, L. F., and Adda, G. (1998). Partitioning and transcription of broadcast news data. In *Fifth International Conference on Spoken Language Processing*.
- [Geiger et al., 2013a] Geiger, J. T., Eyben, F., Evans, N., Schuller, B., and Rigoll, G. (2013a). Using linguistic information to detect overlapping speech. In Proceedings INTERSPEECH 2013, 14th Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association, Lyon, France.
- [Geiger et al., 2013b] Geiger, J. T., Eyben, F., Schuller, B., and Rigoll, G. (2013b). Detecting overlapping speech with long short-term memory recurrent neural networks. In *Proceedings of INTERSPEECH 2013, Lyon, France.* ISCA.
- [Gelly and Gauvain, 2017] Gelly, G. and Gauvain, J.-L. (2017). Optimization of RNN-based speech activity detection. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Audio, Speech, and Language Processing*, 26(3):646–656.
- [Graff et al., 1998] Graff, D., Canavan, A., and Zipperlen, G. (1998). Switchboard-2 phase I, LDC98S75.
- [Graff et al., 2002] Graff, D., Miller, D., and Walker, K. (2002). Switchboard-2 phase III, LDC2002S06. *Philadelphia: Linguistic Data Consortium*.
- [Graff et al., 1999] Graff, D., Walker, K., and Canavan, A. (1999). Switchboard-2 phase II, LDC99S79. *Philadelphia: Linguistic Data Consortium*.
- [Graff et al., 2001] Graff, D., Walker, K., and Miller, D. (2001). Switchboard Cellular Part 1 audio LDC2001S13. *Philadelphia: Linguistic Data Consortium*.
- [Graff et al., 2004] Graff, D., Walker, K., and Miller, D. (2004). Switchboard Cellular Part 2 audio LDC2004S07. *Philadelphia: Linguistic Data Consortium*.
- [Grauman et al., 2022] Grauman, K., Westbury, A., Byrne, E., Chavis, Z., Furnari, A., Girdhar, R., Hamburger, J., Jiang, H., Liu, M., Liu, X., et al. (2022). Ego4d: Around the world in 3,000 hours of egocentric video. In *Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 18995–19012.
- [Gulati et al., 2020] Gulati, A., Qin, J., Chiu, C.-C., Parmar, N., Zhang, Y., Yu, J., Han, W., Wang, S., Zhang, Z., Wu, Y., and Pang, R. (2020). Conformer: Convolution-augmented Transformer for Speech Recognition. In *Proc. Interspeech 2020*, pages 5036–5040.
- [Gupta, 2015] Gupta, V. (2015). Speaker change point detection using deep neural nets. In International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 4420–4424. IEEE.

- [Hagerer et al., 2017] Hagerer, G., Pandit, V., Eyben, F., and Schuller, B. (2017). Enhancing LSTM RNN-based speech overlap detection by artificially mixed data. In Audio Engineering Society Conference: 2017 AES International Conference on Semantic Audio. Audio Engineering Society.
- [Han et al., 2021] Han, E., Lee, C., and Stolcke, A. (2021). BW-EDA-EEND: Streaming end-to-end neural speaker diarization for a variable number of speakers. In *ICASSP* 2021-2021 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 7193–7197. IEEE.
- [Hao et al., 2023] Hao, F., Li, X., and Zheng, C. (2023). End-to-end neural speaker diarization with an iterative adaptive attractor estimation. *Neural Networks*, 166:566–578.
- [He et al., 2016] He, K., Zhang, X., Ren, S., and Sun, J. (2016). Deep residual learning for image recognition. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 770–778.
- [He et al., 2021] He, M., Raj, D., Huang, Z., Du, J., Chen, Z., and Watanabe, S. (2021). Target-Speaker Voice Activity Detection with Improved i-Vector Estimation for Unknown Number of Speaker. In Proc. Interspeech 2021, pages 3555–3559.
- [He et al., 2023] He, M.-K., Du, J., Liu, Q.-F., and Lee, C.-H. (2023). ANSD-MA-MSE: Adaptive Neural Speaker Diarization Using Memory-Aware Multi-speaker Embedding. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Audio, Speech, and Language Processing.*
- [Hershey et al., 2016] Hershey, J. R., Chen, Z., Le Roux, J., and Watanabe, S. (2016). Deep clustering: Discriminative embeddings for segmentation and separation. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 31–35. IEEE.
- [Hinton et al., 2014] Hinton, G., Vinyals, O., and Dean, J. (2014). Distilling the Knowledge in a Neural Network. In NIPS Deep Learning and Representation Learning Workshop.
- [Horiguchi et al., 2022a] Horiguchi, S., Fujita, Y., Watanabe, S., Xue, Y., and Garcia, P. (2022a). Encoder-decoder based attractors for end-to-end neural diarization. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Audio, Speech, and Language Processing*, 30:1493–1507.
- [Horiguchi et al., 2020] Horiguchi, S., Fujita, Y., Watanabe, S., Xue, Y., and Nagamatsu, K. (2020). End-to-End Speaker Diarization for an Unknown Number of Speakers with Encoder-Decoder Based Attractors. In *Proc. Interspeech 2020*, pages 269–273.
- [Horiguchi et al., 2021a] Horiguchi, S., Garcia, P., Fujita, Y., Watanabe, S., and Nagamatsu, K. (2021a). End-to-end speaker diarization as post-processing. In ICASSP 2021-2021 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 7188–7192. IEEE.
- [Horiguchi et al., 2022b] Horiguchi, S., Takashima, Y., Garcia, P., Watanabe, S., and Kawaguchi, Y. (2022b). Multi-channel end-to-end neural diarization with distributed microphones. In *ICASSP 2022-2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics*, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 7332–7336. IEEE.

- [Horiguchi et al., 2023] Horiguchi, S., Takashima, Y., Watanabe, S., and Garcia, P. (2023). Mutual Learning of Single-and Multi-Channel End-to-End Neural Diarization. In 2022 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 620–625. IEEE.
- [Horiguchi et al., 2022c] Horiguchi, S., Watanabe, S., García, P., Takashima, Y., and Kawaguchi, Y. (2022c). Online neural diarization of unlimited numbers of speakers using global and local attractors. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Audio, Speech, and Language Processing*, 31:706–720.
- [Horiguchi et al., 2021b] Horiguchi, S., Watanabe, S., Garcia, P., Xue, Y., Takashima, Y., and Kawaguchi, Y. (2021b). Towards neural diarization for unlimited numbers of speakers using global and local attractors. In 2021 IEEE Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding Workshop (ASRU), pages 98–105. IEEE.
- [Horiguchi et al., 2021c] Horiguchi, S., Yalta, N., Garcia, P., Takashima, Y., Xue, Y., Raj, D., Huang, Z., Fujita, Y., Watanabe, S., and Khudanpur, S. (2021c). The Hitachi-JHU DIHARD III system: Competitive end-to-end neural diarization and x-vector clustering systems combined by DOVER-Lap. In *Proc. 3rd DIHARD Speech Diarization Challenge Workshop*.
- [Hrúz and Zajíc, 2017] Hrúz, M. and Zajíc, Z. (2017). Convolutional neural network for speaker change detection in telephone speaker diarization system. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 4945–4949. IEEE.
- [Hsu et al., 2021] Hsu, W.-N., Bolte, B., Tsai, Y.-H. H., Lakhotia, K., Salakhutdinov, R., and Mohamed, A. (2021). Hubert: Self-supervised speech representation learning by masked prediction of hidden units. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Audio, Speech, and Language Processing*, 29:3451–3460.
- [Huijbregts et al., 2009] Huijbregts, M., van Leeuwen, D. A., and Jong, F. (2009). Speech overlap detection in a two-pass speaker diarization system. In *INTERSPEECH 2009: Brighton*, pages 1063–1066. International Speech Communication Association (ISCA).
- [India Massana et al., 2017] India Massana, M. Á., Rodríguez Fonollosa, J. A., and Hernando Pericás, F. J. (2017). LSTM neural network-based speaker segmentation using acoustic and language modelling. In *INTERSPEECH 2017: 20-24 August 2017: Stockholm*, pages 2834–2838. International Speech Communication Association (ISCA).
- [Istrate et al., 2005] Istrate, D., Fredouille, C., Meignier, S., Besacier, L., and Bonastre, J. F. (2005). NIST RT'05S evaluation: pre-processing techniques and speaker diarization on multiple microphone meetings. In *International Workshop on Machine Learning for Multimodal Interaction*, pages 428–439. Springer.
- [Izquierdo del Alamo et al., 2022] Izquierdo del Alamo, S., Labrador, B., Lozano-Diez, A., and Toledano, D. T. (2022). Efficient Transformers for End-to-End Neural Speaker Diarization. In Proc. IberSPEECH 2022, pages 156–160.
- [Jaccard, 1901] Jaccard, P. (1901). Étude comparative de la distribution florale dans une portion des alpes et des jura. Bull Soc Vaudoise Sci Nat, 37:547–579.

- [Jaegle et al., 2021] Jaegle, A., Gimeno, F., Brock, A., Vinyals, O., Zisserman, A., and Carreira, J. (2021). Perceiver: General perception with iterative attention. In International conference on machine learning, pages 4651–4664. PMLR.
- [Janin et al., 2004] Janin, A., Ang, J., Bhagat, S., Dhillon, R., Edwards, J., Macias-Guarasa, J., Morgan, N., Peskin, B., Shriberg, E., Stolcke, A., et al. (2004). The ICSI meeting project: Resources and research. In *Proceedings of the 2004 ICASSP NIST Meeting Recognition Workshop*.
- [Jeoung et al., 2023] Jeoung, Y.-R., Yang, J.-Y., Choi, J.-H., and Chang, J.-H. (2023). Improving Transformer-Based End-to-End Speaker Diarization by Assigning Auxiliary Losses to Attention Heads. In ICASSP 2023-2023 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP). IEEE.
- [Jin and Schultz, 2004] Jin, Q. and Schultz, T. (2004). Speaker segmentation and clustering in meetings. In *Eighth International Conference on Spoken Language Processing*.
- [Jung et al., 2021] Jung, J., Heo, H.-S., Kwon, Y., Chung, J. S., and Lee, B.-J. (2021). Three-Class Overlapped Speech Detection Using a Convolutional Recurrent Neural Network. In Proc. Interspeech 2021, pages 3086–3090.
- [Jung et al., 2023] Jung, J.-w., Heo, H.-S., Lee, B.-J., Huh, J., Brown, A., Kwon, Y., Watanabe, S., and Chung, J. S. (2023). In search of strong embedding extractors for speaker diarisation. In *ICASSP 2023-2023 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*. IEEE.
- [Kamo et al., 2023] Kamo, N., Tawara, N., Matsuura, K., Ashihara, T., Moriya, T., Ogawa, A., Sato, H., Ochiai, T., Ando, A., Ikeshita, R., et al. (2023). NTT Multi-Speaker ASR System for the DASR Task of CHiME-7 Challenge. *CHiME-7 Challenge*.
- [Kanda et al., 2020a] Kanda, N., Gaur, Y., Wang, X., Meng, Z., Chen, Z., Zhou, T., and Yoshioka, T. (2020a). Joint Speaker Counting, Speech Recognition, and Speaker Identification for Overlapped Speech of any Number of Speakers. In *Proc. Interspeech* 2020, pages 36–40.
- [Kanda et al., 2020b] Kanda, N., Gaur, Y., Wang, X., Meng, Z., and Yoshioka, T. (2020b). Serialized Output Training for End-to-End Overlapped Speech Recognition. In Proc. Interspeech 2020, pages 2797–2801.
- [Kanda et al., 2022] Kanda, N., Wu, J., Wu, Y., Xiao, X., Meng, Z., Wang, X., Gaur, Y., Chen, Z., Li, J., and Yoshioka, T. (2022). Streaming Speaker-Attributed ASR with Token-Level Speaker Embeddings. In Proc. Interspeech 2022, pages 521–525.
- [Kanda et al., 2021] Kanda, N., Ye, G., Gaur, Y., Wang, X., Meng, Z., Chen, Z., and Yoshioka, T. (2021). End-to-End Speaker-Attributed ASR with Transformer. In *Proc. Interspeech 2021*, pages 4413–4417.
- [Karamyan and Kirakosyan, 2023] Karamyan, D. and Kirakosyan, G. (2023). The Krisp Diarization system for the VoxCeleb Speaker Recognition Challenge 2023. The VoxCeleb Speaker Recognition Challenge 2023 (VoxSRC-23).

- [Kenny, 2005] Kenny, P. (2005). Joint factor analysis of speaker and session variability: Theory and algorithms. *CRIM*, *Montreal*, *(Report)*, 14:28–29.
- [Kenny, 2008] Kenny, P. (2008). Bayesian analysis of speaker diarization with eigenvoice priors. *CRIM, Montreal, Technical Report.*
- [Kenny, 2010] Kenny, P. (2010). Bayesian Speaker Verification with Heavy-Tailed Priors. In Proc. Odyssey-10, Brno, Czech Republic.
- [Kenny et al., 2007] Kenny, P., Boulianne, G., Ouellet, P., and Dumouchel, P. (2007). Joint factor analysis versus eigenchannels in speaker recognition. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech, and Language Processing*, 15(4):1435–1447.
- [Kenny et al., 2010] Kenny, P., Reynolds, D., and Castaldo, F. (2010). Diarization of telephone conversations using factor analysis. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing*, 4(6):1059–1070.
- [Khare et al., 2022] Khare, A., Han, E., Yang, Y., and Stolcke, A. (2022). ASR-aware end-to-end neural diarization. In *ICASSP 2022-2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 8092–8096. IEEE.
- [Kingma and Ba, 2014] Kingma, D. P. and Ba, J. (2014). Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. arXiv preprint arXiv:1412.6980.
- [Kinoshita et al., 2022a] Kinoshita, K., Delcroix, M., and Iwata, T. (2022a). Tight integration of neural-and clustering-based diarization through deep unfolding of infinite gaussian mixture model. In ICASSP 2022-2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 8382–8386. IEEE.
- [Kinoshita et al., 2021a] Kinoshita, K., Delcroix, M., and Tawara, N. (2021a). Advances in Integration of End-to-End Neural and Clustering-Based Diarization for Real Conversational Speech. In Proc. Interspeech 2021, pages 3565–3569.
- [Kinoshita et al., 2021b] Kinoshita, K., Delcroix, M., and Tawara, N. (2021b). Integrating end-to-end neural and clustering-based diarization: Getting the best of both worlds. In ICASSP 2021-2021 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 7198–7202. IEEE.
- [Kinoshita et al., 2022b] Kinoshita, K., von Neumann, T., Delcroix, M., Boeddeker, C., and Haeb-Umbach, R. (2022b). Utterance-by-utterance overlap-aware neural diarization with Graph-PIT. In *Proc. Interspeech 2022*, pages 1486–1490.
- [Klement et al., 2023] Klement, D., Diez, M., Landini, F., Burget, L., Silnova, A., Delcroix, M., and Tawara, N. (2023). Discriminative Training of VBx Diarization. arXiv preprint arXiv:2310.02732.
- [Ko et al., 2017] Ko, T., Peddinti, V., Povey, D., Seltzer, M. L., and Khudanpur, S. (2017). A study on data augmentation of reverberant speech for robust speech recognition. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 5220–5224. IEEE.

- [Kraaij et al., 2005] Kraaij, W., Hain, T., Lincoln, M., and Post, W. (2005). The AMI meeting corpus. In Proc. International Conference on Methods and Techniques in Behavioral Research.
- [Kuhn, 1955] Kuhn, H. W. (1955). The Hungarian method for the assignment problem. Naval research logistics quarterly, 2(1-2):83–97.
- [Kunešová et al., 2019] Kunešová, M., Hrúz, M., Zajíc, Z., and Radová, V. (2019). Detection of overlapping speech for the purposes of speaker diarization. In International Conference on Speech and Computer, pages 247–257. Springer.
- [Kunešová and Zajíc, 2023] Kunešová, M. and Zajíc, Z. (2023). Multitask Detection of Speaker Changes, Overlapping Speech and Voice Activity Using Wav2vec 2.0. In ICASSP 2023-2023 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP). IEEE.
- [Kwon et al., 2022] Kwon, Y., Heo, H.-S., Jung, J.-w., Kim, Y. J., Lee, B.-J., and Chung, J. S. (2022). Multi-scale speaker embedding-based graph attention networks for speaker diarisation. In *ICASSP 2022-2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech* and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 8367–8371. IEEE.
- [Kwon et al., 2021] Kwon, Y., weon Jung, J., Heo, H.-S., Kim, Y. J., Lee, B.-J., and Chung, J. S. (2021). Adapting Speaker Embeddings for Speaker Diarisation. In Proc. Interspeech 2021, pages 3101–3105.
- [Landini et al., 2023a] Landini, F., Diez, M., Lozano-Diez, A., and Burget, L. (2023a). Multi-Speaker and Wide-Band Simulated Conversations as Training Data for End-to-End Neural Diarization. In *ICASSP 2023-2023 IEEE International Conference* on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP). IEEE.
- [Landini et al., 2023b] Landini, F., Diez, M., Stafylakis, T., and Burget, L. (2023b). DiaPer: End-to-End Neural Diarization with Perceiver-Based Attractors. arXiv preprint arXiv:2312.04324.
- [Landini et al., 2021a] Landini, F., Glembek, O., Matějka, P., Rohdin, J., Burget, L., Diez, M., and Silnova, A. (2021a). Analysis of the BUT Diarization System for VoxConverse Challenge. In *ICASSP 2021-2021 IEEE International Conference on* Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 5819–5823. IEEE.
- [Landini et al., 2021b] Landini, F., Lozano-Diez, A., Burget, L., Diez, M., Silnova, A., Žmolíková, K., Glembek, O., Matejka, P., Stafylakis, T., and Brümmer, N. (2021b). BUT system description for the third DIHARD speech diarization challenge. In Proc. 3rd DIHARD Speech Diarization Challenge Workshop.
- [Landini et al., 2022a] Landini, F., Lozano-Diez, A., Diez, M., and Burget, L. (2022a). From Simulated Mixtures to Simulated Conversations as Training Data for End-to-End Neural Diarization. In Proc. Interspeech 2022, pages 5095–5099.
- [Landini et al., 2022b] Landini, F., Profant, J., Diez, M., and Burget, L. (2022b). Bayesian HMM Clustering of x-vector Sequences (VBx) in Speaker Diarization: Theory, Implementation and Analysis on Standard Tasks. *Computer Speech & Language*, 71:101254.

- [Landini et al., 2020] Landini, F., Wang, S., Diez, M., Burget, L., Matějka, P., Žmolíková, K., Mošner, L., Silnova, A., Plchot, O., Novotný, O., et al. (2020). BUT System for the Second DIHARD Speech Diarization Challenge. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 6529–6533. IEEE.
- [Leung and Samarakoon, 2021a] Leung, T.-Y. and Samarakoon, L. (2021a). End-to-end speaker diarization system for the third dihard challenge system description. *DIHARD III, 2021.*
- [Leung and Samarakoon, 2021b] Leung, T.-Y. and Samarakoon, L. (2021b). Robust End-to-End Speaker Diarization with Conformer and Additive Margin Penalty. In Proc. Interspeech 2021, pages 3575–3579.
- [Li et al., 2021] Li, Q., Kreyssig, F. L., Zhang, C., and Woodland, P. C. (2021). Discriminative neural clustering for speaker diarisation. In 2021 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 574–581. IEEE.
- [Lin et al., 2020a] Lin, Q., Hou, Y., and Li, M. (2020a). Self-Attentive Similarity Measurement Strategies in Speaker Diarization. In *Proc. Interspeech 2020*, pages 284–288.
- [Lin et al., 2020b] Lin, Q., Li, T., Yang, L., Wang, J., and Li, M. (2020b). Optimal Mapping Loss: A Faster Loss for End-to-End Speaker Diarization. In Odyssey, pages 125–131.
- [Lin et al., 2019] Lin, Q., Yin, R., Li, M., Bredin, H., and Barras, C. (2019). LSTM Based Similarity Measurement with Spectral Clustering for Speaker Diarization. In Proc. Interspeech 2019, pages 366–370.
- [Liu and Kubala, 1999] Liu, D. and Kubala, F. (1999). Fast speaker change detection for broadcast news transcription and indexing. In Sixth European Conference on Speech Communication and Technology.
- [Liu et al., 2022] Liu, T., Fan, S., Xiang, X., Song, H., Lin, S., Sun, J., Han, T., Chen, S., Yao, B., Liu, S., Wu, Y., Qian, Y., and Yu, K. (2022). MSDWild: Multi-modal Speaker Diarization Dataset in the Wild. In *Proc. Interspeech 2022*, pages 1476–1480.
- [Liu and Yu, 2022] Liu, T. and Yu, K. (2022). BER: Balanced Error Rate For Speaker Diarization. arXiv preprint arXiv:2211.04304.
- [Liu et al., 2021] Liu, Y. C., Han, E., Lee, C., and Stolcke, A. (2021). End-to-End Neural Diarization: From Transformer to Conformer. In *Proc. Interspeech 2021*, pages 3081–3085.
- [Maiti et al., 2021] Maiti, S., Erdogan, H., Wilson, K., Wisdom, S., Watanabe, S., and Hershey, J. R. (2021). End-to-end diarization for variable number of speakers with local-global networks and discriminative speaker embeddings. In *ICASSP 2021-2021 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 7183–7187. IEEE.
- [Maiti et al., 2023] Maiti, S., Ueda, Y., Watanabe, S., Zhang, C., Yu, M., Zhang, S.-X., and Xu, Y. (2023). EEND-SS: Joint end-to-end neural speaker diarization and speech

separation for flexible number of speakers. In 2022 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 480–487. IEEE.

- [McCowan et al., 2005] McCowan, I., Carletta, J., Kraaij, W., Ashby, S., Bourban, S., Flynn, M., Guillemot, M., Hain, T., Kadlec, J., Karaiskos, V., et al. (2005). The AMI meeting corpus. In *Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Methods and Techniques in Behavioral Research*, volume 88.
- [Medennikov et al., 2020] Medennikov, I., Korenevsky, M., Prisyach, T., Khokhlov, Y., Korenevskaya, M., Sorokin, I., Timofeeva, T., Mitrofanov, A., Andrusenko, A., Podluzhny, I., Laptev, A., and Romanenko, A. (2020). Target-Speaker Voice Activity Detection: A Novel Approach for Multi-Speaker Diarization in a Dinner Party Scenario. In Proc. Interspeech 2020, pages 274–278.
- [Meignier et al., 2000] Meignier, S., Bonastre, J.-F., Fredouille, C., and Merlin, T. (2000). Evolutive HMM for multi-speaker tracking system. In *IEEE International Conference* on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing., volume 2, pages II1201–II1204. IEEE.
- [Meignier et al., 2001] Meignier, S., Bonastre, J.-F., and Igounet, S. (2001). E-HMM approach for learning and adapting sound models for speaker indexing. In 2001: A Speaker Odyssey-The Speaker Recognition Workshop.
- [Meignier et al., 2006] Meignier, S., Moraru, D., Fredouille, C., Bonastre, J.-F., and Besacier, L. (2006). Step-by-step and integrated approaches in broadcast news speaker diarization. *Computer Speech & Language*, 20(2-3):303–330.
- [Meng et al., 2017] Meng, Z., Mou, L., and Jin, Z. (2017). Hierarchical RNN with static sentence-level attention for text-based speaker change detection. In *Proceedings of the 2017 ACM on Conference on Information and Knowledge Management*, pages 2203–2206.
- [Moattar and Homayounpour, 2012] Moattar, M. H. and Homayounpour, M. M. (2012). A review on speaker diarization systems and approaches. *Speech Communication*, 54(10):1065–1103.
- [Moh et al., 2003] Moh, Y., Nguyen, P., and Junqua, J.-C. (2003). Towards domain independent speaker clustering. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, volume 2. IEEE.
- [Moraru et al., 2003] Moraru, D., Meignier, S., Besacier, L., Bonastre, J.-F., and Magrin-Chagnolleau, I. (2003). The ELISA consortium approaches in speaker segmentation during the NIST 2002 speaker recognition evaluation. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, volume 2. IEEE.
- [Mostefa et al., 2007] Mostefa, D., Moreau, N., Choukri, K., Potamianos, G., Chu, S. M., Tyagi, A., Casas, J. R., Turmo, J., Cristoforetti, L., Tobia, F., et al. (2007). The CHIL audiovisual corpus for lecture and meeting analysis inside smart rooms. *Language resources and evaluation*, 41(3):389–407.
- [Nagrani et al., 2020] Nagrani, A., Chung, J. S., Huh, J., Brown, A., Coto, E., Xie, W., McLaren, M., Reynolds, D. A., and Zisserman, A. (2020). VoxSRC 2020: The Second VoxCeleb Speaker Recognition Challenge. arXiv preprint arXiv:2012.06867.

- [Nagrani et al., 2017] Nagrani, A., Chung, J. S., and Zisserman, A. (2017). VoxCeleb: A Large-Scale Speaker Identification Dataset. In Proc. Interspeech 2017, pages 2616–2620.
- [Ning et al., 2006] Ning, H., Liu, M., Tang, H., and Huang, T. S. (2006). A spectral clustering approach to speaker diarization. In *Ninth International Conference on Spoken Language Processing.*
- [NIST, 2000] NIST (2000). NIST SRE 2000 Evaluation Plan. https://www.nist.gov/ sites/default/files/documents/2017/09/26/spk-2000-plan-v1.0.htm\_.pdf.
- [NIST, 2009] NIST (2009). NIST Rich Transcription Evaluations. https://www.nist.gov/itl/iad/mig/rich-transcription-evaluation. version: md-eval-v22.pl.
- [NIST, 2018] NIST (2018). NIST 2018 Speaker Recognition Evaluation Plan. https://www.nist.gov/system/files/documents/2018/08/17/ sre18\_eval\_plan\_2018-05-31\_v6.pdf.
- [NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2006a] NIST Multimodal Information Group (2006a). 2004 NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation LDC2006S44.
- [NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2006b] NIST Multimodal Information Group (2006b). 2005 NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation Training Data LDC2011S01.
- [NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011a] NIST Multimodal Information Group (2011a). 2005 NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation Test Data LDC2011S04.
- [NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011b] NIST Multimodal Information Group (2011b). 2006 NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation Test Set Part 1 LDC2011S10.
- [NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011c] NIST Multimodal Information Group (2011c). 2006 NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation training Set LDC2011S09.
- [NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011d] NIST Multimodal Information Group (2011d). 2008 NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation Test Set LDC2011S08.
- [NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2011e] NIST Multimodal Information Group (2011e). 2008 NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation Training Set Part 1 LDC2011S05.
- [NIST Multimodal Information Group, 2012] NIST Multimodal Information Group (2012). 2006 NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation Evaluation Test Set Part 2 LDC2012S01.
- [Otterson and Ostendorf, 2007] Otterson, S. and Ostendorf, M. (2007). Efficient use of overlap information in speaker diarization. In 2007 IEEE Workshop on Automatic Speech Recognition & Understanding (ASRU), pages 683–686. IEEE.
- [Pan et al., 2022] Pan, Z., Wichern, G., Germain, F. G., Subramanian, A., and Roux, J. L. (2022). Late Audio-Visual Fusion for in-the-wild Speaker Diarization. arXiv preprint arXiv:2211.01299.
- [Panayotov et al., 2015] Panayotov, V., Chen, G., Povey, D., and Khudanpur, S. (2015). Librispeech: An ASR corpus based on public domain audio books. In *ICASSP*. IEEE.

- [Pardo et al., 2006] Pardo, J. M., Anguera, X., and Wooters, C. (2006). Speaker diarization for multi-microphone meetings using only between-channel differences. In *International Workshop on Machine Learning for Multimodal Interaction*, pages 257–264. Springer.
- [Park et al., 2019] Park, T. J., Han, K. J., Kumar, M., and Narayanan, S. (2019). Auto-tuning spectral clustering for speaker diarization using normalized maximum eigengap. *IEEE Signal Processing Letters*, 27:381–385.
- [Park et al., 2022] Park, T. J., Kanda, N., Dimitriadis, D., Han, K. J., Watanabe, S., and Narayanan, S. (2022). A review of speaker diarization: Recent advances with deep learning. *Computer Speech & Language*, 72:101317.
- [Park et al., 2021] Park, T. J., Kumar, M., and Narayanan, S. (2021). Multi-scale speaker diarization with neural affinity score fusion. In *ICASSP 2021-2021 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 7173–7177. IEEE.
- [Paszke et al., 2019] Paszke, A., Gross, S., Massa, F., Lerer, A., Bradbury, J., Chanan, G., Killeen, T., Lin, Z., Gimelshein, N., Antiga, L., et al. (2019). Pytorch: An imperative style, high-performance deep learning library. In Advances in neural information processing systems, pages 8026–8037.
- [Plaquet and Bredin, 2023] Plaquet, A. and Bredin, H. (2023). Powerset multi-class cross entropy loss for neural speaker diarization. In *Proc. INTERSPEECH 2023*, pages 3222–3226.
- [Povey et al., 2011] Povey, D., Ghoshal, A., Boulianne, G., Burget, L., Glembek, O., Goel, N., Hannemann, M., Motlicek, P., Qian, Y., Schwarz, P., et al. (2011). The Kaldi speech recognition toolkit. In *IEEE 2011 workshop on automatic speech recognition and* understanding. IEEE Signal Processing Society.
- [Prazak and Silovsky, 2011] Prazak, J. and Silovsky, J. (2011). Speaker diarization using PLDA-based speaker clustering. In Proceedings of the 6th IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Data Acquisition and Advanced Computing Systems, volume 1, pages 347–350. IEEE.
- [Przybocki and Martin, 2001] Przybocki, M. and Martin, A. (2001). NIST Speaker Recognition Evaluation LDC2001S97. *Philadelphia, New Jersey: Linguistic Data Consortium.*
- [Rabiner and Juang, 1986] Rabiner, L. and Juang, B. (1986). An introduction to hidden Markov models. *IEEE ASSP magazine*, 3(1):4–16.
- [Raj et al., 2021a] Raj, D., Denisov, P., Chen, Z., Erdogan, H., Huang, Z., He, M., Watanabe, S., Du, J., Yoshioka, T., Luo, Y., et al. (2021a). Integration of speech separation, diarization, and recognition for multi-speaker meetings: System description, comparison, and analysis. In 2021 IEEE spoken language technology workshop (SLT), pages 897–904. IEEE.
- [Raj et al., 2021b] Raj, D., Garcia-Perera, L. P., Huang, Z., Watanabe, S., Povey, D., Stolcke, A., and Khudanpur, S. (2021b). Dover-lap: A method for combining

overlap-aware diarization outputs. In 2021 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 881–888. IEEE.

- [Raj et al., 2021c] Raj, D., Huang, Z., and Khudanpur, S. (2021c). Multi-class spectral clustering with overlaps for speaker diarization. In 2021 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 582–589. IEEE.
- [Raj et al., 2023] Raj, D., Povey, D., and Khudanpur, S. (2023). GPU-accelerated Guided Source Separation for Meeting Transcription. In *Proc. INTERSPEECH 2023*, pages 3507–3511.
- [Ramirez et al., 2007] Ramirez, J., Górriz, J. M., and Segura, J. C. (2007). Voice activity detection. fundamentals and speech recognition system robustness. *Robust speech recognition and understanding*, 6(9):1–22.
- [Ravanelli and Bengio, 2018] Ravanelli, M. and Bengio, Y. (2018). Speaker recognition from raw waveform with sincnet. In 2018 IEEE spoken language technology workshop (SLT), pages 1021–1028. IEEE.
- [Reynolds and Torres-Carrasquillo, 2004] Reynolds, D. A. and Torres-Carrasquillo, P. (2004). The MIT Lincoln Laboratory RT-04F diarization systems: Applications to broadcast audio and telephone conversations. Technical report, Massachusetts Intitute of Technology Lexington Lincoln Lab.
- [Reynolds and Torres-Carrasquillo, 2005] Reynolds, D. A. and Torres-Carrasquillo, P. (2005). Approaches and applications of audio diarization. In *Proceedings.(ICASSP'05). IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, 2005.*, volume 5. IEEE.
- [Rouvier and Meignier, 2012] Rouvier, M. and Meignier, S. (2012). A global optimization framework for speaker diarization. In *Odyssey 2012*.
- [Ryant et al., 2018] Ryant, N., Church, K., Cieri, C., Cristia, A., Du, J., Ganapathy, S., and Liberman, M. (2018). First DIHARD challenge evaluation plan. 2018, tech. Rep.
- [Ryant et al., 2019a] Ryant, N., Church, K., Cieri, C., Cristia, A., Du, J., Ganapathy, S., and Liberman, M. (2019a). Second DIHARD challenge evaluation plan. *Linguistic Data Consortium, Tech. Rep.*
- [Ryant et al., 2019b] Ryant, N., Church, K., Cieri, C., Cristia, A., Du, J., Ganapathy, S., and Liberman, M. (2019b). The Second DIHARD Diarization Challenge: Dataset, Task, and Baselines. In *Proc. Interspeech 2019*, pages 978–982.
- [Ryant et al., 2013] Ryant, N., Liberman, M., and Yuan, J. (2013). Speech activity detection on youtube using deep neural networks. In *INTERSPEECH*, pages 728–731. Lyon, France.
- [Ryant et al., 2021] Ryant, N., Singh, P., Krishnamohan, V., Varma, R., Church, K., Cieri, C., Du, J., Ganapathy, S., and Liberman, M. (2021). The Third DIHARD Diarization Challenge. In *Proc. Interspeech 2021*, pages 3570–3574.

- [Rybicka et al., 2022] Rybicka, M., Villalba, J., Dehak, N., and Kowalczyk, K. (2022). End-to-end neural speaker diarization with an iterative refinement of non-autoregressive attention-based attractors. In *Proc. Interspeech*, volume 2022, pages 5090–5094.
- [Sarı et al., 2019] Sarı, L., Thomas, S., Hasegawa-Johnson, M., and Picheny, M. (2019). Pre-training of speaker embeddings for low-latency speaker change detection in broadcast news. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 6286–6290. IEEE.
- [Saunders, 1996] Saunders, J. (1996). Real-time discrimination of broadcast speech/music. In International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing Conference Proceedings, volume 2, pages 993–996. IEEE.
- [Segbroeck et al., 2020] Segbroeck, M. V., Zaid, A., Kutsenko, K., Huerta, C., Nguyen, T., Luo, X., Hoffmeister, B., Trmal, J., Omologo, M., and Maas, R. (2020). DiPCo — Dinner Party Corpus. In Proc. Interspeech 2020, pages 434–436.
- [Sell and Garcia-Romero, 2014] Sell, G. and Garcia-Romero, D. (2014). Speaker diarization with PLDA i-vector scoring and unsupervised calibration. In 2014 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 413–417. IEEE.
- [Sell and Garcia-Romero, 2015] Sell, G. and Garcia-Romero, D. (2015). Diarization resegmentation in the factor analysis subspace. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 4794–4798. IEEE.
- [Sell et al., 2015] Sell, G., Garcia-Romero, D., and McCree, A. (2015). Speaker diarization with i-vectors from DNN senone posteriors. In Sixteenth Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association.
- [Sell et al., 2016] Sell, G., McCree, A., and Garcia-Romero, D. (2016). Priors for Speaker Counting and Diarization with AHC. In *InterSpeech*, pages 2194–2198.
- [Sell et al., 2018] Sell, G., Snyder, D., McCree, A., Garcia-Romero, D., Villalba, J., Maciejewski, M., Manohar, V., Dehak, N., Povey, D., Watanabe, S., et al. (2018). Diarization is Hard: Some Experiences and Lessons Learned for the JHU Team in the Inaugural DIHARD Challenge. In *Interspeech*, pages 2808–2812.
- [Shokouhi et al., 2015] Shokouhi, N., Ziaei, A., Sangwan, A., and Hansen, J. H. (2015). Robust overlapped speech detection and its application in word-count estimation for prof-life-log data. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 4724–4728. IEEE.
- [Shriberg et al., 2001] Shriberg, E., Stolcke, A., and Baron, D. (2001). Observations on overlap: Findings and implications for automatic processing of multi-party conversation. In Seventh European Conference on Speech Communication and Technology.
- [Shum et al., 2011] Shum, S., Dehak, N., Chuangsuwanich, E., Reynolds, D., and Glass, J. (2011). Exploiting intra-conversation variability for speaker diarization. In *Twelfth* Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association.
- [Shum et al., 2012] Shum, S., Dehak, N., and Glass, J. (2012). On the use of spectral and iterative methods for speaker diarization. In *Thirteenth Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association*.

- [Siegler et al., 1997] Siegler, M. A., Jain, U., Raj, B., and Stern, R. M. (1997). Automatic segmentation, classification and clustering of broadcast news audio. In *Proc. DARPA* speech recognition workshop, volume 1997.
- [Singh and Ganapathy, 2020] Singh, P. and Ganapathy, S. (2020). Deep Self-Supervised Hierarchical Clustering for Speaker Diarization. In Proc. Interspeech 2020, pages 294–298.
- [Singh and Ganapathy, 2021a] Singh, P. and Ganapathy, S. (2021a). Self-supervised metric learning with graph clustering for speaker diarization. In 2021 IEEE Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding Workshop (ASRU), pages 90–97. IEEE.
- [Singh and Ganapathy, 2021b] Singh, P. and Ganapathy, S. (2021b). Self-supervised representation learning with path integral clustering for speaker diarization. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Audio, Speech, and Language Processing*, 29:1639–1649.
- [Siu et al., 1992] Siu, M.-H., Yu, G., and Gish, H. (1992). An unsupervised, sequential learning algorithm for the segmentation of speech waveforms with multiple speakers. In Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, IEEE International Conference on, volume 2, pages 189–192. IEEE Computer Society.
- [Snyder et al., 2015] Snyder, D., Chen, G., and Povey, D. (2015). Musan: A music, speech, and noise corpus. arXiv preprint arXiv:1510.08484.
- [Snyder et al., 2018] Snyder, D., Garcia-Romero, D., Sell, G., Povey, D., and Khudanpur, S. (2018). X-vectors: Robust DNN embeddings for speaker recognition. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 5329–5333. IEEE.
- [Snyder et al., 2016] Snyder, D., Ghahremani, P., Povey, D., Garcia-Romero, D., Carmiel, Y., and Khudanpur, S. (2016). Deep neural network-based speaker embeddings for end-to-end speaker verification. In 2016 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 165–170. IEEE.
- [Sönmez et al., 1999] Sönmez, K., Heck, L., and Weintraub, M. (1999). Speaker tracking and detection with multiple speakers. In *Sixth European Conference on Speech Communication and Technology.*
- [Stafylakis et al., 2012] Stafylakis, T., Katsouros, V., Kenny, P., and Dumouchel, P. (2012). Mean shift algorithm for exponential families with applications to speaker clustering. In Odyssey 2012-The Speaker and Language Recognition Workshop.
- [Stolcke and Yoshioka, 2019] Stolcke, A. and Yoshioka, T. (2019). DOVER: A method for combining diarization outputs. In 2019 IEEE Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding Workshop (ASRU), pages 757–763. IEEE.
- [Sugiyama et al., 1993] Sugiyama, M., Murakami, J., and Watanabe, H. (1993). Speech segmentation and clustering based on speaker features. In 1993 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, volume 2, pages 395–398. IEEE.

- [Sun et al., 2018] Sun, L., Du, J., Jiang, C., Zhang, X., He, S., Yin, B., and Lee, C.-H. (2018). Speaker Diarization with Enhancing Speech for the First DIHARD Challenge. In *Interspeech*, pages 2793–2797.
- [Takashima et al., 2021a] Takashima, Y., Fujita, Y., Horiguchi, S., Watanabe, S., Perera, L. P. G., and Nagamatsu, K. (2021a). Semi-Supervised Training with Pseudo-Labeling for End-To-End Neural Diarization. In *Proc. Interspeech 2021*, pages 3096–3100.
- [Takashima et al., 2021b] Takashima, Y., Fujita, Y., Watanabe, S., Horiguchi, S., García, P., and Nagamatsu, K. (2021b). End-to-end speaker diarization conditioned on speech activity and overlap detection. In 2021 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 849–856. IEEE.
- [Teh et al., 2004] Teh, Y., Jordan, M., Beal, M., and Blei, D. (2004). Sharing clusters among related groups: Hierarchical Dirichlet processes. Advances in neural information processing systems.
- [Tranter, 2005] Tranter, S. (2005). Two-way cluster voting to improve speaker diarisation performance. In International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP), volume 1, pages I–753. IEEE.
- [Tranter and Reynolds, 2006] Tranter, S. E. and Reynolds, D. A. (2006). An overview of automatic speaker diarization systems. *IEEE Transactions on audio, speech, and language processing*, 14(5):1557–1565.
- [Valente and Wellekens, 2004] Valente, F. and Wellekens, C. (2004). Variational bayesian speaker clustering. In *ODYSSEY04-The Speaker and Language Recognition Workshop*.
- [Valente and Wellekens, 2005] Valente, F. and Wellekens, C. (2005). Variational Bayesian methods for audio indexing. In *International Workshop on Machine Learning for Multimodal Interaction*, pages 307–319. Springer.
- [Variani et al., 2014] Variani, E., Lei, X., McDermott, E., Moreno, I. L., and Gonzalez-Dominguez, J. (2014). Deep neural networks for small footprint text-dependent speaker verification. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech,* and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 4052–4056. IEEE.
- [Vaswani et al., 2017] Vaswani, A., Shazeer, N., Parmar, N., Uszkoreit, J., Jones, L., Gomez, A. N., Kaiser, Ł., and Polosukhin, I. (2017). Attention is all you need. Advances in neural information processing systems.
- [von Neumann et al., 2021] von Neumann, T., Kinoshita, K., Boeddeker, C., Delcroix, M., and Haeb-Umbach, R. (2021). Graph-PIT: Generalized Permutation Invariant Training for Continuous Separation of Arbitrary Numbers of Speakers. In *Proc. Interspeech 2021*, pages 3490–3494.
- [von Neumann et al., 2019] von Neumann, T., Kinoshita, K., Delcroix, M., Araki, S., Nakatani, T., and Haeb-Umbach, R. (2019). All-neural online source separation, counting, and diarization for meeting analysis. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 91–95. IEEE.

- [Wan et al., 2023] Wan, R., He, M., Du, J., Zhou, H., Niu, S., Chen, H., Yue, Y., Yang, G., Wu, S., Sun, L., Tu, Y., Tang, H., Qian, S., Gao, T., Wang, M., Wan, G., Pan, J., Gao, J., and Lee, C.-H. (2023). The USTC-NERCSLIP Systems for CHiME-7 Challenge. In Proc. 7th International Workshop on Speech Processing in Everyday Environments (CHiME 2023), pages 13–18.
- [Wang et al., 2021a] Wang, C., Riviere, M., Lee, A., Wu, A., Talnikar, C., Haziza, D., Williamson, M., Pino, J., and Dupoux, E. (2021a). VoxPopuli: A Large-Scale Multilingual Speech Corpus for Representation Learning, Semi-Supervised Learning and Interpretation. In ACL / IJCNLP. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- [Wang et al., 2023a] Wang, D., Xiao, X., Kanda, N., Yoshioka, T., and Wu, J. (2023a). Target speaker voice activity detection with transformers and its integration with end-to-end neural diarization. In *ICASSP 2023-2023 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*. IEEE.
- [Wang et al., 2023b] Wang, D., Xiao, X., Kanda, N., Yousefi, M., Yoshioka, T., and Wu, J. (2023b). Profile-Error-Tolerant Target-Speaker Voice Activity Detection. arXiv preprint arXiv:2309.12521.
- [Wang et al., 2023c] Wang, J., Chen, Z., Zhou, H., Li, L., and Hong, Q. (2023c). Community Detection Graph Convolutional Network for Overlap-Aware Speaker Diarization. In ICASSP 2023-2023 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP). IEEE.
- [Wang et al., 2023d] Wang, J., Du, Z., and Zhang, S. (2023d). TOLD: a Novel Two-Stage Overlap-Aware Framework for Speaker Diarization. In ICASSP 2023-2023 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP). IEEE.
- [Wang et al., 2020] Wang, J., Xiao, X., Wu, J., Ramamurthy, R., Rudzicz, F., and Brudno, M. (2020). Speaker diarization with session-level speaker embedding refinement using graph neural networks. In *International Conference on Acoustics*, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 7109–7113. IEEE.
- [Wang et al., 2018] Wang, Q., Downey, C., Wan, L., Mansfield, P. A., and Moreno, I. L. (2018). Speaker diarization with LSTM. In *International Conference on Acoustics*, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 5239–5243. IEEE.
- [Wang and Li, 2022] Wang, W. and Li, M. (2022). Incorporating end-to-end framework into target-speaker voice activity detection. In ICASSP 2022-2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 8362–8366. IEEE.
- [Wang et al., 2022] Wang, W., Qin, X., and Li, M. (2022). Cross-channel attention-based target speaker voice activity detection: Experimental results for the m2met challenge.
  In ICASSP 2022-2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 9171–9175. IEEE.
- [Wang et al., 2021b] Wang, Y., He, M., Niu, S., Sun, L., Gao, T., Fang, X., Pan, J., Du, J., and Lee, C.-H. (2021b). USTC-NELSLIP system description for DIHARD-III challenge. In Proc. 3rd DIHARD Speech Diarization Challenge Workshop.

- [Watanabe et al., 2020] Watanabe, S., Mandel, M., Barker, J., Vincent, E., Arora, A., Chang, X., Khudanpur, S., Manohar, V., Povey, D., Raj, D., Snyder, D., Subramanian, A. S., Trmal, J., Yair, B. B., Boeddeker, C., Ni, Z., Fujita, Y., Horiguchi, S., Kanda, N., Yoshioka, T., and Ryant, N. (2020). CHiME-6 Challenge: Tackling Multispeaker Speech Recognition for Unsegmented Recordings. In Proc. 6th International Workshop on Speech Processing in Everyday Environments (CHiME 2020).
- [Wilcox et al., 1994] Wilcox, L., Chen, F., Kimber, D., and Balasubramanian, V. (1994). Segmentation of speech using speaker identification. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, volume 1. IEEE.
- [Włodarczak et al., 2012] Włodarczak, M., Šimko, J., and Wagner, P. (2012). Temporal entrainment in overlapped speech: Cross-linguistic study. In *Thirteenth Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association*.
- [Wooters et al., 2004] Wooters, C., Fung, J., Peskin, B., and Anguera, X. (2004). Towards robust speaker segmentation: The ICSI-SRI fall 2004 diarization system. In *RT-04F Workshop*, volume 23.
- [Wu et al., 2023] Wu, S., Du, J., He, M., Niu, S., Chen, H., Tang, H., and Lee, C.-H. (2023). Semi-supervised multi-channel speaker diarization with cross-channel attention. In 2023 IEEE Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding Workshop (ASRU). IEEE.
- [Xia et al., 2022] Xia, W., Lu, H., Wang, Q., Tripathi, A., Huang, Y., Moreno, I. L., and Sak, H. (2022). Turn-to-diarize: Online speaker diarization constrained by transformer transducer speaker turn detection. In *ICASSP 2022-2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 8077–8081. IEEE.
- [Xue et al., 2021a] Xue, Y., Horiguchi, S., Fujita, Y., Takashima, Y., Watanabe, S., Perera, L. P. G., and Nagamatsu, K. (2021a). Online Streaming End-to-End Neural Diarization Handling Overlapping Speech and Flexible Numbers of Speakers. In *Proc. Interspeech 2021*, pages 3116–3120.
- [Xue et al., 2021b] Xue, Y., Horiguchi, S., Fujita, Y., Watanabe, S., García, P., and Nagamatsu, K. (2021b). Online end-to-end neural diarization with speaker-tracing buffer. In 2021 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 841–848. IEEE.
- [Yamashita et al., 2022] Yamashita, N., Horiguchi, S., and Homma, T. (2022). Improving the Naturalness of Simulated Conversations for End-to-End Neural Diarization. In Proc. The Speaker and Language Recognition Workshop (Odyssey 2022), pages 133–140.
- [Yang et al., 2021] Yang, S., Chi, P.-H., Chuang, Y.-S., Lai, C.-I. J., Lakhotia, K., Lin, Y. Y., Liu, A. T., Shi, J., Chang, X., Lin, G.-T., Huang, T.-H., Tseng, W.-C., tik Lee, K., Liu, D.-R., Huang, Z., Dong, S., Li, S.-W., Watanabe, S., Mohamed, A., and yi Lee, H. (2021). SUPERB: Speech Processing Universal PERformance Benchmark. In Proc. Interspeech 2021, pages 1194–1198.
- [Yang et al., 2022] Yang, Z., Chen, Y., Luo, L., Yang, R., Ye, L., Cheng, G., Xu, J., Jin, Y., Zhang, Q., Zhang, P., Xie, L., and Yan, Y. (2022). Open Source MagicData-RAMC:

A Rich Annotated Mandarin Conversational (RAMC) Speech Dataset. In *Proc. Interspeech 2022*, pages 1736–1740.

- [Ye et al., 2023] Ye, L., Lu, H., Cheng, G., Chen, Y., Shang, Z., and Li, X. (2023). The IACAS-Thinkit System for CHiME-7 Challenge. *CHiME-7 Challenge*.
- [Yella and Bourlard, 2013] Yella, S. H. and Bourlard, H. (2013). Improved overlap speech diarization of meeting recordings using long-term conversational features. In 2013 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing, pages 7746–7750. IEEE.
- [Yella et al., 2014] Yella, S. H., Stolcke, A., and Slaney, M. (2014). Artificial neural network features for speaker diarization. In 2014 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), pages 402–406. IEEE.
- [Yella and Valente, 2012] Yella, S. H. and Valente, F. (2012). Speaker diarization of overlapping speech based on silence distribution in meeting recordings. In *Thirteenth* Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association.
- [Yin et al., 2017] Yin, R., Bredin, H., and Barras, C. (2017). Speaker change detection in broadcast TV using bidirectional long short-term memory networks. In *Interspeech* 2017. ISCA.
- [Yin et al., 2018] Yin, R., Bredin, H., and Barras, C. (2018). Neural speech turn segmentation and affinity propagation for speaker diarization. In Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association.
- [Yoshioka et al., 2018] Yoshioka, T., Erdogan, H., Chen, Z., Xiao, X., and Alleva, F. (2018). Recognizing Overlapped Speech in Meetings: A Multichannel Separation Approach Using Neural Networks. In *Proc. Interspeech 2018*, pages 3038–3042.
- [Yu et al., 2017] Yu, D., Kolbæk, M., Tan, Z.-H., and Jensen, J. (2017). Permutation invariant training of deep models for speaker-independent multi-talker speech separation. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 241–245. IEEE.
- [Yu et al., 2022a] Yu, F., Zhang, S., Fu, Y., Xie, L., Zheng, S., Du, Z., Huang, W., Guo, P., Yan, Z., Ma, B., et al. (2022a). M2MeT: The ICASSP 2022 multi-channel multi-party meeting transcription challenge. In *ICASSP 2022-2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 6167–6171. IEEE.
- [Yu et al., 2022b] Yu, Y., Park, D., and Kim, H. K. (2022b). Auxiliary loss of transformer with residual connection for end-to-end speaker diarization. In ICASSP 2022-2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 8377–8381. IEEE.
- [Zeghidour et al., 2021] Zeghidour, N., Teboul, O., and Grangier, D. (2021). DIVE: End-to-end speech diarization via iterative speaker embedding. In 2021 IEEE Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding Workshop (ASRU), pages 702–709. IEEE.

- [Zeinali et al., 2018] Zeinali, H., Sameti, H., and Stafylakis, T. (2018). DeepMine Speech Processing Database: Text-Dependent and Independent Speaker Verification and Speech Recognition in Persian and English. In Odyssey, pages 386–392.
- [Zeinali et al., 2019] Zeinali, H., Wang, S., Silnova, A., Matějka, P., and Plchot, O. (2019). BUT System Description to VoxCeleb Speaker Recognition Challenge 2019. In Proceedings of The VoxCeleb Challange Workshop 2019.
- [Zelenák et al., 2010] Zelenák, M., Segura, C., and Hernando, J. (2010). Overlap detection for speaker diarization by fusing spectral and spatial features. In *Eleventh* Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association.
- [Zhang et al., 2019] Zhang, A., Wang, Q., Zhu, Z., Paisley, J., and Wang, C. (2019). Fully supervised speaker diarization. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 6301–6305. IEEE.
- [Zhang et al., 2022] Zhang, C., Shi, J., Weng, C., Yu, M., and Yu, D. (2022). Towards end-to-end speaker diarization with generalized neural speaker clustering. In *ICASSP* 2022-2022 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 8372–8376. IEEE.
- [Zmolikova et al., 2023] Zmolikova, K., Delcroix, M., Ochiai, T., Kinoshita, K., Černocký, J., and Yu, D. (2023). Neural target speech extraction: An overview. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 40(3):8–29.
- [Žmolíková, 2022] Žmolíková, K. (2022). Neural Target Speech Extraction. PhD thesis, Brno University of Technology.
- [Žmolíková et al., 2020] Žmolíková, K., Kocour, M., Landini, F., Beneš, K., Karafiát, M., Vydana, H. K., Lozano-Diez, A., Plchot, O., and Baskar, M. K. (2020). BUT System for CHiME-6 Challenge. *Proceedings of CHiME-6 Challenge Workshop*.